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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor
from civil litigation for forward-looking statements accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements. Except for historical information, this report
contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, which may be identified by words such as “continues”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “projects”, “plans”, “seeks”, “may”,
“will”, “expects”, “intends”, “believes”, “should” and similar expressions or the negative versions thereof and which also may be identified by their
context. All statements that address operating performance or events or developments that Meridian expects or anticipates will occur in the future,
including, but not limited to, statements relating to per share diluted earnings and revenue, are forward-looking statements. Such statements, whether
expressed or implied, are based upon current expectations of the Company and speak only as of the date made. Specifically, Meridian’s forward-looking
statements are, and will be, based on management’s then-current views and assumptions regarding future events and operating performance. Meridian
assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements even if experience or future changes make it clear that any projected
results expressed or implied therein will not be realized. These statements are subject to various risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially, including, without limitation, the following: Meridian’s operating results, financial condition and continued growth
depends, in part, on its ability to introduce into the marketplace enhancements of existing products or new products that incorporate technological
advances, meet customer requirements and respond to products developed by Meridian’s competition, its ability to effectively sell such products and its
ability to successfully expand and effectively manage increased sales and marketing operations. While Meridian has introduced a number of internally
developed products and acquired products, there can be no assurance that it will be successful in the future in introducing such products on a timely
basis or in protecting its intellectual property, and unexpected or costly manufacturing costs associated with its introduction of new products or
acquired products could cause actual results to differ from expectations. Meridian relies on proprietary, patented and licensed technologies. As such, the
Company’s ability to protect its intellectual property rights, as well as the potential for intellectual property litigation, would impact its results. Ongoing
consolidations of reference laboratories and formation of multi-hospital alliances may cause adverse changes to pricing and distribution. Recessionary
pressures on the economy and the markets in which our customers operate, as well as adverse trends in buying patterns from customers, can change
expected results. Costs and difficulties in complying with laws and regulations, including those administered by the United States Food and Drug
Administration, can result in unanticipated expenses and delays and interruptions to the sale of new and existing products, as can the uncertainty of
regulatory approvals and the regulatory process (including the currently ongoing study and other FDA actions regarding the Company’s LeadCare
products). The international scope of Meridian’s operations, including changes in the relative strength or weakness of the U.S. dollar and general
economic conditions in foreign countries, can impact results and make them difficult to predict. One of Meridian’s growth strategies is the acquisition of
companies and product lines. There can be no assurance that additional acquisitions will be consummated or that, if consummated, will be successful
and the acquired businesses will be successfully integrated into Meridian’s operations. There may be risks that acquisitions may disrupt operations and
may pose potential difficulties in employee retention, and there may be additional risks with respect to Meridian’s ability to recognize the benefits of
acquisitions, including potential synergies and cost savings or the failure of acquisitions to achieve their plans and objectives. Meridian cannot predict
the outcome of goodwill impairment testing and the impact of possible goodwill impairments on Meridian’s earnings and financial results. Meridian
cannot predict the possible impact of U.S. health care legislation enacted in 2010 – the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act – and any modification or repeal of any of the provisions thereof initiated by Congress or the presidential
administration, and any similar initiatives in other countries on its results of operations. Efforts to reduce the U.S. federal deficit, breaches of
Meridian’s information technology systems, trade wars, increased tariffs, and natural disasters and other events could have a materially adverse effect
on Meridian’s results of operations and revenues. In the past, the Company has identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial
reporting, which has been remediated, but the Company can make no assurances that a material weakness will not be identified in the future, which if
identified and not properly corrected, could materially adversely affect our operations and result in material misstatements in our financial statements.
In addition to the factors described in this paragraph, as well as those factors identified from time to time in our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Part I, Item 1A Risk Factors of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K contains a list and description of uncertainties,

risks and other matters that may affect the Company. Readers should carefully review these forward-looking statements and risk factors, and not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2018

NET REVENUES
COST OF SALES
GROSS PROFIT
OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Acquisition and restructuring costs
Litigation costs
Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME

Six Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2018

$50,248
20,910
29,338

$56,451
21,882
34,569

$101,728
40,818
60,910

$108,734
42,155
66,579

3,816
6,911
7,388
785
603
19,503
9,835

4,491
8,647
8,842
3,458
1,453
26,891
7,678

7,700
14,474
16,286
872
1,192
40,524
20,386

8,895
17,461
18,090
4,192
2,202
50,840
15,739

353
(710)
(306)
(663)
19,723

162
(774)
(245)
(857)
14,882

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Interest expense
Other, net
Total other income (expense)
EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

204
(347)
(445)
(588)
9,247

90
(379)
(165)
(454)
7,224

INCOME TAX PROVISION
NET EARNINGS

2,153
$ 7,094

1,936
$ 5,288

4,523
$ 15,200

3,292
$ 11,590

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC
EFFECT OF DILUTIVE STOCK OPTIONS AND RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - DILUTED

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.17
0.17
42,496
450
42,946

0.12
0.12
42,323
409
42,732

ANTI-DILUTIVE SECURITIES:
Common share options and restricted share units

771

1,021

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE

$ 0.125

$ 0.125

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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0.36
0.35
42,472
453
42,925
742

$

0.250

0.27
0.27
42,289
404
42,693
1,015

$

0.250

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2018

NET EARNINGS
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedge
Income taxes related to items of other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Six Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2018

$ 7,094

$ 5,288

$15,200

$11,590

377
(310)
78
145
$ 7,239

926
424
(107)
1,243
$ 6,531

(339)
(887)
223
(1,003)
$14,197

1,217
765
(219)
1,763
$13,353

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Six Months Ended March 31,

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
Non-cash items included in net earnings:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of deferred instrument costs
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Change in:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used for investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid
Payments on term loan
Proceeds and tax benefits from exercises of stock options
Net cash used for financing activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash at Beginning of Period
Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of Period
Cash and Equivalents
Restricted Cash
Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of Period
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2019

2018

$ 15,200

$ 11,590

2,562
1,658
—
2,368
(677)

2,236
1,883
401
1,975
(1,576)

(951)
832
286
(1,267)
1,108
(149)
20,970

(4,185)
(2,370)
754
3,746
(775)
160
13,839

(2,113)
(2,113)

(2,160)
(2,160)

(10,612)
(2,250)
524
(12,338)
(185)
6,334
60,763
$ 67,097

(10,577)
(2,250)
—
(12,827)
476
(672)
58,072
$ 57,400

$ 66,097
1,000
$ 67,097

$ 56,400
1,000
$ 57,400

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollar amounts in thousands)
ASSETS
March 31,
2019
(Unaudited)

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $437 and $310
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, at Cost
Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery, equipment and furniture
Construction in progress
Subtotal
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net property, plant and equipment
OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Restricted cash
Deferred instrument costs, net
Fair value of interest rate swap
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

$ 66,097
33,031
40,866
4,671
144,665

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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September 30,
2018

$

59,763
32,336
41,993
4,961
139,053

1,155
32,454
60,394
1,806
95,809
65,039
30,770

1,160
32,444
50,606
1,631
85,841
55,846
29,995

54,642
21,452
1,000
—
835
110
490
78,529
$ 253,964

54,637
23,113
1,000
1,239
1,722
130
488
82,329
251,377

$

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollar amounts in thousands)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued employee compensation costs
Other accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Post-employment benefits
Long-term debt
Long-term income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes
Total non-current liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

March 31,
2019
(Unaudited)

September 30,
2018

$

$

7,838
5,357
3,724
6,000
1,163
24,082
2,476
41,946
736
3,079
48,237

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, no par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
Common shares, no par value; 71,000,000 shares authorized, 42,515,142 and 42,399,962 shares issued,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2,646
44,930
441
3,769
51,786

—
—
131,951
54,074
(4,380)
181,645
$ 253,964

6,260
7,263
5,065
5,250
335
24,173

—

$

—
129,193
49,602
(3,377)
175,418
251,377

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Unaudited)
(dollar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)

THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019
Balance at December 31, 2018
Cash dividends paid - $0.125 per share
Conversion of restricted share units and exercise of stock options
Stock compensation expense
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Hedging activity, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2019
THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
Balance at December 31, 2017
Cash dividends paid - $0.125 per share
Conversion of restricted share units
Stock compensation expense
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Hedging activity, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2018

SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019
Balance at September 30, 2018
Cash dividends paid - $0.250 per share
Conversion of restricted share units and exercise of stock options
Stock compensation expense
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Hedging activity, net of tax
Adoption of ASU 2014-09
Balance at March 31, 2019
SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
Balance at September 30, 2017
Cash dividends paid - $0.250 per share
Conversion of restricted share units
Stock compensation expense
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Hedging activity, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2018

Common
Shares
Issued

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

42,489
—
26
—
—
—
—
42,515

$130,876
—
377
698
—
—
—
$131,951

$ 52,291
(5,311)
—
—
7,094
—
—
$ 54,074

$

(4,525)
—
—
—
—
377
(232)
(4,380)

$ 178,642
(5,311)
377
698
7,094
377
(232)
$ 181,645

42,307
—
37
—
—
—
—
42,344

$127,367
—
—
216
—
—
—
$127,583

$ 47,937
(5,289)
—
—
5,288
—
—
$ 47,936

$

(2,426)
—
—
—
—
926
317
(1,183)

$ 172,878
(5,289)
—
216
5,288
926
317
$ 174,336

Common
Shares
Issued

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

42,400
—
115
—
—
—
—
—
42,515

$129,193
—
390
2,368
—
—
—
—
$131,951

42,207
—
137
—
—
—
—
42,344

$125,608
—
—
1,975
—
—
—
$127,583

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$ 49,602
(10,612)
—
—
15,200
—
—
(116)
$ 54,074

$

(3,377)
—
—
—
—
(339)
(664)
—
(4,380)

$ 175,418
(10,612)
390
2,368
15,200
(339)
(664)
(116)
$ 181,645

$ 46,923
(10,577)
—
—
11,590
—
—
$ 47,936

$

(2,946)
—
—
—
—
1,217
546
(1,183)

$ 169,585
(10,577)
—
1,975
11,590
1,217
546
$ 174,336

$

$

MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts
(Unaudited)
1.

Basis of Presentation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America for interim financial information, and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. In the opinion of Management, the interim financial statements include all
normal adjustments and disclosures necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position as of March 31, 2019, the results of its operations for
the three and six month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, and its cash flows for the six month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. These
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s fiscal 2018 Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Financial information as of September 30, 2018 has been derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.
The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year.
2.

Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company’s
fiscal 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K and should be referred to for a description of the Company’s current significant accounting policies, with the
exception of Revenue Recognition, which is set forth below.
Revenue Recognition –
Adoption of New Standard
On October 1, 2018, we adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective transition method applied
to those contracts that were not completed as of that date. Results for reporting periods beginning on or after October 1, 2018 are presented under the
new guidance, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with previously applicable guidance.
Upon adoption, we recorded a reduction of $116 to the opening balance of retained earnings as of October 1, 2018. This adjustment is related to writing
off the book value of clinical diagnostic testing instruments located at customers for which there is no contractual arrangement for the instrument to be
returned to the Company. Instruments placed with customers under an agreement to return the instrument to the Company were reclassified to
machinery and equipment. Prior to adoption of the new guidance, all instruments placed with customers were capitalized and amortized over an
estimated three-year utilization period, with the net balance reflected as deferred instrument costs.
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The following table summarizes the impact of the new revenue standard on our opening balance sheet:

PROPERTY, PLAN AND EQUIPMENT
Machinery, equipment and furniture
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
OTHER ASSETS
Deferred instrument costs, net
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred income taxes
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Retained earnings

Balance at
September 30,
2018

New Revenue
Standard
Adjustment

Balance at
October 1,
2018

$

$

$ 59,302
(63,457)

50,606
(55,846)
1,239

8,696
(7,611)
(1,239)

—

(3,769)

38

(3,731)

(49,602)

116

(49,486)

The adoption of this new standard had an immaterial impact on our reported total revenues and operating income, as compared to what would have been
reported under the prior standard. Our accounting policies under the new standard were applied prospectively and are noted below following the
discussion of Revenue Disaggregation.
Revenue Disaggregation
The following tables present our revenues disaggregated by major geographic region, major product platform and disease state (Diagnostics only):
Revenue by Reportable Segment & Geographic Region

DiagnosticsAmericas
EMEA
ROW
Total Diagnostics
Life ScienceAmericas
EMEA
ROW
Total Life Science
Consolidated

Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

$27,278
5,535
687
33,500

$33,351
5,912
519
39,782

(18)%
(6)%
32%
(16)%

$ 58,425
10,620
1,120
70,165

$ 64,926
11,327
1,019
77,272

(10)%
(6)%
10%
(9)%

5,453
7,901
3,394
16,748
$50,248

5,121
7,478
4,070
16,669
$56,451

6%
6%
(17)%
— %
(11)%

9,975
15,376
6,212
31,563
$101,728

10,373
12,659
8,430
31,462
$108,734

(4)%
21%
(26)%
— %
(6)%

Page 8

Revenue by Product Platform/Type
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

DiagnosticsMolecular assays
Immunoassays & blood chemistry assays
Total Diagnostics

$ 7,132
26,368
$33,500

$ 9,976
29,806
$39,782

(29)%
(12)%
(16)%

$14,434
55,731
$70,165

$18,692
58,580
$77,272

(23)%
(5)%
(9)%

Life ScienceMolecular reagents
Immunological reagents
Total Life Science

$ 5,390
11,358
$16,748

$ 6,143
10,526
$16,669

(12)%
8%
— %

$11,998
19,565
$31,563

$11,832
19,630
$31,462

1%
— %
— %

Revenue by Disease State (Diagnostics only)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

DiagnosticsGastrointestinal assays
Respiratory illness assays
Blood chemistry assays
Other
Total Diagnostics

$16,177
7,553
4,330
5,440
$33,500

$19,149
9,543
4,257
6,833
$39,782

(16)%
(21)%
2%
(20)%
(16)%

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

$34,792
15,534
8,760
11,079
$70,165

$39,419
17,029
8,523
12,301
$77,272

(12)%
(9)%
3%
(10)%
(9)%

Revenue Policies
Product Sales
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for products when
obligations under such contracts are satisfied. Revenue is generally recognized at a point-in-time when products are shipped and title has passed to the
customer. Such contracts can include various combinations of products that are generally accounted for as distinct performance obligations.
Revenue is reduced in the period of sale for fees paid to distributors, which are inseparable from the distributor’s purchase of our product and for which
we receive no goods or services in return. Revenue for the Diagnostics segment is reduced at the date of sale for product price adjustments due to certain
distributors under local contracts. Management estimates accruals for distributor price adjustments based on local contract terms, sales data provided by
distributors, historical statistics, current trends, and other factors. Changes to the accruals are recorded in the period that they become known. Such
accruals are netted against accounts receivable.
Shipping and handling costs incurred after control of the product is transferred to our customers are treated as fulfillment costs and not a separate
performance obligation.
Our payment terms differ by jurisdiction and customer but payment is generally required in a term ranging from 30 to 90 days from the date of shipment
or satisfaction of the performance obligation. Trade accounts receivable are recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at invoiced
amounts less provisions for distributor price adjustments under local contracts and doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents
our estimate of probable credit losses and is based on historical write-off experience and known conditions that would likely lead to non-payment.
Customer invoices are charged off against the allowance when we believe it is probable that the invoices will not be paid.
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Practical Expedients and Exemptions
Revenue is recognized net of any taxes collected from customers (sales tax, value added tax, etc.), which are subsequently remitted to government
authorities.
Our products are generally not subject to a customer right of return except for product recall events under the rules and regulations of the Food and Drug
Administration or equivalent agencies outside the United States. In this circumstance, the costs to replace affected products would be accrued at the time
a loss was probable and estimable.
We expense as incurred the costs to obtain contracts, as the amortization period would have been one year or less. These costs, recorded within selling
and marketing expense, include our internal sales force compensation programs and certain partner sales incentive programs, as we have determined that
annual compensation is commensurate with annual selling activities.
Reagent Rental Arrangements
Our Alethia and LeadCare product platforms require the use of instruments for the tests to be processed. In many cases, a customer is given use of the
instrument provided they continue purchasing the associated tests, also referred to as “consumables” or “reagents”. If a customer stops purchasing the
consumables, the instrument must be returned to Meridian. Such arrangements are common practice in the diagnostics industry and are referred to as
“Reagent Rental” agreements. These agreements may also include instrument related services such as a limited replacement warranty, training and
installation. We concluded that the use of the instrument and related services (collectively known as “lease elements”) are not within the scope of ASU
No. 2014-09 but rather ASU 2016-02, Leases. Accordingly, we first allocate the transaction price between the lease elements and the non-lease elements
based on estimates of relative standalone selling prices. Lease revenue is derived solely from the sale of consumables and is therefore recognized
monthly as earned, which coincides with the transfer of control of the non-lease elements.
For the portion of the transaction price allocated to the non-lease elements, which are principally the test kits, the related revenue will be recognized at a
point-in-time when control transfers.
Revenue allocated to the lease elements of these Reagent Rental arrangements represent less than 1% of total revenue and are included as part of net
revenues in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements –
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which amends the accounting guidance related to leases. These changes, which are designed
to increase transparency and comparability among organizations for both lessees and lessors, include, among other things, requiring recognition of lease
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. Adoption and implementation of the guidance is
not required by the Company until the beginning of fiscal 2020, although early adoption is permitted. During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, the
Company commenced the process of gathering and summarizing its corporate-wide lease information in order to assess the impact that adoption of this
guidance will have on its financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The update addresses certain specific cash
flows and their treatment, with the objective being to reduce the existing diversity in how the items are presented and classified within the statement of
cash flows. The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, with the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
reflecting such adoption, including the information related to restricted cash.
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, to address
certain of the recent U.S. federal income tax legislation’s impact on Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”). The guidance specifically
provides the option of reclassifying “stranded tax effects” related to the tax legislation from AOCI to retained earnings. Adoption and implementation of
the optional guidance is not effective for the Company until the beginning of fiscal 2020, although early adoption is permitted. The Company plans to
adopt this guidance in fiscal 2020 as required but does not expect adoption to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations, cash flows or financial position.
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Reclassifications –
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassifications had no
impact on net earnings or shareholders’ equity.
3.

Cash and Equivalents

Cash and equivalents include the following components:

Institutional money market funds
Cash on hand Restricted
Unrestricted
Total
4.

March 31, 2019
Cash and
Other
Equivalents
Assets

September 30, 2018
Cash and
Other
Equivalents
Assets

$ 20,668

$ —

$ 20,421

$ —

—
45,429
$ 66,097

1,000
—
$1,000

—
39,342
$ 59,763

1,000
—
$1,000

Inventories

Inventories are comprised of the following:

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods - instruments
Finished goods - kits and reagents
Total
5.

March 31,
2019

September 30,
2018

$ 7,473
11,810
965
20,618
$ 40,866

$

$

6,689
12,098
1,191
22,015
41,993

Intangible Assets

A summary of our acquired intangible assets subject to amortization, as of March 31, 2019 and September 30, 2018, is as follows:

Manufacturing technologies, core products and cell lines
Trade names, licenses and patents
Customer lists, customer relationships and supply agreements
Total
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March 31, 2019
Gross
Carrying
Accumulated
Value
Amortization

September 30, 2018
Gross
Carrying
Accumulated
Value
Amortization

$22,298
8,647
24,463
$55,408

$22,297
8,647
24,461
$55,405

$

$

14,571
5,717
13,668
33,956

$

$

13,974
5,267
13,051
32,292

The actual aggregate amortization expense for these intangible assets was $829 and $945 for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, and $1,658 and $1,883 for the six months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for
these intangible assets for each of the fiscal years through fiscal 2024 is as follows: remainder of fiscal 2019 – $1,664, fiscal 2020 – $3,165, fiscal 2021
– $2,560, fiscal 2022 – $2,182, fiscal 2023 – $2,170, and fiscal 2024 – $2,166.
6.

Restructuring

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company began implementation of a plan to realign its business structure into two business units,
Diagnostics and Life Science, supported by a global corporate team. As part of this plan, certain functions and locations within both business units were
streamlined, including: (i) the elimination of certain executive management and commercial sales positions; (ii) the closing of Life Science locations in
Taunton, Massachusetts and Singapore, the operations of which were transferred to locations in Memphis, Tennessee and London, England,
respectively; and (iii) the transfer of certain functions performed in the Billerica, Massachusetts Diagnostics facility to the corporate headquarters in
Cincinnati, Ohio. As a result of these activities, restructuring costs totaling $6,332 were recorded during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, approximately $270 of restructuring accrual was reversed and is reflected as a reduction of the Acquisition and
Restructuring Costs within the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2019. A summary of the
accrued liability associated with the restructuring costs as of March 31, 2019 and September 30, 2018, is as follows:

Severance, other termination benefits and related costs
Lease and other contract termination fees
Other
Total
7.

March 31,
2019

September 30,
2018

$

$

$

78
—
—
78

$

987
33
6
1,026

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted tax reform legislation commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “tax reform act”). In
applying the tax reform act during the three months ended December 31, 2017, we followed the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB
118”), regarding the application of ASC Topic 740 in situations where a company does not have the necessary information available, prepared or
analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the tax reform act for the reporting period in which the tax
reform act was enacted. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period beginning in the reporting period that includes the tax reform act’s enactment date
and ending when a company has obtained, prepared and analyzed the information needed in order to complete the accounting requirements, but in no
circumstances should the measurement period extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
As a result, our financial statements for the three months ended December 31, 2017 reflected the effects of the tax reform act as provisional based on a
reasonable estimate of the income tax effects and included a provisional noncurrent income tax payable in the amount of $854 related to the repatriation
transition tax. Subsequent to the quarter ended December 31, 2017 and prior to September 30, 2018, we completed the accounting for the effects of the
tax reform act. As a result, our repatriation transition tax liability was increased to $876, which is reflected as follows in the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Balance as of March 31, 2019, after our having recently paid the amount estimated for fiscal 2018: $65 of current income taxes payable
and $736 long-term income taxes payable.
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In addition, during the three months ended December 31, 2017 we recorded a one-time tax benefit of $1,695 resulting from the tax reform act, including
an adjustment from the re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities. This re-measurement included an estimate of the temporary differences
expected to be realized during fiscal 2018 at a transitional blended rate of 24.5%. The remaining temporary differences were re-measured at 21%.
8.

Bank Credit Arrangements

In March 2016, the Company entered into a $60,000 five-year term loan with a commercial bank. The term loan requires quarterly principal and interest
payments, with interest at a variable rate tied to LIBOR, and a balloon principal payment due March 31, 2021. The required principal payments on the
term loan for each of the remaining fiscal years are as follows: remainder of fiscal 2019 - $3,000, fiscal 2020 - $6,000, and fiscal 2021 - $39,000. In
light of the term loan’s interest being determined on a variable rate basis, the fair value of the term loan at March 31, 2019 approximates the current
carrying value reflected in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.
In order to limit exposure to volatility in the LIBOR interest rate, the Company and the commercial bank also entered into an interest rate swap that
effectively converts the variable interest rate on the term loan to a fixed rate of 2.76%. With an initial notional balance of $60,000, the interest rate swap
was established with critical terms identical to those of the term loan, including: (i) notional reduction amounts and dates; (ii) LIBOR settlement rates;
(iii) rate reset dates; and (iv) term/maturity. Due to this, the interest rate swap has been designated as an effective cash flow hedge, with changes in fair
value reflected as a separate component of other comprehensive income in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income. At March 31, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the fair value of the interest rate swap was $835 and $1,722, respectively, and is reflected as a
non-current asset in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. This fair value was determined by information provided by the
counterparty, and is considered a Level 2 input within the fair value hierarchy of valuation techniques.
In addition, the Company maintains a $30,000 revolving credit facility with a commercial bank, which expires March 31, 2021. There were no
borrowings outstanding on this credit facility at March 31, 2019 or September 30, 2018.
The term loan and the revolving credit facility are collateralized by the business assets of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries and require compliance with
financial covenants that limit the amount of debt obligations and require a minimum level of coverage of fixed charges, as defined in the borrowing
agreement. As of March 31, 2019, the Company is in compliance with all covenants. The Company is also required to maintain a compensating cash
balance with the bank in the amount of $1,000, and is in compliance with this requirement.
See Note 12, “Subsequent Event”.
9.

Reportable Segments and Major Customers Information

Meridian was formed in 1976 and functions as a fully-integrated life science company with principal businesses in: (i) the development, manufacture,
sale and distribution of diagnostic test kits, primarily for certain gastrointestinal and respiratory infectious diseases, and elevated blood lead levels; and
(ii) the manufacture and distribution of bulk antigens, antibodies, PCR/qPCR reagents, nucleotides, competent cells, and bioresearch reagents used by
researchers and other diagnostic manufacturers.
Our reportable segments are Diagnostics and Life Science. The Diagnostics segment consists of manufacturing operations for infectious disease
products in Cincinnati, Ohio, manufacturing operations for blood chemistry products in Billerica, Massachusetts (near Boston), and the sale and
distribution of diagnostics products domestically and abroad. This segment’s products are used by hospitals, reference labs and physician offices to
detect infectious diseases and elevated lead levels in blood.
The Life Science segment consists of manufacturing operations in Memphis, Tennessee; Boca Raton, Florida; London, England; and Luckenwalde,
Germany, and the sale and distribution of bulk antigens, antibodies, PCR/qPCR reagents, nucleotides, competent cells, and bioresearch reagents
domestically and abroad, including a sales and business development facility in Beijing, China to further pursue revenue opportunities in Asia. This
segment’s products are used by manufacturers and researchers in a variety of applications (e.g., in-vitro medical device manufacturing, microRNA
detection, next-gen sequencing, plant genotyping, and mutation detection, among others).
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Amounts due from two Diagnostics distributor customers accounted for 14% and 12% of consolidated accounts receivable at March 31, 2019 and
September 30, 2018, respectively. Revenues from these two distributor customers accounted for 25% and 27% of the Diagnostics segment third-party
revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and 30% during each of the six month periods ended March 31, 2019
and 2018. These distributors represented 17% and 19% of consolidated revenues for the fiscal 2019 and 2018 second quarters, respectively, and 21% for
each of the respective year-to-date six month periods.
Within our Life Science segment, two diagnostic manufacturing customers accounted for 27% and 22% of the segment’s third-party revenues during the
three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and 27% and 19% during the six months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Segment information for the interim periods is as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Net revenues Third-party
Inter-segment
Operating income
Goodwill (March 31, 2019)
Other intangible assets, net (March 31, 2019)
Total assets (March 31, 2019)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Net revenues Third-party
Inter-segment
Operating income
Goodwill (September 30, 2018)
Other intangible assets, net (September 30, 2018)
Total assets (September 30, 2018)
Six Months Ended March 31, 2019
Net revenues Third-party
Inter-segment
Operating income
Six Months Ended March 31, 2018
Net revenues Third-party
Inter-segment
Operating income
(1)
(2)

Diagnostics

Life Science

Corporate(1)

Eliminations(2)

Total

$ 33,500
89
7,561
35,213
20,705
183,234

$ 16,748
53
5,361
19,429
747
70,152

$

—
—
(3,101)
—
—
—

$

—
(142)
14
—
—
578

$ 50,248
—
9,835
54,642
21,452
253,964

$ 39,782
80
10,684
35,213
22,068
180,978

$ 16,669
75
3,638
19,424
1,045
70,341

$

—
—
(6,723)
—
—
—

$

—
(155)
79
—
—
58

$ 56,451
—
7,678
54,637
23,113
251,377

$ 70,165
252
16,346

$ 31,563
229
10,492

$

—
—
(6,493)

$

—
(481)
41

$101,728
—
20,386

$ 77,272
201
19,310

$ 31,462
267
6,580

$

—
—
(10,334)

$

—
(468)
183

$108,734
—
15,739

Includes Acquisition, Restructuring and Litigation Costs of $1,488 and $4,911 in the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
and $2,164 and $6,394 in the six months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Eliminations consist of inter-segment transactions.

Transactions between segments are accounted for at established intercompany prices for internal and management purposes, with all intercompany
amounts eliminated in consolidation.
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10.

Litigation Matters

On November 15, 2017, Barbara Forman filed a class action complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio naming
Meridian, its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (in their capacities as such) as defendants. An amended complaint was filed on
April 16, 2018 and the Company believes the essential elements of the amended complaint are the same. The complaint and the amended complaint are
hereafter referred to as the “Complaint”. The Complaint seeks compensatory damages and attorneys’ fees. On February 13, 2019 the Court granted
Meridian’s motion to dismiss and dismissed the Complaint in its entirety. Plaintiff filed a Motion to Reconsider, Set Aside, Alter, Amend, or Vacate the
Judgment of dismissal on March 13, 2019. Meridian opposed the Plaintiff’s motion on April 3, 2019 and the Plaintiff filed a reply on April 17, 2019.
The motion remains pending before the Court. Accordingly, no provision for litigation losses has been included within either of the accompanying
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2019 or March 31, 2018.
On December 6, 2017, Michael Edelson filed a derivative complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio naming
Meridian, its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and certain members of Meridian’s Board of Directors and Audit Committee (in their
capacities as such) as defendants. The complaint alleges that Meridian made false and misleading representations concerning certain of Magellan’s lead
test systems at or around the time of Meridian’s acquisition of Magellan and subsequent thereto, and the complaint alleges that certain members of the
Board of Directors and Audit Committee breached their fiduciary duties in their oversight of the Company’s public disclosures and corporate
governance matters. The complaint seeks compensatory damages, equitable relief relating to corporate governance matters and attorneys’ fees. The case
has been stayed by agreement of the parties pending resolution of the motion to dismiss the class action described above. We are unable to determine or
predict the ultimate outcome or estimate the range of possible losses, if any. Accordingly, no provision for litigation losses has been included within
either of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2019 or March 31, 2018.
Approximately $40 of expense for attorneys’ fees related to the above two class action matters is included within the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations for both the three and six months ended March 31, 2019, with approximately $530 and $545 of related expense
being reflected within the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018,
respectively. The Company maintains an insurance policy covering these matters, which has a $500 deductible.
On April 17, 2018, Magellan received a subpoena from the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regarding its LeadCare product line. The
subpoena outlines documents to be produced, and the Company is cooperating with the DOJ in this matter. The Company maintains rigorous policies
and procedures to promote compliance with applicable regulatory agencies and requirements, and is working with the DOJ to promptly respond to the
subpoena, including responding to additional information requests and executing a tolling agreement to extend the statute of limitations. However, the
Company cannot predict when the investigation will be resolved, the outcome of the investigation, or its potential impact on the Company.
Approximately $560 and $1,100 of expense for attorneys’ fees related to this matter is included within the accompanying Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2019, respectively, with no related expense being reflected within the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018.
On October 9, 2018, the Company and DiaSorin Inc. entered into a strategic collaboration to sell DiaSorin’s Helicobacter pylori stool antigen test to
detect H. pylori for use on its automated LIAISON platform under the Meridian brand name worldwide. The new collaboration results in the termination
of all pending legal disputes between the two parties and will expand the previous agreement between DiaSorin and Meridian, which focused on the
sale, by DiaSorin, of co-developed products in major countries in continental Europe. Approximately $0 and $50 of expense for attorneys’ fees related
to this matter is included within the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31,
2019, respectively, and approximately $925 and $1,655 of related expense is included within the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018, respectively.
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11.

FDA Matters Related to LeadCare

As previously disclosed, on June 29, 2017, the FDA, in connection with its Safety Notification related to Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems for
venous blood samples, issued to Magellan its Form 483, Inspectional Observations. The FDA issued a related Warning Letter on October 23, 2017. As
also previously disclosed, on April 17, 2018, Magellan received a subpoena from the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regarding its
LeadCare product line. The subpoena outlines documents to be produced, and we continue to cooperate with the DOJ in this matter, including
responding to additional information requests and executing a tolling agreement to extend the statute of limitations.
Magellan submitted 510(k) applications in December 2018, seeking to reinstate venous blood sample-types for its LeadCare® II, LeadCare® Plus™ and
LeadCare Ultra® testing systems. In the second fiscal quarter of 2019 the FDA informed Magellan that each of these 510(k) applications has been put on
Additional Information hold. Further, while Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems remain cleared for marketing by the FDA and permitted for use with
capillary blood samples, the FDA advised that it has commissioned a third-party study of Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems using both venous and
capillary blood samples. According to the FDA, the results of the field study will be used in conjunction with other information to determine whether
further action by FDA or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention is necessary to protect the public health. Meridian intends to fully cooperate
with the FDA as FDA completes its third-party study and continues to work to complete remediation actions at Magellan’s blood–chemistry
manufacturing facility to the FDA’s full and complete satisfaction.
While we remain confident in the performance of the Magellan LeadCare testing systems, there can be no assurance that the ongoing investigation and
study of the DOJ and FDA, respectively, or future exercise of their respective enforcement, regulatory, discretionary or other powers will not result in
findings or alleged violations of federal laws that could lead to enforcement actions, proceedings or litigation and the imposition of damages, fines,
penalties, restitution, other monetary liabilities, sanctions, settlements or changes to our business practices, product offerings or operations that could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations; or eliminate altogether our ability to operate our lead testing
business, or on terms substantially similar to those on which we currently operate.
See Part II, Item 1A Risk Factors below.
12.

Subsequent Event

On April 29, 2019, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets, as well as selected liabilities, of GenePOC Inc., a
molecular diagnostics company located in Quebec City, Quebec Province, Canada. This purchase will be included in our Diagnostics operating segment.
The maximum purchase price is $120,000, which consists of: (i) $50,000 to be paid at closing (subject to a working capital adjustment and a $5,000
hold-back to secure seller’s post-closing obligations); (ii) up to $20,000 to be paid in fiscal 2021, contingent upon the achievement of product
development milestones; and (iii) up to $50,000 to be paid in fiscal 2023 based on certain sales and profit margin thresholds to be measured in fiscal
2022. GenePOC’s molecular diagnostics testing system is branded under the name revogene™, and currently includes three FDA-cleared assays (C.
difficile, Group A Strep and Group B Strep). The purchase is expected to close no later than early fourth quarter fiscal 2019, pending the satisfaction of
certain closing conditions.
In connection with the proposed acquisition of GenePOC, we also expect to execute a new five-year $125,000 revolving credit facility that would
replace our existing $30,000 credit facility. We expect the new credit facility will be secured by substantially all of our assets and will include certain
restrictive financial covenants. We expect to draw down approximately $73,000 from this new facility and use approximately $20,000 of cash on-hand
to repay the existing term loan outstanding at March 31, 2019 and fund the closing payment for the acquisition of GenePOC.
Also, our Board of Directors suspended the declaration and payment of quarterly dividends by Meridian to invest in new product development activities
for the revogene™ molecular diagnostics platform, among other investments in the business, and to preserve our capital resources and liquidity for
general corporate purposes.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Refer to “Forward-Looking Statements” following the Table of Contents in front of this Form 10-Q. In the discussion that follows, all dollar amounts
are in thousands (both tables and text), except per share data.
Following is a discussion and analysis of the financial statements and other statistical data that management believes will enhance the understanding of
Meridian’s financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations. Unless otherwise noted, increases or decreases are measured
over the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto
beginning on page 1.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Net earnings for the second quarter of fiscal 2019 increased 34% to $7,094, or $0.17 per diluted share, from net earnings for the second quarter of fiscal
2018 of $5,288, or $0.12 per diluted share. The fiscal 2019 second quarter results include $1,388 of costs associated with acquisition and restructuring
activities, and litigation costs, while the fiscal 2018 second quarter results include $4,911 of costs associated with restructuring activities and litigation
costs. These items had a combined impact on net earnings of $1,065, or $0.02 per diluted share, in the fiscal 2019 quarter and $3,575, or $0.08 per
diluted share, in the fiscal 2018 quarter (see “USE OF NON-GAAP MEASURES” below). Consolidated revenues for the second quarter of fiscal 2019
totaled $50,248, a decrease of 11% compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2018 (10% decrease on a constant-currency basis).
Revenues for the Diagnostics segment for the second quarter of fiscal 2019 decreased 16% compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2018 (15% on a
constant-currency basis), comprised of a 29% decrease in molecular assay products and a 12% decrease in immunoassay and blood chemistry assay
products. With a 12% decrease in its molecular reagents products and an 8% increase in its immunological reagents products, revenues for our Life
Science segment were flat during the second quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2018. On a constant-currency basis,
revenues for the Life Science segment increased 2%.
The second quarter Diagnostics revenues reflect modest growth in our blood chemistry assay product line being more than offset by decreased revenues
for our gastrointestinal and respiratory assays. Life Science revenues reflect inconsistent buying patterns with a number of our multi-national IVD
manufacturing customers and general market softness in China.
Six Months Ended March 31, 2019
For the six month period ended March 31, 2018, net earnings were $15,200, or $0.35 per diluted share. The year-to-date fiscal 2019 results include
$2,064 of costs associated with acquisition and restructuring activities, and litigation costs, while the comparable fiscal 2018 results include $6,394 of
costs associated with restructuring activities and litigations costs, along with certain one-time tax effects of the U.S. tax reform act enacted in December
2017. These items had a combined impact on net earnings of $1,583, or $0.04 per diluted share, in the fiscal 2019 year-to-date period and $3,814, or
$0.09 per diluted share, in the comparable fiscal 2018 period (see “USE OF NON-GAAP MEASURES” below). Consolidated revenues decreased 6% to
$101,728 for the first six months of fiscal 2019 compared to the same period of the prior year (also 6% on a constant-currency basis). On an operating
segment basis, Diagnostics revenues decreased 9% (also 9% in constant-currency) and Life Science revenues were flat (2% increase in constantcurrency).
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USE OF NON-GAAP MEASURES
We have supplemented our reported GAAP financial information with information on operating expenses, operating income, net earnings, basic
earnings per share and diluted earnings per share excluding the effects of: (i) acquisition transaction costs (fiscal 2019); (ii) restructuring costs (fiscal
2019 and 2018); (iii) litigation costs (fiscal 2019 and 2018); and (iv) certain one-time tax effects of the tax reform act (fiscal 2018) – each of which is a
non-GAAP measure. We have provided in the tables below reconciliations to the operating expenses, operating income, net earnings, basic earnings per
share and diluted earnings per share amounts reported under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. We believe that this information is useful
to those who read our financial statements and evaluate our operating results because:
1)

These measures help to appropriately evaluate and compare the results of operations from period to period by removing the impacts
of these non-routine items; and

2)

These measures are used by our management for various purposes, including evaluating performance against incentive bonus
achievement targets, comparing performance from period to period in presentations to our board of directors, and as a basis for
strategic planning and forecasting.

Revenue reported on a constant-currency basis is also a non-GAAP measure and is calculated by applying current period average foreign currency
exchange rates to each of the prior comparable periods. Management analyzes revenue on a constant-currency basis to better measure the comparability
of results between periods. Because changes in foreign currency exchange rates have a non-operating impact on revenue, management believes that
evaluating revenue changes on a constant-currency basis provides an additional and meaningful assessment of revenue to both management and
investors.
These non-GAAP measures may be different from non-GAAP measures used by other companies. In addition, these non-GAAP measures are not based
on any comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles. Non-GAAP measures have limitations, in that they do not reflect all amounts associated
with our results as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Therefore, these measures should only be used to evaluate our results in conjunction with
corresponding GAAP measures.
Page 18

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2019
2018

Operating Expenses U.S. GAAP basis
Acquisition & restructuring costs
Litigation costs
Adjusted Operating Expenses

$19,503
(785)
(603)
$18,115

$26,891
(3,458)
(1,453)
$21,980

$40,524
(872)
(1,192)
$38,460

$50,840
(4,192)
(2,202)
$44,446

Operating Income U.S. GAAP basis
Acquisition & restructuring costs
Litigation costs
Adjusted Operating Income

$ 9,835
785
603
$11,223

$ 7,678
3,458
1,453
$12,589

$20,386
872
1,192
$22,450

$15,739
4,192
2,202
$22,133

Net Earnings U.S. GAAP basis
Acquisition & restructuring costs (1)
Litigation costs (1)
One-time benefit from tax law change
Repatriation transition tax
Adjusted Net Earnings

$ 7,094
602
463
—
—
$ 8,159

$ 5,288
2,517
1,058
—
—
$ 8,863

$15,200
669
914
—
—
$16,783

$11,590
3,052
1,603
(1,695)
854
$15,404

$

0.17
0.01
0.01
—
—
0.19

$

0.12
0.06
0.02
—
—
0.21

$

0.36
0.02
0.02
—
—
0.40

$

0.17
0.01
0.01
—
—
0.19

$

0.12
0.06
0.02
—
—
0.21

$

0.35
0.02
0.02
—
—
0.39

$

Net Earnings per Basic Common Share U.S. GAAP basis
Acquisition & restructuring costs
Litigation costs
One-time benefit from tax law change
Repatriation transition tax
Adjusted Basic EPS (2)

$

Net Earnings per Diluted Common Share U.S. GAAP basis
Acquisition & restructuring costs
Litigation costs
One-time benefit from tax law change
Repatriation transition tax
Adjusted Diluted EPS (2)
(1)

(2)

Six Months
Ended March 31,
2019
2018

$

$

$

$

$

$

0.27
0.07
0.04
(0.04)
0.02
$ 0.36
0.27
0.07
0.04
(0.04)
0.02
$ 0.36

These acquisition and restructuring costs, and litigation costs are net of the following income tax effects: $183 and $140, respectively, for the three
months ended March 31, 2019; $941 and $395, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2018; $203 and $278, respectively, for the
fiscal 2019 year-to-date period; and $1,140 and $599, respectively, for the fiscal 2018 year-to-date period. These tax effects were calculated using
the effective tax rates of the jurisdictions in which the costs were incurred.
Neither Net Earnings per Basic Common Share nor Net Earnings per Diluted Common Share for the fiscal 2018 quarterly period sum to their
respective Adjusted EPS amounts due to rounding.
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REVENUE OVERVIEW
Below are analyses of the Company’s revenue, provided for each of the following:
•

By Reportable Segment & Geographic Region

•

By Product Platform/Type

Revenue Overview- By Reportable Segment & Geographic Region
Our reportable segments are Diagnostics and Life Science, with products sold and distributed in the countries comprising North and Latin America (the
“Americas”); Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”); and other countries outside of the Americas and EMEA (rest of the world, or “ROW”). A full
description of our segments is set forth in Note 9, “Reportable Segments and Major Customers Information” of the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenues for the Diagnostics segment, in the normal course of business, may be affected from quarter to quarter by buying patterns of major
distributors, seasonality and the severity of seasonal diseases and outbreaks, and foreign currency exchange rates. Revenues for the Life Science
segment, in the normal course of business, may be affected from quarter to quarter by buying patterns of major customers, and foreign currency
exchange rates.

Diagnostics Americas
EMEA
ROW
Total Diagnostics
Life Science Americas
EMEA
ROW
Total Life Science
Consolidated
% of total revenues Diagnostics
Life Science
Total
Ex-Americas

Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

$27,278
5,535
687
33,500

$33,351
5,912
519
39,782

(18)%
(6)%
32%
(16)%

$ 58,425
10,620
1,120
70,165

$ 64,926
11,327
1,019
77,272

(10)%
(6)%
10%
(9)%

5,453
7,901
3,394
16,748
$50,248

5,121
7,478
4,070
16,669
$56,451

6%
6%
(17)%
— %
(11)%

9,975
15,376
6,212
31,563
$101,728

10,373
12,659
8,430
31,462
$108,734

(4)%
21%
(26)%
— %
(6)%

67%
33%
100%

70%
30%
100%

69%
31%
100%

71%
29%
100%

35%

32%

33%

31%

Revenue Overview- By Product Platform/Type
The revenues generated by each of our reportable segments result primarily from the sale of the following segment-specific categories of products:
Diagnostics
1)

Molecular assays that operate on our Alethia platform (formerly branded as illumigene)

2)

Immunoassays and blood chemistry assays on multiple technology platforms

Life Science
1)

Molecular reagents

2)

Immunological reagents
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Revenues for each product platform/type, as well as its relative percentage of segment revenues, are shown below.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Inc (Dec)

DiagnosticsMolecular assays
Immunoassays & blood chemistry assays
Total Diagnostics

$ 7,132
26,368
$33,500

$ 9,976
29,806
$39,782

(29)%
(12)%
(16)%

$14,434
55,731
$70,165

$18,692
58,580
$77,272

(23)%
(5)%
(9)%

Life ScienceMolecular reagents
Immunological reagents
Total Life Science

$ 5,390
11,358
$16,748

$ 6,143
10,526
$16,669

(12)%
8%
— %

$11,998
19,565
$31,563

$11,832
19,630
$31,462

1%
— %
— %

% of Diagnostics revenuesMolecular assays
Immunoassays & blood chemistry assays
Total Diagnostics

21%
79%
100%

25%
75%
100%

21%
79%
100%

24%
76%
100%

% of Life Science revenuesMolecular reagents
Immunological reagents
Total Life Science

32%
68%
100%

37%
63%
100%

38%
62%
100%

38%
62%
100%

Following is a discussion of the revenues generated by each of these product platforms/types and disease states:
Diagnostics Products
Gastrointestinal Assays
During the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2019, revenues from our gastrointestinal products, which include tests for C. difficile, H. pylori
and certain foodborne pathogens, among others, totaled $16,177 and $34,792, respectively. These revenue levels represent 16% and 12% decreases for
this product category from the fiscal 2018 quarterly and year-to-date periods, respectively. Our C. difficile products continue to experience pressure as a
result of competition, particularly our Alethia product, which experienced volume declines impacting both the quarterly and year-to-date periods. For
our stool antigen H. pylori products, we have executed multi-year supply agreements with a number of customers, including our two largest reference
laboratory customers, to secure volume, albeit at lower selling prices. As a consequence of this strategy, such products experienced price declines for the
quarterly and year-to-date periods. We continue to believe there are ongoing benefits to be realized from our partnerships with managed care companies
in promoting: (i) the health and economic benefits of a test and treat strategy; (ii) changes in policies that discourage the use of traditional serology
methods and promote the utilization of active infection testing methods; and (iii) physician behavior movement away from serology-based testing and
toward direct antigen testing. We experienced a favorable volume increase for the quarterly period as a result of promoting this test and treat strategy.
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The patents for our H. pylori products, owned by us, expired in May 2016 in the U.S. and in May 2017 in countries outside the U.S. We expect
competition with respect to our H. pylori products to increase in the near future, and such competition may have an adverse impact on our selling prices
for these products, or our ability to retain business at prices acceptable to us, and consequently, adversely affect our future results of operations and
liquidity, including revenues and gross profit. Our product development pipeline includes new product initiatives for the detection of H. pylori, and early
in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 we entered into a strategic collaboration with DiaSorin to sell H. pylori tests (see Note 10, “Litigation Matters” of the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements). We are unable to provide assurances that we will be successful with any strategy or that
any strategy will prevent an adverse effect on our future results of operations and liquidity, including revenues and gross profit.
Respiratory Illness Assays
Including tests for Group A Strep, Mycoplasma pneumonia, influenza, and Pertussis, among others, our respiratory illness product revenues decreased
21% and 9% in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2019, respectively. The quarterly decrease primarily results from a significant decrease
in the volume of tests sold, reflecting the fact that the prior year 2017-2018 flu season was a particularly strong one, as measured by outpatient
influenza-like illness surveillance data published by the CDC.
Blood Chemistry Assays
Revenues from our sale of products to test for elevated levels of lead in blood increased 2% during the second quarter of fiscal 2019 to a total of $4,330,
and increased 3% for the fiscal year-to-date period to $8,760. In late December 2018, the documents to reinstate our venous blood claims removed in
fiscal 2017 were submitted to the FDA, and in March 2019, we were informed by the FDA that each of the submitted 510(k) applications has been put
on Additional Information (AI) hold. Further, while our LeadCare testing systems remain cleared for marketing by the FDA for use with capillary blood
samples, the FDA advised that it has commissioned a third-party study of the LeadCare testing systems using both venous and capillary blood samples.
According to the FDA, the results of the field study will be used in conjunction with other information to determine whether further action by FDA and
CDC is necessary to protect the public health. We intend to fully cooperate with the FDA as it completes its third-party study and continue to work to
complete remediation actions at our blood–chemistry manufacturing facility to the FDA’s full and complete satisfaction. We remain confident in the
performance of the LeadCare products and believe that they serve a critical role in promoting the public health.
See Note 10, “Litigation Matters” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to the
Company’s LeadCare product line. See also Part II, Item 1A Risk Factors below.
Life Science Products
During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, revenues from our Life Science segment remained flat compared to the fiscal 2018 second quarter, with
revenues from molecular reagent sales decreasing 12% and revenues from immunological reagent sales increasing 8%. Life Science segment revenues
also remained flat for the first six months of fiscal 2019, reflecting a slight increase in revenues from molecular reagent sales being offset by a slight
decrease in immunological reagent sales. Our Life Science segment’s revenue growth was slightly impacted by the movement in currency exchange
rates since the fiscal 2018 periods, with revenues increasing 2% on a constant-currency basis over both the second quarter and first six months of fiscal
2018. Our Life Science segment was also impacted by buying patterns of certain IVD manufacturing customers in China, with such sales totaling
approximately $1,350 and $2,350 during the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2019, respectively – representing decreases of approximately
37% and 33%, respectively, from the comparable fiscal 2018 periods.
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Significant Customers
Revenue concentrations related to certain customers within our Diagnostics and Life Science segments are set forth in Note 9, “Reportable Segments
and Major Customers Information” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Gross Profit

Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin

Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Change

$29,338
58%

$34,569
61%

Six Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
Change

(15)%
-3 points

$60,910
60%

$66,579
61%

(9)%
-1 point

The gross profit margin decreases experienced in fiscal 2019 result from the impact of the previously-noted pricing changes within our H. pylori product
line, along with the combined effects of mix of products sold and operating segment mix.
Operating Expenses – Segment Detail

Fiscal 2018:
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
Total Expenses (2018 Quarter)
Fiscal 2019:
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
Total Expenses (2019 Quarter)

Fiscal 2018:
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
Total Expenses (2018 Year-to-Date)
Fiscal 2019:
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
Total Expenses (2019 Year-to-Date)

Research &
Development

$

$
$

$

3,735
756
—
4,491

$ 6,101
2,546
—
$ 8,647

$

3,172
644
—
3,816

$ 5,481
1,430
—
$ 6,911

$

Research &
Development

$

$
$

$
Page 23

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Selling &
General &
Marketing
Administrative
Other

$

$

4,795
2,235
1,812
8,842

$ —
—
4,911
$4,911

$

4,336
1,439
1,613
7,388

$ (125)
25
1,488
$1,388

$

Six Months Ended March 31, 2019
Selling &
General &
Marketing
Administrative
Other

7,425
1,470
—
8,895

$ 12,526
4,935
—
$ 17,461

$

6,286
1,414
—
7,700

$ 11,523
2,951
—
$ 14,474

$

$

$

Total Operating
Expenses

$

$

14,631
5,537
6,723
26,891
12,864
3,538
3,101
19,503

Total Operating
Expenses

9,899
4,251
3,940
18,090

$ —
—
6,394
$6,394

$

9,027
2,930
4,329
16,286

$ (125)
25
2,164
$2,064

$

$

$

29,850
10,656
10,334
50,840
26,711
7,320
6,493
40,524

Operating Expenses – Comparisons to Prior Year Periods

2018 Expenses
% of Revenues
Fiscal 2019 Increases/(Decreases):
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
2019 Expenses
% of Revenues
% Decrease

2018 Expenses
% of Revenues
Fiscal 2019 Increases/(Decreases):
Diagnostics
Life Science
Corporate
2019 Expenses
% of Revenues
% Decrease

Research &
Development

$

$

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Selling &
General &
Marketing
Administrative
Other

4,491
8%

$ 8,647
15%

(563)
(112)
—
3,816
8%
(15)%

(620)
(1,116)
—
$ 6,911
14%
(20)%

$

8,842
16%

$ 4,911
9%

(459)
(796)
(199)
7,388
15%
(16)%

(125)
25
(3,423)
$ 1,388
3%
(72)%

Six Months Ended March 31, 2019
General &
Administrative
Other

Research &
Development

Selling &
Marketing

$

8,895
8%

$ 17,461
16%

(1,139)
(56)
—
7,700
8%
(13)%

(1,003)
(1,984)
—
$ 14,474
14%
(17)%

$

$

$

$

18,090
17%

$ 6,394
6%

(872)
(1,321)
389
16,286
16%
(10)%

(125)
25
(4,230)
$ 2,064
2%
(68)%

Total Operating
Expenses

$

$

26,891
48%
(1,767)
(1,999)
(3,622)
19,503
39%
(27)%

Total Operating
Expenses

$

$

50,840
47%
(3,139)
(3,336)
(3,841)
40,524
40%
(20)%

Total operating expenses decreased during both the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2019 compared to the respective fiscal 2018 periods,
with overall decreases in spending in all of our segments, reflecting the following:
1)

Decreased Research & Development costs due primarily to the timing of product development projects and the clinical trials for our
cCMV test in fiscal 2018;

2)

Decreased Selling & Marketing costs due to: (i) the effects of the fiscal 2018 organization streamlining initiatives; and (ii) lower
sales commissions resulting from the decrease in sales levels;

3)

Decreased General & Administrative costs due to: (i) the effects of the fiscal 2018 organization streamlining initiatives; and
(ii) lower Quality System remediation costs related to our blood-lead manufacturing facility; and

4)

Decreased restructuring & litigation costs (reflected within “Other” in the above tables).

Operating Income
Operating income increased 28% to $9,835 for the second quarter of fiscal 2019, and increased 30% to $20,386 for the first six months of fiscal 2019, as
a result of the factors discussed above, including the costs associated with acquisition and restructuring activities, and litigation costs.
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Income Taxes
The effective rate for income taxes was 23% for both the fiscal 2019 second quarter and six month year-to-date period, compared to 27% and 22%
during the corresponding fiscal 2018 periods. These fluctuations in tax rates result from the fact that the fiscal 2019 periods reflect the lower U.S.
federal tax rate of 21% being fully phased-in, while the fiscal 2018 periods reflect the combined net impact of the following effects of the tax reform act
(see Note 7, “Income Taxes” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements):
1)

Application of an approximate 24.5% blended rate due to the lowering of the applicable rate from 35% to 21% on a phased-in basis;

2)

Recognizing in the first quarter a one-time $1,695 tax benefit, including the re-measurement of deferred tax balances at the lower
rate; and

3)

Recording in the first quarter a provisional one-time $854 tax expense related to the estimated repatriation transition tax on foreign
earnings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Comparative Cash Flow Analysis
Our cash flow and financing requirements are determined by analyses of operating and capital spending budgets, debt service, and consideration of
acquisition plans, including our pending acquisition of GenePOC (see Note 12, “Subsequent Event” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements).
We have an investment policy that guides the holdings of our investment portfolio, which presently consists of bank savings accounts and institutional
money market mutual funds. Our objectives in managing the investment portfolio are to: (i) preserve capital; (ii) provide sufficient liquidity to meet
working capital requirements and fund strategic objectives such as acquisitions; and (iii) capture a market rate of return commensurate with market
conditions and our policy’s investment eligibility criteria. As we look forward, we will continue to manage the holdings of our investment portfolio with
preservation of capital being the primary objective.
Considering the various worldwide geo-political and geo-economic conditions, we do not expect macroeconomic conditions to have a significant impact
on our liquidity needs, financial condition or results of operations, although no assurances can be made in this regard. We intend to continue to fund our
working capital requirements from current cash flows from operating activities and cash on hand. If needed, we also have an additional source of
liquidity through our $30,000 bank revolving credit facility. Our liquidity needs may change if overall economic conditions worsen and/or liquidity and
credit within the financial markets tightens for an extended period of time, and such conditions impact the collectability of our customer accounts
receivable, impact credit terms with our vendors, or disrupt the supply of raw materials and services.
As of March 31, 2019, our cash and equivalents balance is $66,097 or $9,697 higher than at the end of the fiscal 2018 second quarter, and $6,334 higher
than at September 30, 2018. This increase results in large part from the cash flows from operating activities being more than sufficient to cover capital
expenditures and debt service. Net cash flows from operating activities and cash on hand are anticipated to be adequate to fund working capital
requirements and capital expenditures during the next 12 months.
Capital Resources
In 2016, the Company entered into a $60,000 five-year term loan and related interest rate swap agreement with a commercial bank, the details of which
are set forth in Note 8, “Bank Credit Arrangements” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, we have a
$30,000 revolving credit facility (discussed above) with a commercial bank that expires March 31, 2021. As of April 30, 2019, there were no
borrowings outstanding on this facility and we had 100% borrowing capacity available to us. We have had no borrowings outstanding under this
revolving credit facility during the first six months of fiscal 2019 or during the full year of fiscal 2018.
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Our capital expenditures are estimated to range between approximately $4,000 to $5,000 for fiscal 2019, with the actual amount dependent upon actual
operating results and the phasing of certain projects. Such expenditures may be funded with cash and equivalents on hand, operating cash flows, and/or
availability under the $30,000 revolving credit facility discussed above.
We do not utilize special-purpose financing vehicles or have undisclosed off-balance sheet arrangements.
On April 29, 2019, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets, as well as selected liabilities, of GenePOC Inc., a
molecular diagnostics company located in Quebec City, Quebec Province, Canada. This purchase will be included in our Diagnostics operating segment.
The maximum purchase price is $120,000, which consists of: (i) $50,000 to be paid at closing (subject to a working capital adjustment and a $5,000
hold-back to secure seller’s post-closing obligations); (ii) up to $20,000 to be paid in fiscal 2021, contingent upon the achievement of product
development milestones; and (iii) up to $50,000 to be paid in fiscal 2023 based on certain sales and profit margin thresholds to be measured in fiscal
2022. GenePOC’s molecular diagnostics testing system is branded under the name revogene™, and currently includes three FDA-cleared assays
(C. difficile, Group A Strep and Group B Strep). The purchase is expected to close no later than early fourth quarter fiscal 2019, pending the satisfaction
of certain closing conditions.
In connection with the proposed acquisition of GenePOC, we also expect to execute a new five-year $125,000 revolving credit facility that would
replace our existing $30,000 credit facility. We expect the new credit facility will be secured by substantially all of our assets and will include certain
restrictive financial covenants. We expect to draw down approximately $73,000 from this new facility and use approximately $20,000 of cash on-hand
to repay the existing term loan outstanding at March 31, 2019 and fund the closing payment for the acquisition of GenePOC.
Also, our Board of Directors suspended the declaration and payment of quarterly dividends by Meridian to invest in new product development activities
for the revogene™ molecular diagnostics platform, among other investments in the business, and to preserve our capital resources and liquidity for
general corporate purposes.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
There have been no material changes in the Company’s exposure to market risk since September 30, 2018.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of March 31, 2019. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2019.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the quarter ended March 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See Note 10, “Litigation Matters” of the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The following risk factor is added to the risk factors included in Item 1A of Part I of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K:
The United States Department of Justice and FDA are investigating our Magellan lead testing systems, and any adverse finding, allegation, or
exercise of enforcement or regulatory discretion by the DOJ or FDA could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, or
results of operations.
As previously disclosed, on June 29, 2017, the FDA, in connection with its Safety Notification related to Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems for
venous blood samples, issued to Magellan its Form 483, Inspectional Observations. The FDA issued a related Warning Letter on October 23, 2017. As
also previously disclosed, on April 17, 2018, Magellan received a subpoena from the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regarding its
LeadCare product line. The subpoena outlines documents to be produced, and we continue to cooperate with the DOJ in this matter, including
responding to additional information requests and executing a tolling agreement to extend the statute of limitations.
Magellan submitted 510(k) applications in December 2018, seeking to reinstate venous blood sample-types for its LeadCare® II, LeadCare® Plus™ and
LeadCare Ultra® testing systems. In the second fiscal quarter of 2019 the FDA informed Magellan that each of these 510(k) applications has been put on
Additional Information hold. Further, while Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems remain cleared for marketing by the FDA and permitted for use with
capillary blood samples, the FDA advised that it has commissioned a third-party study of Magellan’s LeadCare testing systems using both venous and
capillary blood samples. According to the FDA, the results of the field study will be used in conjunction with other information to determine whether
further action by FDA or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention is necessary to protect the public health. Meridian intends to fully cooperate
with the FDA as FDA completes its third-party study and continues to work to complete remediation actions at Magellan’s blood–chemistry
manufacturing facility to the FDA’s full and complete satisfaction.
While we remain confident in the performance of the Magellan LeadCare testing systems, there can be no assurance that the ongoing investigation and
study of the DOJ and FDA, respectively, or future exercise of their respective enforcement, regulatory, discretionary or other powers will not result in
findings or alleged violations of federal laws that could lead to enforcement actions, proceedings or litigation and the imposition of damages, fines,
penalties, restitution, other monetary liabilities, sanctions, settlements or changes to our business practices, product offerings or operations that could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations; or eliminate altogether our ability to operate our lead testing
business, or on terms substantially similar to those on which we currently operate.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are being filed or furnished as a part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:
2.1**

Share Purchase Agreement dated as of April 29, 2019 by and among GenePOC Inc., Meridian Bioscience Canada Inc., the shareholders of
GenePOC Inc., Après-Demain Holding SA, as Shareholders’ Representative, and Meridian Bioscience, Inc.

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
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32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101

The following financial information from Meridian Bioscience Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019
filed with the SEC on May 7, 2019, formatted in XBRL includes: (i) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018;
(iv) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2019 and September 30, 2018; (v) Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity for the three and six months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018; and (vi) the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements

**

Schedules to and certain portions of Exhibit 2.1 have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The omitted information is not
material and would likely cause competitive harm to the Registrant if publicly disclosed. The Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of any
omitted schedule or other portion to the SEC upon request.
SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC.
Date: May 7, 2019

By: /s/ Bryan T. Baldasare
Bryan T. Baldasare
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller, Treasurer and Chief
Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 2.1
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS
EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE
COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. [***]

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT
by and among
GENEPOC INC.
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE CANADA INC.,
The Shareholders of GenePoc Inc., solely for the purposes of Sections 5.03, 8.01 and 10.05 hereof
and
APRÈS-DEMAIN HOLDING SA, as Shareholders’ Representative
and
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC. solely for the purposes of
Sections 2.06, 2.07 and 8.02 hereof

dated as of
April 29, 2019
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SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), dated as of April 29, 2019, is entered into between GENEPOC INC., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of Canada (“Seller”), MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE CANADA INC., a company incorporated under the laws of British
Columbia (“Buyer”), the shareholders of Seller as listed in Schedule 1 attached hereto, solely for the purpose of Section 8.01 (the “Shareholders”),
APRÈS-DEMAIN HOLDING SA, solely in the capacity of Shareholders’ Representative (the “Shareholders’ Representative”), and MERIDIAN
BIOSCIENCE, INC. solely for the purpose of Sections 2.06, 2.07 and 8.02 (“Meridian ParentCo”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Shareholders own all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Seller and will directly benefit from the Contemplated
Transactions;
WHEREAS, Meridian ParentCo is the sole Shareholder of the Buyer;
WHEREAS, prior to Closing, Buyer formed GenePoc Canada Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of British Columbia (the “Company”);
WHEREAS, prior to the Closing Date, Seller will transfer substantially all of the assets of Seller and certain specified liabilities to the Company
and obtain all material approvals and consents for such purpose (the “Reorganization”) in exchange for the issuance to Seller by the Company of
Class B shares of the Company (the “Purchased Shares”), which together with the initial Class A shares issued to Buyer on the organization of the
Company, will constitute all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company; and
WHEREAS, Seller wishes to sell to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase from Seller, the Purchased Shares, subject to the terms and conditions
set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Article I
DEFINITIONS
The following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this Article I:
“Accounts Payable” means the trade accounts payable of the Business incurred in the Ordinary Course on or before the Closing Date and are
outstanding on the Closing Date and which relate to products purchased by, or services performed for the benefit of, the Business on or prior to the
Closing Date.
“Accounts Receivable” means all accounts receivable billed and unpaid, including prepaid deposits from customers, for products sold or services
provided by the Business prior to the Closing.

“Accrued Liabilities” means all liabilities which have been incurred or accrued in relation to the Business (other than those relating to Taxes) as of
the Closing Date, but have not then yet been paid or logged under Accounts Payable as of the Closing Date.
“Acquisition Proposal” means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) relating to the direct or
indirect disposition, whether by sale, merger, amalgamation or otherwise, of all or any portion of the Business, whether a sale of assets of the Seller
(other than as contemplated herein through the Reorganization Documents), or as a sale of shares of the Seller or of the Class B shares of the Company
held by Seller (except as contemplated herein).
“Action” means any claim, action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, formal examination, notice of violation, proceeding, litigation,
citation, Governmental Order, summons, formal investigation or subpoena of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether
at law or in equity.
“Affiliate” of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, such Person. The term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise.
“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Applicable Rate” means the Daily LIBOR Rate plus 500 basis points (provided the Daily LIBOR Rate shall not be less than zero); Interest on the
Daily LIBOR Rate is calculated daily and paid quarterly. For the purposes of the definition, the Daily Libor Rate shall mean, for any day, the rate per
annum calculated by dividing (x) the Published Rate by (y) the number equal to 1:00 minus the percentage prescribed by the Federal Reserve for
determining the maximum reserve requirement with respect to any Eurocurrency funding by banks on such day; for the purpose of this definition
“Published Rate” shall mean the rate of interest published each day in the The Wall Street Journal “Money Rates” listing under the caption “London
Interbank Offered Rates” for one month period (or, if no such rate is published therein for any reason, then the Published Rate shall be the Eurodollar
rate for a one month period as published in another equivalent publication.
“Asset Transfer Agreement” means that certain Asset Transfer Agreement between Seller and the Company in the form attached as Exhibit A.
“Assumed Liabilities” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Transfer Agreement.
“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.05.
“Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.05.
“Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.05.
“Base Cash Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
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“Base Cash Payment to be Paid at Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(a).
“Base Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
“Basket” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(a).
“Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).
“Business” means the business of developing, manufacturing, distributing and selling molecular instruments and associated assays for the
detection of infectious disease.
“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in Cincinnati, Ohio or Quebec City,
Quebec are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.
“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Buyer’s Fundamental Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02(a).
“Buyer’s Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.03.
“Buyer’s Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02.
“Buyer’s Accountants” means Grant Thornton, or such other accounting firm that Buyer may appoint from time to time.
“Buyer’s Reorganization Documents” means any and all of the documents and filings of the Reorganization Closing Agenda prepared or made by
the Company or the Buyer or under their responsibility.
“Buyer’s Reorganization Portion” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.08.
“Buyer’s Requested Consents” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(c).
“Cash” means all cash and cash equivalents determined in accordance with CASPE, plus, (i) deposits in transit to the extent there has been a
reduction of accounts receivable used in determining the Closing Working Capital on account thereof, and (ii) petty cash, minus, outstanding cheques to
the extent there has been a decrease in Accounts Payable used in determining the Closing Working Capital on account thereof.
“CASPE” means Canadian Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises applicable on a consolidated basis to private enterprises in effect as of a
given date and applied on a basis consistent with that of preceding periods.
“Claims” means, collectively, Direct Claims and Third Party Claims.
“Clinical Trial Agreements” means any Contract between the Seller or the Company, as applicable, with any research institution and, where
applicable, any investigator, whereby the
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Seller or the Company, as applicable, sponsors a clinical research conducted by such research institution or investigator.
“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
“Closing Indebtedness” means the outstanding Indebtedness of the Company (giving effect to the Reorganization) as of the open of business on
the Closing Date and assumed by the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement.
“Closing Working Capital” means: (a) the Current Assets of the Company, acquired by the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement, less
(b) the Current Liabilities of the Company assumed by the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement, determined as of the close of business on the
date immediately prior to the Closing Date and assumed by the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement; provided, however, that, for the
avoidance of doubt, Closing Working Capital shall not include any Cash, any income Tax payable, any research and development Tax credits and
receivables, any sales Taxes, as of the close of business on the date immediately prior to the Closing Date, the Indebtedness Payments and the
Transaction Expenses. For greater certainty, Closing Working Capital will not include any assets or liabilities of the Company immediately prior to the
Reorganization.
“Closing Working Capital Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(b)(i).
“CMS” means the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, a non-independent agency within the United States Department of Health and
Human Services.
“Commercially Reasonable Efforts” shall mean, for the purposes of Section 2.07, with respect to the efforts and resources to be expended, or
considerations to be undertaken, by Buyer and its Affiliates such reasonable, diligent and good faith continuous efforts and resources, consistent with
applicable Laws, as a fully integrated diagnostic and life science company of a similar size and with similar revenues as Buyer and its Affiliates would
normally use to accomplish a similar objective, activity or decision under similar circumstances, it being understood and agreed that with respect to the
marketing, manufacture, seeking and obtaining regulatory approval, or commercialization of any product or product candidate, such efforts and
resources shall be consistent with those efforts and resources commonly used by such a fully integrated diagnostic and life science company under
similar circumstances for a similar product or product candidate owned by it, or to which it has similar rights, which product or product candidate is at a
similar stage in its development or product life and is of similar market potential (taking into account all relevant factors, including: (i) issues of
efficacy, safety, and expected and actual approved instructions for use, (ii) the expected and actual competitiveness of alternative products sold by third
parties or Meridian ParentCo or any of its Affiliates in the marketplace, (iii) the expected and actual product performance, (iv) the expected and actual
patent and other proprietary position of the product(s) or product candidate(s), (v) the likelihood and difficulty of obtaining regulatory approval given
the regulatory structure involved, (vi) pending, actual or threatened legal proceedings with respect to the product(s) or product candidate(s), (vii) input
from regulatory experts and any guidance or developments from the FDA, Health Canada or similar Governmental
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Authority affecting the data required in order to [***], or to obtain clearance from the FDA under Section 510(k) of the U.S. Food, Drug and Cosmetic
Act or to obtain similar clearance from or approval by any other Governmental Authority, (viii) compliance with Healthcare Laws, (ix) the expected and
actual profitability and return on investment of the product(s) or product candidate(s) taking into consideration, among other factors (x) third party costs
and expenses incurred in the development of such product, (y) royalty, milestone and other payments owed based on the commercialization of such
product (but not taking into account any amounts owed under this Agreement), and (z) expected and actual pricing and reimbursement relating to the
product(s) or product candidate(s)), provided, in any event, that (i) with respect to the objective related to the [***] Earnout [***], all based on
conditions prevailing at the time such efforts are due, and (ii) with respect to the objective related to the Gross Sales Earnout and Gross Margin Target,
the application by Buyer, consistent with the exercise of its business judgement, of diligent efforts and resources to fulfill the obligation in issue,
consistent with the level of efforts Buyer would normally devote to its own branded product of comparable commercial value at a similar stage in its
product life as the Specified Products, taking into account competitive market conditions in the diagnostics solutions area, all based on conditions
prevailing at the time such efforts are due, the whole taking into account.[***]
“Company” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Company Intellectual Property” means the Owned Intellectual Property and the Licensed Intellectual Property.
“Company IP Agreements” means all settlements, coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue, and any other Contracts relating to Intellectual
Property, but excluding Contracts relating to Licensed Intellectual Property.
“Company IP Registrations” means the IP Registrations for the Owned Intellectual Property and the [***] IP.
“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(a).
“Confidentiality Agreement” means that certain Non-Disclosure Agreement between Meridian ParentCo and Seller dated as of June 15, 2018, as
amended as of December 9, 2018.
“Contemplated Transactions” means the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
“Contracts” means all contracts, leases (including leases of real property), re-seller agreements, sales and purchase orders, deeds, mortgages,
licenses, instruments, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and all other agreements, commitments and legally binding
arrangements, that are currently outstanding or have ongoing rights or obligations pertaining to them and that have not expired or otherwise been
terminated.
“Contracts with Governmental Authorities” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.08(a)(x).
“CRA” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(b).
-5-

“Current Assets” means Accounts Receivable, inventory and prepaid expenses, determined in accordance with CASPE applied using the same
accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation
methodologies and adjustments that were used in the preparation of the Sample Working Capital Statement.
“Current Liabilities” means Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities, determined in accordance with CASPE applied using the same accounting
methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies and
adjustments that were used in the preparation of the Sample Working Capital Statement.
“Data Room” means the virtual data site hosted by Firmex.
“DEA” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22(a).
“Designated Percentage” for each Shareholder means the percentage specified opposite the name of such Shareholder in Schedule 1 attached
hereto:
“Direct Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06(c).
“Disclosure Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules delivered by Seller and Buyer concurrently with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement.
“Disputed Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(c)(iii).
“Dollars” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States. For the purposes of the representations and warranties given in Article III, US$
amounts will be considered equivalent to Canadian dollar amounts based on a deemed exchange rate of US$1.00 = CA$1.00.
“Earnout Accounting Firm” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(c)(iv).
“Earnout Objection Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(c)(iv).
“Earnout Period” means the twelve (12) month period ended September 30, 2022.
“Earnout Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(c)(i).
“Election Not to Terminate” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(b);
[***]
“Encumbrance” means any charge, hypothec, pledge, condition, equitable interest, lien (statutory or other), option, security interest, mortgage,
easement, servitude, encroachment, right of way, right of first refusal/offer/negotiation, or similar restriction, including any restriction on use, voting,
transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership, but for greater certainty, Encumbrances shall not be considered to mean
licenses to Intellectual Property or settlements, Intellectual Property, Intellectual Property co-ownership or joint ownership
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agreements, Intellectual Property coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue in respect of Intellectual Property, or claims of infringement of third
party Intellectual Property.
“Environmental Claim” means any action, suit, claim, investigation or other legal proceeding by any Person alleging liability of whatever kind or
nature (including liability or responsibility for the costs of enforcement proceedings, investigations, cleanup, governmental response, removal or
remediation, natural resources damages, property damages, penalties, contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or
resulting from: (a) the presence, Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials; or (b) any actual or alleged non-compliance with any
Environmental Law or term or condition of any Environmental Permit.
“Environmental Law” means any applicable Law, and any Governmental Order or binding agreement with any Governmental Authority:
(a) relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, human health or safety, or the
environment (including ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata and all sewer systems); or (b) concerning the presence of,
exposure to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation,
processing, production, disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term “Environmental Law” includes, without limitation, the following
(including their implementing regulations and any state analogs): Environment Quality Act (C.S.R Chapter Q-2), Act Respecting Occupational Health
and Safety (C.S.R. Chapter S-2.1), Building Act (C.S.R. Chapter B-1.1), Act to affirm the collective nature of water resources and to promote better
governance of water and associated environments (C.S.R. Chapter C-6.2), Canada Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (S.C. 1999, c.33), Fisheries Act
(R.S.C., 1985, c. F-14), Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act, 1992 (S.C. 1992, c. 34).
“Environmental Notice” means any directive, complaint, subpoena, governmental information request, summons, written notice, notice of
violation or infraction, or notice respecting any Environmental Claim relating to actual or alleged non-compliance with any Environmental Law or any
term or condition of any Environmental Permit.
“Environmental Permit” means any Permit, letter, clearance, consent, waiver, closure, exemption, decision or other action required under or
issued, granted, given, authorized by or made pursuant to Environmental Law.
“Equipment” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(b).
“Estimated Closing Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(a)(ii).
“Estimated Closing Working Capital Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(a)(ii).
“Estimated Indebtedness” set forth in Section 2.08(a)(ii).
“Europe” means any country located, in whole or in part, on the European continent, namely the member states of the European Union as of the
date of this Agreement, Iceland, Lichtenstein, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.
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“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.
“Final Base Purchase Price” means the Base Purchase Price as finally calculated pursuant to Section 2.08(b)(i).
“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.05.
“First [***] Milestone” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).
“First [***] Milestone Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).
“Fraud” means intentional fraud in the making of, or with respect to, any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.
“General R&W Indemnity Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(a).
“[***] Assay” has the meaning set forth on Schedule 2.
“Global Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(f).
“Government Bid” means any quotation, bid or proposal that, if accepted or awarded, would lead to a Government Contract.
“Government Contract” means, with respect to any Person, any prime contract, subcontract, facility contract, teaming agreement or arrangement,
strategic alliance agreement, joint venture agreement, basic ordering agreement, pricing agreement, letter contract, purchase order, delivery order, task
order or other contractual arrangement of any kind, as modified by binding modification or change order, in each case between such Person and any
Governmental Authority.
“Governmental Authority” means any federal, provincial, state, local or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any agency or
instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, or any self-regulated organization or other non-governmental regulatory authority or quasigovernmental authority (to the extent that the rules, regulations or orders of such organization or authority have the force of Law), or any arbitrator,
court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, which for the avoidance of doubt, includes the FDA and Health Canada.
“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award entered by or with any
Governmental Authority.
“Gross Margin Target” means that the gross margin as determined in accordance with US GAAP, on the Gross Sales of the Specified Products for
the Earnout Period is [***]; an illustrative calculation of such gross margin is attached hereto as Schedule 3.
“Gross Sales” mean total invoiced revenues less freight, sales taxes, credited returns and credited rebates or price adjustments under local cost
contracts with distributors; an illustrative calculation of such Gross Sales is attached hereto as Schedule 3.
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“Gross Sales Earnout” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(a).
“Gross Sales Earnout Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(a).
“Hazardous Materials” means: (a) any material, substance, chemical, waste, product, compound, mixture, solid, liquid, mineral or gas, in each
case, whether naturally occurring or man-made, that is regulated, listed, defined, classified or otherwise determined to be a pollutant, a contaminant,
dangerous, hazardous, toxic, or words of similar import or regulatory effect under Environmental Laws; and (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived
products, radioactive materials or wastes, asbestos in any form, lead or lead-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation and
polychlorinated biphenyls.
“Health Canada” means the federal Department of Health for which the Minister of Health in Canada is responsible, including all agencies,
directorates and bureaus thereof, and any successor agency having similar jurisdiction.
“Healthcare Regulatory Authority” means Health Canada, CMS, FDA, federally recognized but privately operating accrediting organizations, or
any other federal, provincial, state, local or foreign Governmental Authority, including such entities that are concerned with or regulate public health
care programs.
“Healthcare Regulatory Authorizations” means all approvals, clearances, authorizations, medical device licenses, consents, waivers, registrations,
certificates, licenses and permits granted by or required by any Healthcare Regulatory Authority and necessary to market and sell Revogene assays,
instruments related to the Business in Canada, the United States and Europe, including participation agreements with governmental third-party payors,
including by way of example, Medicare, Medicare Advantage, Medicaid, Tricare, FEHBP and any “federal health care program,” as that term is defined
in Social Security Act § 112B(f), quality management system certificates and International Organization of Standardization (ISO) certificates.
“Holdback Amount” means Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).
“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person: (a) indebtedness created, issued or incurred by such Person for borrowed money (whether by loan or the
issuance and sale of debt securities); (b) obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than
trade accounts payable arising and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business; (c) indebtedness of others secured by an Encumbrance
on the property of such Person, whether or not the respective indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such Person; (d) obligations of such Person
in respect of letters of credit or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for the account of such Person; (e) long
or short term obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments; (f) obligations by such Person under any derivative
transaction, any commodity swap agreement, equity swap agreement, currency swap agreement, forward currency purchase agreement, interest rate
swap, cap, collar or floor agreement or other interest rate management device or any arrangement or agreement similar to any of the foregoing;
(g) capital lease obligations, (h) reimbursement obligations under any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transactions, (i) indebtedness
of others guaranteed by such Person and (j) any unpaid interest, prepayment
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penalties, premiums, costs and fees that would arise or become due as a result of the prepayment of any of the obligations referred to in the foregoing
clauses (a) through (i). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness shall not include any amount included in the calculation of the Closing Working
Capital.
“Indebtedness Payment” means payments with respect to outstanding Indebtedness required to be repaid by the transactions contemplated hereby.
“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06.
“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06.
“Independent Accountant” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(c)(iii).
“Insurance Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16.
“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property and assets, and all rights, interests and protections that are associated with or required for
the exercise of any of the foregoing, however arising, pursuant to the Laws of any jurisdiction throughout the world, whether registered or unregistered,
including any and all: (a) trademarks, service marks, trade names, brand names, logos, trade dress, design rights and other similar designations of
source, sponsorship, association or origin, together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications
and renewals for, any of the foregoing; (b) internet domain names, whether or not trademarks, registered in any top-level domain by any authorized
private registrar or Governmental Authority, web addresses, web pages, websites and related content, accounts with Twitter, Facebook and other social
media companies and the content found thereon and related thereto, and URLs; (c) works of authorship, creative expressions, designs, audible, visual
and/or sculptural works or designs, whether or not copyrightable, including copyrights, author, performer, moral and similar rights, and all registrations
or patents, applications for registration or patents and renewals of such works, creative expressions, audible, visual and/or sculptural works or designs;
(d) inventions (whether patentable or not), discoveries, trade secrets, business and technical information and know-how, databases, plans,
documentation, manuals, data collections and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights therein; (e) patents (including all reissues,
divisionals, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part, re-examinations, renewals, substitutions and extensions thereof), patent applications,
and other patent rights and any other Governmental Authority-issued indicia of invention ownership (including inventor’s certificates, petty patents and
patent utility models); and (f) software and firmware, including data files, source code, object code, application programming interfaces, architecture,
files, records, schematics, computerized databases and other related specifications and documentation.
“IP Registrations” means all Intellectual Property that is subject to any issuance, registration, application or other filing by, to or with any
Governmental Authority or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction, including registered trademarks, copyright registrations, industrial design
registrations, domain names, issued and reissued patents and pending applications for any of the foregoing.
“Laws” means (i) all constitutions, treaties, laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, principles of common law, notices, orders, decrees, rules, regulations
and municipal by-laws, whether domestic,
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foreign or international; (ii) all judgments, orders, writs, injunctions, decisions, rulings, decrees, sanctions and awards of any Governmental Authority;
and (iii) all policies, practices and guidelines of any Governmental Authority which, although not actually having the force of law, are considered by
such Governmental Authority as requiring compliance as if having the force of law or which establish the interpretative position of the Law by such
Governmental Authority, in each case binding on or affecting the Person referred to in the context in which such word is used.
“Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(c).
“Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
“Licensed Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that is owned by a third party and used by the Seller (and upon consummation of
the Reorganization, the Company) under licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements relating to Intellectual Property to which the Seller (and upon
consummation of the Reorganization, the Company) is a party, beneficiary or otherwise bound, including the [***] IP.
“Loss” and “Losses” means losses, damages, liabilities, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses of whatever kind, including reasonable
costs, fees and expenses of legal counsel (including extra-judicial fees and costs, which the parties agree are determinate, determinable and reasonable)
in connection with enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or could reasonably be expected to become, individually
or in the aggregate, materially adverse to (a) the business, results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Seller (and upon
consummation of the Reorganization, the Company) taken as a whole, as applicable, or (b) the ability of Seller (and upon consummation of the
Reorganization, the Company) to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis; provided, however, that “Material Adverse
Effect” shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, directly or indirectly, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or
political conditions; (ii) conditions generally affecting the industries in which the Seller (and upon consummation of the Reorganization, the Company)
operates; (iii) any changes in financial or securities markets in general; (iv) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, or the
escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required or permitted by this Agreement, except pursuant to Section 3.03; (vi) any changes in applicable
Laws or accounting rules, including CASPE; or (vii) the public announcement, pendency, consummation or completion of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement and (viii) any of the matters listed in the Disclosure Schedules; provided further, however, that any event, occurrence, fact, condition
or change referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) and (vi) immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect
has occurred or could reasonably be expected to occur to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact, condition or change has a material disproportionate
effect on Seller or the Company compared to other participants in the industries in which the Seller (or at Closing, the Company) conducts its
businesses.
“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.08(a).
“Material Customer(s)” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).
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“Material Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(b).
“Material Transfer Agreement” means a Contract in which certain materials are transferred to the Seller or the Company or by the Seller or the
Company to a third party.
“Medicaid” means the federal-state health program for the categorically and medically needy administered by the states pursuant to state plans
with CMS pursuant to titles XI and XIX of the Social Security Act.
“Medicare” means the federal health insurance program administered by CMS pursuant to titles II, XI and XVIII of the Social Security Act, and
includes Medicare Advantage as set forth in 42 C.F.R. pt. 422.
“Meridian ParentCo” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“OIG” means the office within the United States Department of Health and Human Services charged with, among other things, combating fraud,
waste and abuse in federal health care programs.
“Ordinary Course” means, when used in relation to the conduct of the Business, any action which is taken in the ordinary course of the normal
day-to-day operations of such the Seller or the Company, as applicable, in a commercially reasonable and businesslike manner.
“Outside Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.01(b)(ii).
“Owned Intellectual Property” means the Intellectual Property rights owned or co-owned by the Seller on the date hereof and by the Company on
the Closing Date.
“Payment Memorandum” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(viii).
“Pending Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.07(b).
“Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, certificates, consents, waivers, orders and similar rights obtained from
Governmental Authorities.
“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) encumbrances of mechanics, labourers, workmen, builders, contractors, suppliers of material or architects or
other similar encumbrances incidental to construction, maintenance or repair operations which have either been registered or filed pursuant to Laws
against the Seller (or at Closing, the Company) or not yet registered or filed and which, in any such case, relate to obligations not due and payable;
(b) statutory encumbrances relating to obligations not due and payable; (c) Encumbrances for Taxes, assessments, Governmental Authority charges or
levies not due and payable as at the date hereof; (d) Encumbrances for public utilities not due and payable as at the date hereof; (e) rights of equipment
lessors under equipment contracts provided the terms of such equipment contracts have been complied with up to and on the date hereof; (f) financing
statements evidencing the rights of equipment lessors under equipment contracts in and to the equipment and vehicles which are subject to such
contracts provided the terms of such equipment contracts have been complied with up to and on the date hereof; (g) any privilege in favour of any lessor,
licensor or permitter for rent
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to become due or for other obligations or acts, the performance of which is required under contracts so long as the payment of or the performance of
such other obligation or act is not delinquent and provided that such Encumbrances or privileges do not affect the use or value of the assets affected
thereby; and (h) the Encumbrances listed in Schedule 3.11.
“Person” means an individual, corporation, company, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority,
unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.
“Post-Closing Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(b)(ii).
“Post-Closing [***]” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(b).
[***]
“Promissory Note” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b)(ii).
“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
“Purchased Assets” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Transfer Agreement.
“Purchased Shares” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“R&W Indemnity Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(a).
“Real Property” means the real or immovable property and interests in real or immovable property leased, subleased, used or occupied, together
with all buildings, structures and facilities located thereon.
“[***] Earnout” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
“[***] Milestone Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(d).
“Release” means any release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping,
abandonment, disposing or allowing to escape or migrate into or through the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air (indoor or outdoor),
surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata or within any building, structure, facility or fixture).
“Reorganization” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Reorganization Closing Agenda” means the Closing Agenda attached as Exhibit B.
“Reorganization Documents” means the Seller’s Reorganization Documents and the Buyer’s Reorganization Documents, collectively.
“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel,
accountants and other agents of such Person.
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“Resolution Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(c)(ii).
“Restrictive Covenant Agreements” means those certain Restrictive Covenant Agreements in favor of Buyer and Meridian ParentCo and executed
by each Shareholder and in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
“Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(c)(i).
“[***] Assay” has the meaning set forth on Schedule 2.
“Sample Working Capital Statement” means the sample calculation of Closing Working Capital set forth on Exhibit D.
“Second [***] Milestone” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b).
“Second [***] Milestone Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b).
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933.
“Seller” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Seller’s Charter Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02(b).
“Seller’s Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04.
“Seller’s Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01.
“Seller’s Accountants” means Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton, or such other accounting firm that the Seller may appoint from time to time.
“Seller’s Fundamental Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01(a).
“Seller’s Knowledge” or “Known to Seller” or any other similar knowledge qualification with respect to the Seller, means the actual knowledge of
[***], after a reasonable internal investigation or inquiry.
“Seller’s Reorganization Documents” means any and all of the documents and filings of the Reorganization Closing Agenda prepared or made by
the Seller or under its responsibility.
“Seller’s Reorganization Portion” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(b).
“Seller’s Requested Consents” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(b).
“Seller’s Transaction Expenses Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(vii).
“Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Shareholders’ Representative” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
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“Specific Healthcare R&W Indemnity Cap” has the meaning in Section 7.05(c).
“Specific IP R&W Indemnity Cap” has the meaning in Section 7.05(b).
“Specified Products” means, collectively, (i) Revogene assays, instruments, (ii) Meridian ParentCo Illumigene C. difficile product, and (iii)
Meridian ParentCo Strep A and B assays.
“Specified Products Sales Representatives” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(b).
“Statement of Objections” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(c)(ii).
“Subsequent Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(a)(iv).
“Target Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(a)(i)(A).
“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations thereunder, as amended.
“Tax Return” means any return, form, declaration, report, election, designation, claim for refund, information return or statement or other
document relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.
“Taxes” means (i) any and all federal, provincial, state, municipal, local and foreign taxes, assessments, contributions and other governmental
charges, duties, impositions and liabilities including Canada Pension Plan and provincial pension plan contributions, provincial health plan
contributions, insurance contributions, unemployment insurance contributions, parental insurance premiums, worker’s compensation and deductions at
source, and including taxes based on or measured by gross receipts, income, profits, sales, capital, use, occupation, goods and services, value added, ad
valorem, transfer, franchise, withholding, customs duties, payroll, contributions, premiums, recapture, employment, excise and property taxes; (ii) all
interest, penalties, fines and additions to tax or other additional amounts imposed on or with respect to amounts of the type described in paragraph (i)
above; and (iii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in paragraph (i) or (ii) above as a result of any express or implied
obligation to indemnify any other Person or as a result of any obligations under any agreements or arrangements with any other Person with respect to
such amounts or as a result of being a transferee, and including any liability for Taxes of a predecessor entity.
“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06(a).
“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Promissory Note, the Restrictive Covenant Agreements, and any other agreements,
certificates, instruments or documents entered into or delivered by any party in connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions, any
exhibits, attachments or schedules to any of the foregoing and any other written agreement that is expressly identified as a “Transaction Document,” as
any of the foregoing is amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
“Transaction Expenses” means the documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses (including the legal fees, investment banking fees, and any other
deal-related expenses) incurred by Seller on or prior to the termination of this Agreement in connection with the Contemplated Transactions.
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“[***] IP” means the patent rights licensed to the Company as set forth in Section 3.12(a) which are not Owned Intellectual Property.
“[***] Amendment” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.02(h).
“Unaudited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.05.
“Union” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(b).
“US GAAP” means generally accepted accounting standards in the United States.
Article II
PURCHASE AND SALE
2.01 Purchase and Sale. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from
Seller, the Purchased Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, for the consideration specified in Section 2.02.
2.02 Purchase Price.
(a) The aggregate purchase price for the Purchased Shares (the “Purchase Price”) shall be (i) Fifty Million Dollars ($50,000,000), subject to the
adjustment set forth in Section 2.08 hereof (the “Base Cash Payment”) plus (ii) Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000) subject to the adjustment set forth
in Section 2.05 (the “[***] Earnout”, together with the Base Cash Payment, the “Base Purchase Price”), plus (iii) the Gross Sales Earnout which shall be
paid (if at all) pursuant to Section 2.06(a).
(b) The Base Purchase Price shall be payable as follows:
(i) by the payment of the Base Cash Payment, as adjusted pursuant to Section 2.08(a), less the Holdback Amount, at the Closing, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds, as set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i) and Section 2.04(a)(ii); and
(ii) by the issuance, to the Seller, at the Closing of a non-interest bearing term promissory note in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E in
the amount of the [***] Earnout (the “Promissory Note”).
2.03 Closing.
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares contemplated hereby shall take place at a
closing (the “Closing”) to be held at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time, no later than two (2) Business Days after the last of the conditions to Closing set forth in
Article VI have been satisfied or waived (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date), at the offices of Stikeman
Elliott LLP (Montreal), or at such other time and place as Seller and Buyer may mutually agree upon in writing (the “Closing Date”). Notwithstanding
the previous sentence, the Closing can take place virtually on the Closing Date by exchange of executed documents by facsimile, email, other electronic
means or courier and payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds, with original documents
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to be exchanged by the parties as quickly as possible thereafter. The Closing shall be effective as of the first moment, Eastern Time, on the Closing Date.
2.04 Closing Deliveries
(a) Prior to or at the Closing, Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, the following:
(i) to each Person designated on the Seller Transaction Expenses Schedule, to the account designated for such Person in the Payment
Memorandum, an amount in cash equal to the outstanding amount owed to such Person as of the Closing Date set forth opposite such Person’s name in
the Payment Memorandum;
(ii) to Seller, the balance of the Base Cash Payment to be Paid at Closing (as calculated pursuant to Section 2.08(a)) after payment of the
Transaction Expenses pursuant to Section 2.04(a)(i) and the retention of the Holdback Amount, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
account set forth in the Payment Memorandum;
(iii) the Promissory Note duly executed by the Buyer;
(iv) to Seller, the full amount of the [***] by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account set forth in the Payment
Memorandum;
(v) to Seller, a closing certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an executive officer of Buyer in the form attached as Exhibit
G, certifying that (A) the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Article IV are true and correct in all respects (in the case of any
representation or warranty qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty
not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) as of the Closing Date, and (B) each of the obligations and covenants of the Buyer under this
Agreement to be performed or complied with on or before the Closing Date have been performed or complied with in all material respects;
(vi) an officer’s certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an executive officer of each of the Buyer and Meridian ParentCo, in
the form attached as Exhibit F, certifying (A) the certificate of incorporation, as amended, for each of Buyer and Meridian ParentCo, (B) the bylaws (or
equivalent), for each of Buyer and Meridian ParentCo, (C) approval by the Board of Directors for each of Buyer and Meridian ParentCo of this
Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, and (D) the incumbency and genuineness of the signatures of each officer of Buyer and Meridian
ParentCo executing the Transaction Documents;
(vii) an officer’s certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an executive officer of Company, in the form attached as Exhibit H
certifying (A) the certificate of incorporation for the Company, (B) the articles for the Company, (C) approval by the Board of Directors of the Company
of the issuance of the Purchased Shares, and (D) the incumbency and genuineness of the signatures of each officer of Company executing Transaction
Documents and the Reorganization Documents to which it is a party;
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(viii) a recent certificate of status, compliance, good standing or similar certificate with respect to each of Buyer and Meridian ParentCo
issued by the appropriate government officials of its jurisdiction of incorporation;
(ix) the Buyer’s Reorganization Documents executed by the Buyer and Company;
(x) a copy of each Transaction Document to which Buyer or the Company is a party duly executed by Buyer or the Company, as the case
may be; and
(xi) all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by Buyer or the Company at or prior to the
Closing in order to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.
(b) Prior to or at the Closing, Seller shall deliver, or caused to be delivered, to Buyer the following:
(i) share certificates evidencing the Purchased Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by
share powers or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank;
(ii) the Seller’s Reorganization Documents executed by the Seller;
(iii) all material consents and assignments necessary in connection with the Reorganization and the Contemplated Transactions as set forth
on Schedule 2.04(b)(iii);
(iv) a closing certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an executive officer of Seller, in the form attached as Exhibit I
certifying that (A) the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article III are true and correct in all respects (in the case of any
representation or warranty qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty
not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) as of the Closing Date, and (B) each of the obligations and covenants of the Seller under this
Agreement to be performed or complied with on or before the Closing Date have been performed or complied with in all material respects;
(v) an officer’s certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an executive officer of each of Seller and Après-Demain Holdings
SA, in the form attached as Exhibit J, certifying (A) the certificate of incorporation, as amended, for Seller and an equivalent document for AprèsDemain Holding SA, (B) the bylaws, for Seller and an equivalent document for Après-Demain Holding SA, (C) approval by the Board of Directors of
Seller and an equivalent document for Après-Demain Holdings SA of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions (and approval of the
Shareholders of Seller of the Asset Transfer Agreement), and (D) the incumbency and genuineness of the signatures of each officer of Seller and AprèsDemain Holdings SA executing the Transaction Documents;
(vi) a recent certificate of status, compliance, good standing or similar certificate with respect to the Seller issued by the appropriate
government officials of its jurisdiction of incorporation and by the Registraire des entreprises (Quebec);
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(vii) a schedule prepared by Seller and signed by an executive officer of Seller (the “Seller’s Transaction Expenses Schedule”) that will
reflect the amount of the Transaction Expenses of Seller;
(viii) a statement, executed by Seller, setting forth the recipients of the payments to be made pursuant to Section 2.04(a)(i) together with
bank account information and instructions for such payments to be made by wire transfer at the Closing (the “Payment Memorandum”);
(ix) each Restrictive Covenant Agreement duly executed by each Shareholder;
(x) evidence of the change of Seller’s name to a name dissimilar to Genepoc; and
(xi) all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by Seller at or prior to the Closing in order to
consummate the Contemplated Transactions.
2.05 Promissory Note. The Promissory Note shall be due and payable by the Buyer, upon the achievement of certain [***] milestones as follows:
(a) An amount equal to Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) (the “First [***] Milestone Payment”) shall be due and payable by the Buyer under
the Promissory Note, following [***] the First [***] Milestone [***]. Buyer shall pay Seller this amount, if the First [***] Milestone is met, within
forty-five (45) days of such [***]; provided, however that in the event that the First [***] Milestone is not met, the capital amount of the Promissory
Note shall be deemed reduced by an amount equal to the First [***] Milestone Payment as of October 1st, 2020; and
(b) Another amount equal to Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) (the “Second [***] Milestone Payment”) shall be due and payable by the Buyer
or any of its Affiliates under the Promissory Note, following [***] the “Second [***] Milestone [***]. Buyer shall pay Seller this amount, if the Second
[***] Milestone is met, within forty-five (45) days of such [***]; provided, however, that in the event that the Second [***] Milestone is not met, the
Promissory Note shall be deemed cancelled and of no further effect as of April 1st, 2021.
(c) In the event that the First [***] Milestone or the Second [***] Milestone is only achieved within thirty (30) days or less following [***] (for
the First [***] Milestone) or following [***] (for the Second [***] Milestone), then the First [***] Milestone Payment or the Second [***] Milestone
Payment, as the case may be, shall be reduced by an amount equal to one percent (1%) thereof per day of delay, up to a maximum of thirty percent
(30%), provided that if such delay exceeds thirty (30) days then no payment shall be made to the Seller. Buyer shall pay any amount due and payable to
the Seller, within forty-five (45) days from the date of achievement of First [***] Milestone and Second [***] Milestone, as applicable.
(d) A non-binding plan for the achievement of the First [***] Milestone and Second [***] Milestone developed in good faith by Buyer and
Seller is attached hereto as Schedule 4 (the “[***] Milestone Plan”). Each of Buyer and Seller hereby warrants and represents that as of the date of this
Agreement it has no knowledge of any fact or circumstances that is reasonably likely to make the [***] Milestone Plan unachievable by Buyer
following the Closing. During the period
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beginning on the Closing Date and ending upon the full payment or cancellation of the Promissory Note, Buyer shall provide Seller with quarterly
reports detailing Buyer’s progress towards achievement of the First [***] Milestone and Second [***] Milestone in accordance with the [***] Milestone
Plan or any revised [***] Milestone Plan, as applicable. If Buyer’s report indicates a material departure from the [***] Milestone Plan, the report shall
also include a revised non-binding [***] Milestone Plan developed by Buyer in good faith and describing Buyer’s good faith plan for achieving the First
[***] Milestone and Second [***] Milestone despite the material departure from the original [***] Milestone Plan. For the avoidance of doubt and
without limiting the other obligations of Buyer and its Affiliates under this Agreement, Buyer’s failure or inability to comply with the [***] Milestone
Plan attached hereto or as revised shall not be deemed a breach of Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement.
2.06 Gross Sales Earnout. In addition to the Base Cash Payment payable as stated above, Seller shall have the right to receive an additional cash
payment, which shall be earned and paid in accordance with this Section 2.06.
(a) Gross Sales Earnout. Buyer shall pay Seller up to Fifty Million Dollars ($50,000,000) (the “Gross Sales Earnout”) based on the achievement
of certain milestones related to the Gross Sales of the Specified Products by Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including, without limitation, the Company)
during the Earnout Period as follows:
(i) if such Gross Sales are less than [***] Dollars ($[***]), no Gross Sales Earnout shall be paid hereunder;
(ii) if such Gross Sales are equal to or greater than [***] Dollars ($[***]), but less than [***] Dollars ($[***]), the Gross Sales Earnout
payable hereunder shall be determined on a proportionate sliding scale between [***] Dollars ($[***]) and [***] Dollars ($[***]) calculated in a manner
consistent with Schedule 2.06(a)(ii) attached hereto;
(iii) if such Gross Sales are equal to or greater than [***] Dollars ($[***]) but less than [***] Dollars ($[***]), the Gross Sales Earnout
payable hereunder shall be equal to (x) [***] Dollars ($[***]) plus (y) if the Gross Margin Target has been met, an amount determined on a
proportionate sliding scale between [***] Dollars ($[***]) and [***] Dollars ($[***]) and calculated in a manner consistent with Schedule 2.06(a)(iii)
attached hereto; or
(iv) if such Gross Sales are equal to or greater than [***] Dollars ($[***]), the Gross Sales Earnout payable hereunder shall be equal to (x)
[***] Dollars ($[***]) plus (y) if the Gross Margin Target has been met, [***] Dollars ($[***]) .
For the avoidance of doubt, the Gross Sales Earnout shall be paid, if at all, under one of Section 2.06(a)(ii), (iii), or (iv).
(b) During the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the last day of the Earnout Period, Buyer shall provide Seller with quarterly
reports detailing [***] during the applicable quarter, along with [***]. Buyer will engage Buyer’s Accountants pursuant to agreed upon procedures to
confirm the accuracy of such quarterly report within a reasonable period of time following the end of each quarter. Additionally, Meridian ParentCo will
provide written notice to Seller in the event that [***].
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(c) Payment of Gross Sales Earnout.
(i) Buyer shall provide the Seller, within sixty (60) days after the end of the Earnout Period, (A) a written report indicating, on a
product-by-product basis, the calculation of Gross Sales of the Specified Products by Buyer and its Affiliates and the calculation of Gross Margin Target
(if applicable) during the Earnout Period, and (B) Buyer’s calculation of the Gross Sales Earnout, if any, (the “Earnout Statement”), together with and a
certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of the Buyer certifying (without personal liability) that the Earnout Statement was prepared in accordance with
US GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and
valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of Meridian ParentCo’s financial statements for the most recent fiscal year
end. Buyer will engage Buyer’s Accountants pursuant to agreed upon procedures to confirm the accuracy of the Earnout Statement within sixty
(60) days after the end of the Earnout Period.
(ii) All such amounts shall be expressed in U.S. dollars, and such reports shall include the rates of exchange used in accordance with
US GAAP to convert to U.S. dollars from the currency in which such sales were made or payments received.
(iii) On or before the tenth (10th) Business Day following the date on which the Seller accepts Buyer’s calculation of the Gross Sales
Earnout and Gross Margin Target (if applicable) (either by delivering written notice of acceptance to Buyer or by deemed acceptance under
Section 2.06(c)(iv) below) or the date the Gross Sales Earnout and Gross Margin Target (if applicable) is finally determined under Section 2.06(c)(iv)
below, Buyer shall pay Seller the Gross Sales Earnout by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Seller.
(iv) Buyer shall and shall cause its Affiliates to keep complete, true and accurate books of account and records supporting its calculation
of any Gross Sales Earnout earned hereunder, including, without limitation, on a product-by-product basis, Buyer’s calculation of Gross Sales for the
Specified Products during the Earnout Period and Gross Margin Target (if applicable). Buyer shall and shall cause its Affiliates to provide Seller and or
any of its Affiliates and designated Representatives with reasonable access during normal business hours to the books, records (including work papers,
schedules, memoranda and other documents), supporting data and employees of Buyer to the extent reasonably requested to verify the calculation of any
Gross Sales Earnout and Gross Margin Target (if applicable). If Seller has any objections to the Earnout Statement, the Seller shall deliver to Buyer a
statement setting forth, in reasonable detail, its objections thereto (each, an “Earnout Objection Statement”). If an Earnout Objection Statement is not
delivered to Buyer within forty-five (45) Business Days after delivery of the Earnout Statement, the Earnout Statement as prepared by Buyer shall be
deemed irrevocably accepted by the Seller and be final, binding and non-appealable by the parties. The Seller and Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to
resolve the objections raised in any Earnout Objection Statement, but if they do not reach a final resolution within thirty (30) days after the delivery of
an Earnout Objection Statement to Buyer, any unresolved disputes shall be submitted to the office of an impartial nationally recognized firm of
independent certified public accountants (other than Seller’s Accountants and Buyer’s Accountants or any other firm that provides services to the Buyer
or the Seller or any of their Affiliates) mutually selected by Buyer and the Seller, or failing an agreement, by the court (the “Earnout Accounting Firm”)
who, acting as experts and not
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arbitrators, shall resolve the disputed amounts only and make any adjustments to the Earnout Statement, as the case may be. In the event any such
dispute is submitted to the Earnout Accounting Firm, each party shall be permitted to submit a statement setting forth its calculation of the applicable
Gross Sales Earnout, together with such supporting documentation as it deems appropriate, to the Earnout Accounting Firm. The Seller and Buyer shall
use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Earnout Accounting Firm to resolve such dispute as soon as practicable, but in any
event within thirty (30) days after the date on which the Earnout Accounting Firm receives the applicable statements prepared by the Seller and Buyer.
The calculation of any Gross Sales Earnout and Gross Margin Target (if applicable) as finally determined by the Earnout Accounting Firm (which such
determination shall be made in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement and shall not, for any Gross Sales Earnout, be less than the amount
set forth in the applicable Earnout Statement nor exceed the amount set forth in the applicable Earnout Objection Statement) shall be final, binding and
non-appealable among the parties. The parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to materiality. Each party shall bear its own
costs and expenses in connection with the resolution of such dispute by the Earnout Accounting Firm. All costs and expenses of the Earnout Accounting
Firm, if any, shall be paid by the parties proportionately based on the difference of each party’s calculation of the applicable Gross Sales Earnout as
compared to the final determination of the Earnout Accounting Firm. For example, if Buyer proposes a Gross Sales Earnout of $100, the Seller proposes
a Gross Sales Earnout of $200, and the final determination of the Earnout Accounting Firm is $160, then sixty percent (60%) of the costs of the Earnout
Accounting Firm’s review would be borne by Buyer and forty percent (40%) of such costs would be borne by Seller.
2.07 Additional Earnout Terms.
(a) All payments required pursuant to Section 2.06 shall be deemed to be adjustments for Tax purposes to the aggregate Purchase Price paid by
Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, unless otherwise required by applicable Law.
(b) In order to maximize the possibility for the achievement and full payment of the Gross Sales Earnout in accordance with Section 2.06 above,
from the Closing Date until the date that is sixty (60) days following the end of the Earnout Period, the Buyer undertakes and covenants in favor of the
Seller and acknowledges that the Seller is relying upon such undertakings and covenants to complete the transactions:
(i) to, and cause its Affiliates (including, without limitation, the Company) to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell the Specified
Products with regard to the achievement of the Gross Sales Earnout and Gross Margin Target (if applicable); provided, however, the obligation of Buyer
to use, or cause its Affiliates to use, such Commercially Reasonable Efforts shall not be deemed a guarantee or assurance of any kind that any Gross
Sales Earnout will be earned or paid;
(ii) to use commercially reasonable efforts to secure all financings necessary for the operation of Meridian ParentCo;
(iii) not to change any accounting principle, method, practice or policy relating to the calculation of Gross Sales or Gross Margin Target
unless (A) such change is recommended
-22-

by Buyer’s accountants as a result of a change in US GAAP, and (B) Meridian ParentCo gives written notice of such change to Seller, which notice shall
provide a reasonably detailed description of the change;
(iv) not to and to cause Meridian ParentCo not to initiate any voluntary proceedings under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws and
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; and
(v) not to proceed with the sale, assignment, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company as of the date hereof
to a third party not affiliated with the Buyer or its Affiliates without Seller’s consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed (it being acknowledged that the Company and Buyer intend to amalgamate on or shortly after Closing), and provided the acquiring third party
undertakes to be bound by the terms of this Agreement related to Gross Sales Earnout, including the payment of the Gross Sales Earnout; for greater
certainty any Affiliates of the Company who intends to dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company as of the date hereof will be bound
by the same obligation as set forth in this paragraph;
provided that, in the event that any transaction or restriction set forth in this Section 2.07(b) occurs, the Buyer shall pay to the Seller the full amount of
the Gross Sales Earnout within ten (10) Business Days following any such occurrence.
(c) In order to maximize the possibility for the achievement and full payment of the [***] Earnout, in accordance with Section 2.05 above, from
the Closing Date until the satisfaction or cancellation of the Promissory Note the Buyer undertakes and covenants in favor of the Seller and
acknowledges that the Seller is relying upon such undertakings and covenants to complete the transactions:
(i) to, and cause its Affiliates (including, without limitation, the Company) to operate its business in Commercially Reasonable Efforts
with respect to achievement of the [***] Earnout; provided, however, the obligation of Buyer to use or cause its Affiliates to use Commercially
Reasonable Efforts shall not be deemed a guarantee or assurance of kind that the [***] Earnout will be earned or paid;
(ii) not to change the specifications of the [***] Assay and the [***] Assay in accordance with Schedule 2, respectively, unless such
change is required to secure the approval of any Governmental Authority and approved by Seller;
(iii) to use commercially reasonable efforts to secure all financings necessary for the operation of Meridian ParentCo;
(iv) not to and to cause Meridian ParentCo not to initiate any voluntary proceedings under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws and
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; and
(v) not to proceed with the sale, assignment, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company as of the date hereof
to a third party not affiliated with the Buyer or its Affiliates without Seller’s consent, which consent will not be unreasonably
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withheld, conditioned or delayed (it being acknowledged that the Company and Buyer intend to amalgamate on or shortly after Closing), and provided
the acquiring third party undertakes to be bound by the terms of this Agreement related to the [***] Milestones, including to the payment of the [***]
Milestones, in a form acceptable to the Buyer acting reasonably; for greater certainty any Affiliates of the Company who intends to dispose of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company as of the date hereof will be bound by the same obligation as set forth in this paragraph;
provided that, in the event that any transaction or restriction set forth in this Section 2.07(c) occurs, the Buyer shall pay to the Seller the full amount of
the [***] Earnout within ten (10) Business Days following any such occurrence.
2.08 Purchase Price Adjustment.
(a) Closing Adjustment.
(i) At the Closing, the Base Purchase Price shall be adjusted in the following manner:
(A) either (1) an increase by the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Working Capital (as determined in accordance with
Section 2.08(a)(ii)) is greater than [***] (the “Target Working Capital”), or (2) a decrease by the amount, if any, by which the Estimated
Closing Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital;
(B) a decrease by the amount of Estimated Indebtedness.
The net amount after giving effect to the adjustments listed above shall be the actual “Base Cash Payment to be paid at Closing”.
(ii) At least three (3) Business Days before the Closing, Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a statement setting forth its good faith
estimate of Closing Indebtedness assumed by the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement (the “Estimated Indebtedness”) and Closing Working
Capital transferred to the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement (the “Estimated Closing Working Capital”), and a certificate of the Chief
Financial Officer of the Seller (without personal liability) that the calculation of Estimated Indebtedness and the Estimated Closing Working Capital
Statement were prepared in accordance with CASPE applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with
consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements
for the most recent fiscal year end.
(b) Post-Closing Adjustment.
(i) Within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller a statement setting forth its calculation of
Closing Indebtedness and Closing Working Capital, which statement shall contain a balance sheet of the Company as of the Closing Date (after giving
effect to the Reorganization), its calculation of Closing Working Capital and Closing Indebtedness which shall be prepared in accordance with CASPE
applied consistent with the practices that were used in the preparation of the Sample Working Capital Statement, and its
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calculation of the adjusted Purchase Price, after taking into consideration the foregoing Closing Working Capital and Closing Indebtedness (collectively,
the “Closing Working Capital Statement”), and a certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of the Buyer that the Closing Working Capital Statement was
prepared in accordance with CASPE applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent
classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the
most recent fiscal year end.
(ii) The Purchase Price shall be (A) increased by the amount (if any) by which the Closing Working Capital is greater than the Estimated
Closing Working Capital or decreased by the amount (if any) by which the Closing Working Capital is less than the Estimated Closing Working Capital
and (B) increased by the amount (if any) by which the Closing Indebtedness is less than the Estimated Indebtedness and decreased by the amount (if
any) by which Closing Indebtedness is more than the Estimated Indebtedness (the “Post-Closing Adjustment”).
(c) Examination and Review.
(i) Examination. After receipt of the Closing Working Capital Statement, Seller shall have thirty (30) Business Days (the “Review
Period”) to review the Closing Working Capital Statement. During the Review Period, Seller and Seller’s Accountants shall have access to the books
and records of the Company, the personnel of, and work papers prepared by, Buyer and/or Buyer’s Accountants relating to the Closing Working Capital
Statement as Seller may reasonably request for the purpose of reviewing the Closing Working Capital Statement and to prepare a Statement of
Objections (defined below).
(ii) Objection. On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, Seller may object to the Closing Working Capital Statement by delivering
to Buyer a written statement setting forth Seller’s objections in reasonable detail, indicating each disputed item or amount and the basis for Seller’s
disagreement therewith (the “Statement of Objections”). If Seller fails to deliver the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period,
the Closing Working Capital Statement and the Post-Closing Adjustment reflected in the Closing Working Capital Statement, as the case may be, shall
be deemed to have been accepted by Seller. If Seller delivers the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, Buyer and Seller
shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections within thirty (30) days after the delivery of the Statement of Objections (the “Resolution
Period”), and, if such objections are so resolved within the Resolution Period, the Closing Working Capital Statement and the Post-Closing Adjustment,
as the case may be, with such changes as may have been previously agreed in writing by Buyer and Seller, shall be final and binding.
(iii) Resolution of Disputes. If Seller and Buyer fail to reach an agreement with respect to all of the matters set forth in the Statement of
Objections before expiration of the Resolution Period, then any amounts remaining in dispute (the “Disputed Amounts”) shall be submitted for
resolution to the office of an impartial nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants (other than Seller’s Accountants, Buyer’s
Accountants or any other accounting firm that regularly provides services to the Buyer or the Seller or any of their Affiliates) appointed by mutual
agreement of Buyer and Seller, or failing an agreement, appointed by the court (the “Independent Accountant”) who, acting as experts and not
arbitrators, shall resolve the
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Disputed Amounts only and make any adjustments to the Closing Working Capital Statement and the Post-Closing Adjustment, as the case may be. The
parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to materiality. The Independent Accountant shall only decide the specific items
under dispute by the parties and their decision for each Disputed Amount must be within the range of values assigned to each such item in the Closing
Working Capital Statement and the Statement of Objections, respectively. The Buyer and the Seller shall cooperate fully in the preparation of the
Closing Working Capital Statement and the Post-Closing Adjustment. While the Independent Accountant is making its determination hereunder, the
Buyer and the Seller shall not communicate with the Independent Accountant on the subject matter of its review, except by joint conference call, joint
meeting or letter with copy simultaneously delivered to the other party.
(iv) Fees of the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be split based on the difference of
each party’s calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment. For example, if Buyer proposes a Post-Closing Adjustment of $100, the Seller proposes a PostClosing Adjustment of $200, and the final determination of the Independent Accountant is $160, then sixty percent (60%) of the costs of the
Independent Accountant’s review would be borne by Buyer and forty percent (40%) of such costs would be borne by Seller.
(v) Determination by Independent Accountant. The Buyer and the Seller shall deploy their respective commercially reasonable efforts
to cause the Independent Accountant to make a determination as soon as practicable, but in any event within thirty (30) days (or such other time as the
parties hereto shall agree in writing) after their engagement, and their resolution of the Disputed Amounts and their adjustments to the Closing Working
Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto.
(d) Payments of Post-Closing Adjustment.
(i) Except as otherwise provided herein, any payment of the Post-Closing Adjustment shall be due (A) within five (5) Business Days of
acceptance of the applicable Closing Working Capital Statement or (B) if there are Disputed Amounts, then within five (5) Business Days of the
resolution described in Section 2.08(c)(v), in each case as described below.
(ii) If the Final Base Purchase Price is greater than the Base Cash Payment to be Paid at Closing, then the amount of such surplus shall be
paid by Buyer to Seller by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts designated in writing by Seller at or prior to the date of such
payment.
(iii) If the Final Base Purchase Price is less than Base Cash Payment to be Paid at Closing, then the amount of such deficiency shall reduce
the Holdback Amount and shall be deemed retained by Buyer.
(e) Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any surplus or deficiency determined pursuant to this Section 2.08 shall be deemed to be an adjustment for
Tax purposes of the aggregate Final Base Purchase Price paid by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.
2.09 Wire Transfer Instructions and Applicable Rate
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Any amounts payable by Buyer to Seller by wire transfer pursuant to this Article II shall be paid by wire transfer or delivery of other immediately
available funds to such accounts specified in the Payment Memorandum or to such accounts as otherwise specified in writing by Seller at least three
(3) Business Days prior to the applicable payment date. All amounts payable by Buyer to Seller pursuant to this Article II, including under the
Promissory Note, shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate, calculated daily both before and after judgement, from the date on
which the amount is due to the date of payment by the Buyer to the Seller (it being acknowledged and agreed by the parties that the [***] Earnout and
Gross Sales Earnout are not deemed to be due until they have been earned and become payable pursuant to Sections 2.05 and 2.06 above).
Article III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER
Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Disclosure Schedules, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that the statements contained
in this Article III are true and correct as of the date hereof and as of Closing, and acknowledges and agrees that Buyer is relying upon such
representations and warranties in connection with the purchase by Buyer of the Purchased Shares notwithstanding any investigation by or on behalf of
Buyer. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, the parties hereby acknowledge and confirm that all representations and warranties contained in this
Article III with respect to or pertaining to the Company, shall be deemed made or given by the Seller after giving effect to the Reorganization and as of
the Closing Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 3.11(c), 3.12, 3.13, 3.14, 3.15,
3.18, 3.19, 3.20, 3.21, 3.22 and 3.26 regarding the Seller or the Business as conducted by Seller prior to the Reorganization which, by their nature,
would apply to the Company following Reorganization shall be deemed to also apply to the Company and the Business following the Reorganization as
of the Closing Date.
The specification of any dollar amount in the representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in any
Schedule hereto is not intended to imply that such amounts, or higher or lower amounts, or the items so included or other items, are or are not material,
and no party hereto shall use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy between the parties
as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for the purposes of this Agreement. No
disclosure relating to any possible breach or violation of any contracts or laws shall be construed as an admission or indication that such breach or
violation exists or has actually occurred.
3.01 Organization and Qualification.
(a) Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of Canada and has full corporate power and
authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it and to carry on its business as it has been and is
currently conducted. Schedule 3.01 sets forth each jurisdiction in which the Seller is registered to do business, and the Seller is duly licensed or qualified
to do business and is in good standing in each such jurisdiction.
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(b) The sole shareholders of the Seller are listed in Schedule 3.01.
3.02 Authority; Board Approval.
(a) Seller has full corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents
to which it is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this
Agreement and any Transaction Document to which it is a party and the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby
have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Seller and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Seller are necessary to
authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or to consummate the Reorganization and the other transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each
other party hereto) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms,
subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.
(b) Seller has made available to Buyer true, correct and complete copies of Seller’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws and other organizational
documents as currently in effect. Seller’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws and other organizational documents are in full force and effect (the
“Seller’s Charter Documents”).
3.03 Capitalization. As of Closing, the Purchased Shares shall be owned beneficially by Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances. Upon
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, Buyer shall own all of the Purchased Shares, free and clear of any Encumbrances.
3.04 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement, the Reorganization Documents, and the
Transaction Documents to which it is a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the Reorganization,
do not: (i) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the Seller Charter Documents; (ii) conflict with or result in
a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to Seller; (iii) except as set forth in Schedule 3.04, require the
consent, notice or other action by any Person under, conflict with, result in a violation or breach of, constitute a default or an event that, with or without
notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate,
modify or cancel any Material Contract to which Seller is a party or by which the Seller is bound or to which any of its properties and assets are or will
be subject or any Permit that as of Closing will affect the properties, assets or business of the Seller; or (iv) result in the creation or imposition of any
Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances on any properties or assets of Seller or as of Closing the Company. No consent, approval, Permit,
Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority will be required by or with respect to the Seller in connection
with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, except as set forth in Schedule 3.04.
3.05 Financial Statements. Complete copies of Seller’s audited financial statements (including all notes and schedules thereto and all supplemental
information) consisting of the balance sheet
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of the Seller as at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 and the related statements of income and retained earnings,
shareholders’ equity and cash flow for the year then ended (the “Audited Financial Statements”), and unaudited financial statements consisting of the
balance sheet of the Seller as at March 31, 2019 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flow for the
two-month period then ended (the “Unaudited Financial Statements” and together with the Audited Financial Statements, the “Financial Statements”)
have been delivered to Buyer. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with CASPE applied on a consistent basis throughout the
period involved, subject, in the case of the Unaudited Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which will not
be materially adverse) and the absence of notes (that, if presented, would not differ materially from those presented in the Audited Financial
Statements). The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of Seller, and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of
Seller as of the respective dates they were prepared and the results of the operations of Seller for the periods indicated. The balance sheet of Seller as of
March 31, 2019 is referred to herein as the “Balance Sheet” and the date thereof as the “Balance Sheet Date”. Seller maintains a standard system of
accounting established and administered in accordance with CASPE.
3.06 Undisclosed Liabilities. Seller, or as of the Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge, Company, has no liability of the nature required to be
disclosed in a balance sheet in accordance CASPE except (a) those of Seller which are adequately reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as
of the Balance Sheet Date and which will be specifically assumed by the Company pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreement, (b) those which have been
incurred in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date and which will be specifically assumed by the Company
pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreement, and (c) those which are described in the notes to the Financial Statements.
3.07 Absence of Certain Changes, Events and Conditions. Since the Balance Sheet Date, (1) except as set forth on Schedule 3.07, (2) other than in
the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice, and (3) other than the Reorganization, there has not been, with respect to Seller or to Seller’s
Knowledge the Company (following the Reorganization), any:
(a) event, occurrence or development that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse
Effect;
(b) amendment of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, or other organizational documents;
(c) split, combination or reclassification of any shares of its share capital or other equity interests, as applicable;
(d) issuance, sale or other disposition of any of its share capital or other equity interests, as applicable, or grant of any options, warrants or other
rights to purchase or obtain (including upon conversion, exchange or exercise) any of its share capital or other equity interests, as applicable;
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(e) declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any of its share capital or other equity interests, as applicable or
redemption, purchase or acquisition of its share capital or other equity interests, as applicable;
(f) change in any method of accounting or accounting practice, except as required by CASPE or as disclosed in the notes to the Financial
Statements;
(g) change in cash management practices and its policies, practices and procedures with respect to collection of accounts receivable,
establishment of reserves for uncollectible accounts, accrual of accounts receivable, inventory control, prepayment of expenses, payment of trade
accounts payable, accrual of other expenses, deferral of revenue and acceptance of customer deposits;
(h) entry into any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract;
(i) acceleration, termination, material modification to or cancellation of any Material Contract to which it is a party or by which it is bound;
(j) incurrence, assumption or guarantee of any indebtedness for borrowed money except unsecured current obligations and Liabilities incurred in
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
(k) any writing up or writing down of any of the assets or re-evaluation of inventory of;
(l) transfer, assignment, sale or other disposition of any of the assets shown or reflected in the Balance Sheet or cancellation of any debts or
entitlements;
(m) transfer, assignment or grant of any license or sublicense of any material rights under or with respect to any Company Intellectual Property
or Company IP Agreements;
(n) material damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to its property;
(o) increase in the compensation of its employees, other than as provided for in any written agreements or in the ordinary course of business;
(p) any capital investment in, or any loan to, any other Person;
(q) adoption, material modification or termination of any Benefit Plan;
(r) any loan to (or forgiveness of any loan to), or entry into any other transaction with, any of its shareholders or current or former directors,
officers and employees;
(s) entry into a new line of business or abandonment or discontinuance of existing lines of business;
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(t) adoption of any plan of merger, arrangement, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy
under any provisions of federal, provincial or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law;
(u) grant of any bonuses, whether monetary or otherwise, or increase in any wages, salary, severance, pension or other compensation or benefits
in respect of its current or former employees, officers, directors, independent contractors or consultants, other than as provided for in any written
agreements or in the Ordinary Course or required by applicable Law, (ii) material change in the terms of employment for any employee or any
termination of any officers or Key employees, or (iii) action to accelerate the vesting or payment of any compensation or benefit for any current or
former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant, except as required by written agreement or in the Ordinary Course or required
by applicable Law;
(v) hiring or promoting any person as or to (as the case may be) an officer or hiring or promoting any employee below officer except to fill a
vacancy in the ordinary course of business;
(w) other than in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practices or as may be required by applicable Law, adoption, modification or
termination of any: (i) employment, severance, retention or other agreement with any current or former employee, officer, director, independent
contractor or consultant, (ii) Benefit Plan or (iii) collective bargaining or other agreement with a Union, in each case whether written or oral;
(x) purchase, lease or other acquisition of the right to own, use or lease any property or assets for an amount in excess of $25,000, individually
(in the case of a lease, per annum) or $75,000 in the aggregate (in the case of a lease, for the entire term of the lease, not including any option term),
except for purchases of inventory or supplies in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice;
(y) imposition of any Encumbrance, other than a Permitted Encumbrance, upon any of its properties, shares or assets, tangible or intangible;
(z) acquisition by merger, amalgamation or consolidation with, or by purchase of a substantial portion of the assets or shares of, or by any other
manner, any business or any Person or any division thereof; or
(aa) any agreement to do any of the foregoing, or any action or omission that would result in any of the foregoing.
3.08 Material Contracts.
(a) Schedule 3.08(a) lists each of the following Contracts of the Seller and, as of Closing, the Company (such Contracts, together with all
Contracts concerning the occupancy, management or operation of any Real Property listed or otherwise disclosed in Schedule 3.11(c)) and all
Intellectual Property related Contracts set forth in Schedule 3.12(c), being “Material Contracts”, provided that for the purposes hereof and of the
certificate in Section 2.04(b)(iv), the term Material Contracts shall include only those Material Contracts that would have been effectively transferred to
the Company of the Closing Date):
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(i) each Contract involving aggregate consideration in excess of $100,000 and which, in each case, cannot be cancelled by the Company
or Seller, as applicable, without penalty or without more than sixty (60) days’ notice;
(ii) all Clinical Trial Agreements;
(iii) all Material Transfer Agreements;
(iv) all research and development agreements;
(v) all Company IP Agreements;
(vi) all Contracts that require the Company or Seller to purchase its total requirements of any product or service from a third party or that
contain “take or pay” provisions;
(vii) all Contracts that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of stock or assets of any other Person
(whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);
(viii) all broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer’s representative, franchise, agency, sales promotion, market research, marketing
consulting and advertising Contracts to which the Company or Seller is a party;
(ix) all employment agreements for the employees in Canada of the Seller or as of the Closing Date of the Company and Contracts with
independent contractors or consultants (or similar arrangements) to which the Seller is a party and to which the Company will be a party as of the
Closing Date and which provide for a length of notice or termination or severance payment required to terminate employment or services, other than
such as results by Law from the employment of an employee without an agreement as to notice, termination or severance;
(x) all Contracts with any Governmental Authority to which the Company or Seller is a party, including without limitation any loan or
funding Contract (“Contracts with Governmental Authorities”);
(xi) any Contracts to which the Company or Seller is a party that provide for any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement by the
Company or Seller;
(xii) all collective bargaining agreements or Contracts with any Union to which the Company or Seller is a party;
(xiii) each Contract with a Material Customer or a Material Supplier;
(xiv) each Contract under which Seller or Company has directly or indirectly made any advance, loan, mortgage, note, bond, extension of
credit or capital contribution to, or other investment in, or guaranteed the obligations of, any Person (other than extensions of credit to customers in the
ordinary course of business);
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(xv) except for Contracts relating to trade receivables, all Contracts relating to Indebtedness (including, without limitation, guarantees) of
Seller or Company;
(xvi) each Contract pledging or otherwise placing an Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) on any assets or properties of
Seller or Company;
(xvii) all Contracts between or among Seller and/or Company on the one hand and any Affiliate of Seller and/or Company on the other
hand, except for any Contracts with Après-Demain Holding SA and its Affiliates which will be terminated prior to Closing;
(xviii) any Contract limiting the freedom of the Seller or the Company to engage in any line of business, compete with any other Person or
solicit employees or clients.
(b) Each Material Contract is valid and binding on the Seller and, as of Closing, the Company, in accordance with its terms and is in full force
and effect, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. None of Seller (and, as of Closing, the
Company) or, to Seller’s Knowledge, any other party thereto is in breach of or default under (or, to Seller’s Knowledge, is alleged to be in breach of or
default under) in any material respect, or has provided or received any written notice of any intention to terminate, any Material Contract. No event or
circumstance has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would reasonably constitute a material event of default under any Material Contract
or result in a termination thereof or would cause or permit the acceleration or other changes of any material right or obligation or the loss of any material
benefit thereunder. Complete and correct copies of each Material Contract (including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and
waivers thereunder) have been made available to Buyer.
3.09 Contracts with Governmental Authorities.
(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.09, neither Seller nor to Seller’s Knowledge the Company (a) is a party to any Government Contract
currently in effect, (b) has been a party to any Government Contract which was in effect at any time during the three (3) years prior to the date hereof
except Contracts with Governmental Authorities set forth on Schedule 3.08(a)(x) or (c) has submitted or participated in any Government Bid since
January 1, 2017.
(b) Neither the Seller nor to Seller’s Knowledge the Company has been, and to Seller’s Knowledge, there are no grounds upon which either of
them may be refused the award or the renewal of any Contracts with Governmental Authorities.
3.10 Condition; Sufficiency of Assets. The assets of the Seller and, as of Closing, the assets of the Seller transferred to the Company under the Asset
Transfer Agreement, are in good operating condition subject to normal wear and tear, are operating in compliance with all Permits and Laws, in all
material respects, and are adequate to operate the Business immediately following the Closing in substantially the same manner as currently carried on.
3.11 Title to Assets; Real Property.
(a) Neither Seller nor to the Knowledge of the Seller, the Company has ever owned any Real Property.
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(b) Seller has good and valid title to, or a valid leasehold or license interest in, all Real Property leased by the Seller and all of the tangible
personal and movable property, assets and equipment (collectively, “Equipment”) and other assets reflected on the Balance Sheet or acquired after the
Balance Sheet Date, other than properties and assets sold or otherwise disposed of in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice since the Balance
Sheet Date or excluded assets under the Reorganization Documents. All such properties and assets (including leasehold interests) are free and clear of
Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances, and to the extent transferred to the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement, Company will
have good and valid title to, or a valid leasehold or license interest in such properties and assets.
(c) Schedule 3.11(c) lists the street address of each parcel of Real Property leased by the Seller (or as of Closing, the Company). Seller has
delivered or made available to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of leases, subleases and other agreements in nature of a lease or right of
occupancy of real property to which the Seller (or as of Closing, the Company) is a party (the “Leases”). All the Leases are in full force and effect.
Seller and, to Seller’s Knowledge, the other parties to any such Lease are not in material default thereunder and there are no matters that, with the notice
or passage of time, would be material defaults thereunder. All rental and other amounts due and payable by the Seller (or as of Closing, to Seller’s
Knowledge, the Company) under any Lease have been paid in full.
3.12 Intellectual Property.
(a) Schedule 3.12(a) lists all (i) Company IP Registrations and (ii) software, trademarks, and trade secrets, that are not registered but that are part
of the Company Intellectual Property and that are material to the Business as currently conducted (excluding commercially available off the shelf
software licensed to Seller on a non-exclusive basis). All required filings and fees related to the Company IP Registrations have been timely filed with
and paid to the relevant Governmental Authorities and authorized registrars, and all Company IP Registrations are otherwise in good standing, and are
subsisting and enforceable, and the Company IP Registrations (excluding the [***] IP) were validly applied for, and the Company IP Registrations
(excluding the [***] IP) which have been issued are valid in Canada, the United States and Europe, and to the Seller’s Knowledge the Company IP
Registrations (excluding the [***] IP) which have been issued are valid in the rest of the world.
(b) Seller, and as of Closing upon transfer of the same to the Company under the Asset Transfer Agreement, the Company, owns or otherwise
has the right to use, pursuant to a valid license, all Intellectual Property used in the Business in Canada, the United States and Europe, free and clear of
Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances, as such Business is conducted on or before the Closing Date. To Seller’s Knowledge, Seller, and as
of Closing, the Company, owns or otherwise has the right to use, pursuant to a valid license, all Intellectual Property used in the Business in the rest of
the world, as such Business is conducted on or before the Closing Date, free and clear of Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. Seller is
the sole and exclusive owner (or as disclosed in Schedule 3.12(b), a co-owner) of all right, title and interest in and to the Owned Intellectual Property
free and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, including as the owner of record (or as disclosed in Schedule 3.12(b), a
co-owner of record) in relation to all Company IP Registrations (except for the [***] IP), and the Seller, and as of the Closing Date the Company, has
the right to use the Licensed Intellectual Property for the
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conduct of the Business as such Business is conducted on or before the Closing Date, pursuant to the relevant Contracts, which Contracts will remain
valid and in full force and effect on and immediately after the time of Closing free and clear of Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.
(c) Schedule 3.12(c) lists all Company IP Agreements and Contracts relating to Licensed Intellectual Property, other than licenses for
commercially available off the shelf software licensed to the Seller on a non-exclusive basis, and Seller has provided Buyer with true and complete
copies of all such Contracts, including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder.
(d) Except where Schedule 3.12(d) specifies that there is co-ownership, Seller is, and as of Closing, the Company will be, the sole and exclusive
legal and beneficial owner of all right, title and interest in and to the Owned Intellectual Property, including as the owner of record in relation to all
Company IP Registrations (except for the [***] IP). Seller has the valid right to use the Company Intellectual Property for the conduct of Seller’s
business or operations in Canada, the United States and Europe, as such Business is conducted as of the Closing Date, in each case, free and clear of
Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, other than as specified in Schedule 3.12(d). To Seller’s Knowledge, Seller has the valid right to use
the Company Intellectual Property for the conduct of Seller’s business or operations in the rest of the world, as such Business is conducted as of the
Closing Date, in each case, free and clear of Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, other than as specified in Schedule 3.12(d). Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing and, except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(d), Seller, and as of the Closing Date the Company, has entered into
binding, written agreements with every current employee of the Seller, and with every current contractor of the Seller, in each case where such
individual developed Company Intellectual Property, or made contributions to the Company Intellectual Property, whereby such employees and
contractors (i) acknowledge the Seller’s, and as of the Closing Date the Company’s, exclusive ownership of all Owned Intellectual Property and (ii) have
waived all non-assignable rights in and to the Owned Intellectual Property, including all moral rights therein, in favor of the Seller, and as of the Closing
Date the Company, and its successors and assigns. Seller has provided Buyer with copies of all of such agreements
(e) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(e), Seller, and as of the Closing Date the Company, has taken all commercially reasonable steps to
maintain the Company Intellectual Property and to protect and preserve the confidentiality of all trade secrets included in the Company Intellectual
Property, including requiring all Persons having access thereto to execute written non-disclosure agreements.
(f) Except as may be set forth in Schedule 3.12(f), the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder will not result in the loss or
impairment of or payment of any additional amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any other Person in respect of, the Seller’s right to own,
use or hold for use any Intellectual Property as owned, used or held for use under license in the conduct of the Seller’s business or operations as
currently conducted, including all Company Intellectual Property.
(g) The current and former conduct of the Business in Canada, the United States and Europe, and the current and former products, processes and
services of Seller have not infringed,
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misappropriated, diluted or otherwise violated, and do not and will not infringe, dilute, misappropriate or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property or
other rights of any Person. To Seller’s Knowledge, the conduct of the Business in Canada, the United States and Europe as currently and formerly
conducted, and the current and former products, processes and services of the Company, have not infringed, misappropriated, diluted or otherwise
violated, and do not and will not infringe, dilute, misappropriate or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property or other rights of any Person. To Seller’s
Knowledge, the current and former conduct of the Business in the rest of the world, and the products, processes and services of Seller and to Seller’s
Knowledge the Company, have not infringed, misappropriated, diluted or otherwise violated, and do not and will not infringe, dilute, misappropriate or
otherwise violate the Intellectual Property or other rights of any Person. To Seller’s Knowledge, no Person has infringed, misappropriated, diluted or
otherwise violated, or is currently infringing, misappropriating, diluting or otherwise violating, any Company Intellectual Property.
(h) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12(h), there are no Actions (including any oppositions, interferences or re-examinations) settled, pending,
or to Seller’s Knowledge threatened (including in the form of offers to obtain a license): (i) alleging any infringement, misappropriation, dilution or
violation of the Intellectual Property of any Person by Seller, and as of the Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company; (ii) challenging the
validity, enforceability, registrability or ownership of any Company Intellectual Property or Seller’s, and as of the Closing Date the Company’s, rights
with respect to any Company Intellectual Property; or (iii) by Seller, and as of the Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, or any other
Person alleging any infringement, misappropriation, dilution or violation by any Person of the Company Intellectual Property. Seller, and as of the
Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, is not subject to any outstanding or prospective Governmental Order (including any motion or
petition therefor) that does or would restrict or impair the use of any Company Intellectual Property.
(i) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(i), the Seller has not received any government funding (such as funding through the Industrial Research
Assistance Program).
(j) For the purpose of this Section 3.12, the expression “as such Business is conducted on or before the Closing Date” or “the current and
former conduct of the Business” means the business of developing, manufacturing, distributing and selling molecular instruments and associated
assays for the detection of infectious disease as conducted by the Seller immediately prior to the Reorganization and by the Company as of the
Reorganization. For clarity, the business conducted by the Seller immediately prior to the Reorganization and by the Company as of the Reorganization:
(i) is deemed to cover the exercise of the Company Intellectual Property for the field of molecular diagnostic testing based on nucleic acid detection on a
centripetal platform; and (ii) is not limited to a territorial limitation unless a specific provision of this Agreement provides such limitation.
3.13 Inventory. All inventory of Seller, and as of the Closing Date the Company to the extent transferred under the Asset Transfer Agreement,
whether or not reflected in the Balance Sheet, consists of a quality and quantity usable and salable in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice,
except for obsolete, damaged, defective or slow-moving items that have been written off or written down to fair market value or for which adequate
reserves have been established. As of
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the date hereof, all such inventory is owned by Seller, and as of Closing to the extent transferred under the Asset Transfer Agreement will be owned by
the Company, free and clear of all Encumbrances, and no inventory is held on a consignment basis. The quantities of each item of inventory (whether
raw materials, work-in-process or finished goods) are reasonable in the present circumstances of Seller or the Company, as applicable.
3.14 Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable.
(a) The Accounts Receivable reflected on the Balance Sheet and the accounts receivable arising after the date thereof (i) have arisen from bona
fide transactions entered into by Seller, and as of the Closing Date, to the extent transferred under the Asset Transfer Agreement, the Company,
involving the sale of goods or the rendering of services in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice and (ii) constitute only valid, undisputed
claims of Seller, and as of the Closing Date, to the extent transferred under the Asset Transfer Agreement, the Company, not subject to claims of set-off
or other defenses or counterclaims other than normal cash discounts accrued in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice. The reserve for bad
debts shown on the Balance Sheet or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the Balance Sheet Date, on the accounting records of Seller, and
as of the Closing Date the Company, have been determined in accordance with CASPE, consistently applied, subject to normal year-end adjustments
and the absence of disclosures normally made in footnotes.
(b) The Accounts Payable of Seller, and as of the Closing Date, to the extent transferred under the Asset Transfer Agreement, the Company are
properly reflected on the Financial Statements and arose from bona fide transactions with non-Affiliated third parties in the Ordinary Course.
3.15 Customers and Suppliers.
(a) Schedule 3.15(a) sets forth (i) each customer who has paid aggregate consideration to Seller for goods or services rendered in an amount
greater than or equal to $50,000 for each of the two (2) most recent fiscal years (collectively, the “Material Customers”); and (ii) the amount of
consideration paid by each Material Customer during such periods. Seller has not received any notice, and to Seller’s Knowledge, none of the Material
Customers has ceased or intends to cease after the Closing, to use its goods or services or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship
with the Seller, or the Company after the implementation of the Reorganization.
(b) Schedule 3.15(b) sets forth (i) each supplier to whom Seller has paid consideration for goods or services rendered in an amount greater than
or equal to $100,000 for each of the two (2) most recent fiscal years (collectively, the “Material Suppliers”); and (ii) the amount of purchases from each
Material Supplier during such periods. Seller has not received any notice, and to Seller’s Knowledge, none of the Material Suppliers has ceased, or
intends to cease, to supply goods or services to Seller or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Seller, or the Company after
the implementation of the Reorganization.
3.16 Insurance. Schedule 3.16 sets forth a true and complete list of all insurance policies maintained by Seller, or with respect to which Seller is a
named insured or otherwise the beneficiary of coverage (collectively, the “Insurance Policies”) and true and complete copies of
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such Insurance Policies have been made available to Buyer. Such Insurance Policies are in full force and effect. There are no claims by Seller, brought
under any of the Insurance Policies as to which any insurance company is denying liability.
3.17 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders.
(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17, there are no Actions pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened (a) against or by Seller or to Seller’s
Knowledge the Company arising out of the Business or to Seller’s Knowledge affecting the Real Property or affecting any of its Intellectual Property,
Permits, Material Contracts, or Current Assets; or (b) against or by Seller or to Seller’s Knowledge the Company that challenges or seeks to prevent,
enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To Seller’s Knowledge, no event has occurred or circumstances exist that
may give rise to, any such Action.
(b) There are no outstanding Governmental Orders and no unsatisfied judgments, penalties or awards against or affecting the Seller or any of its
properties or assets.
3.18 Compliance with Laws; Permits.
(a) Seller has complied since January 1, 2014, and is now complying, in each case in all material respects, with all Laws and Permits (provided
that for the purposes of the certificate in Section 2.04(b)(iv), the term Permit, as used in this Section 3.18, shall include only those Permits that would
have been effectively transferred to the Company as of the Closing Date) applicable to it or the Business.
(b) The studies, tests and nonclinical, preclinical, safety, and clinical studies and testing, if any, conducted by Seller relating to any product of
Seller, and, if still pending, are being conducted, in all material respects, in accordance with standard and accepted medical and professional scientific
research procedures and all applicable Laws; the descriptions of the results of such studies, tests and trials provided to Buyer are accurate in all material
respects; Seller has not received any written notices or correspondence from any applicable Governmental Authority requiring the termination,
suspension, material modification or clinical hold of any such studies, tests or trials conducted by or on behalf of Seller.
(c) All material Permits required for Seller to conduct its business have been obtained by it and are valid and in full force and effect, and all
renewal applications for such Permits have been timely submitted. Schedule 3.18(c) lists all current material Permits issued to Seller, including the
names of the Permits and their respective dates of issuance and expiration. To Seller’s Knowledge, no event has occurred that, with or without notice or
lapse of time or both, would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, suspension, lapse or limitation of any Permit set forth in
Schedule 3.18(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, except where the failure to be so registered will not, individually or in the aggregate, result in a Material
Adverse Effect. Except for the fees and charges relating to the registrations pursuant to Section 5.09(a), all fees and charges due and payable with
respect to such Permits have been paid in full.
(d) None of the representations and warranties in this Section 3.18 shall be deemed to relate to Environmental matters (which are governed
by Section 3.19), to Tax matters (which are governed by Section 3.21(c)), to employment matters (which are governed by Section 3.21), to
-38-

Employee Benefits matters (which are governed by Section 3.20), to Intellectual Property matters (which are governed by Section 3.12), to Healthcare
Regulatory matters (which are governed by Section 3.22) and to Privacy matters (which are governed by Section 3.28).
3.19 Environmental Matters.
(a) The Seller has, and is now complying, in all material respects, with all applicable Environmental Laws and Seller has not received from any
Person any (i) Environmental Notice which, either remains pending or unresolved, or is the source of ongoing obligations or requirements as of the
Closing Date.
(b) There are no pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened Environmental Claims against or with respect to Seller, as of Closing Date and to
Seller’s Knowledge the Company, and, except as set forth on Schedule 3.19(b), the Seller has not received any Environmental Notice or, to Seller’s
Knowledge, has been threatened with any action from any Person alleging any liability under Environmental Laws relating to Seller or any violation of
any Environmental Law by Seller which would reasonably be expected to result in an Environmental Claim against, or a violation of Environmental
Laws or term of any Environmental Permit by Seller.
(c) The Seller, and as of Closing Date the Company, has obtained and is in material compliance with all Environmental Permits (each of which is
disclosed in Schedule 3.19(c)) necessary for the ownership, lease, operation or use of the business or assets of Seller. Subject to Buyer fulfilling its
collaboration undertakings hereunder, as of Closing, the Company shall hold each Environmental Permit.
(d) There has been no Release of Hazardous Materials in contravention of Environmental Laws with respect to the Business or to Seller’s
Knowledge any Real Property currently or formerly operated or leased by Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company.
(e) To Seller’s Knowledge, none of the Real Property currently operated or leased contains, any of the following: (i) underground storage tanks
used for storage of Hazardous Materials; (ii) a dump, landfill or any unit for the disposal of wastes regulated under Environmental Laws; (iii) PCBs; (iv)
mold that poses a threat to human health; or (v) asbestos-containing materials.
(f) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.19(f), Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, is not subject to any order,
decree, injunction or other directive of any Governmental Authority relating to an Environmental Claim and Seller, and as of Closing Date and to
Seller’s Knowledge the Company, is not subject to any agreement that requires it to pay to, reimburse, guarantee, pledge, defend, indemnify or hold
harmless any Person for or against any Environmental Claim or Liability pursuant to Environmental Laws.
(g) Seller has previously made available to Buyer in the Data Room any and all environmental reports, studies, audits, records, sampling data,
site assessments and other similar documents and material documents pertaining to environmental matters with respect to the business or assets of Seller
or any currently or formerly operated or leased Real Property which are in the possession or control of Seller.
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3.20 Employee Benefit Matters.
(a) Schedule 3.20(a) contains a list of each benefit, retirement, employment, compensation, incentive, bonus, stock option, restricted stock, stock
appreciation right, phantom equity, change in control, severance, vacation, paid time off, welfare and fringe-benefit agreement, plan, policy and
program, in effect and covering one or more employees, former employees of Seller, current or former directors of Seller or the beneficiaries or
dependents of any such employees or directors, that is maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by Seller, and as of Closing
Date by the Company with respect to the employees listed in Schedule 3.21(a), or under which Seller, and as of Closing Date the Company with respect
to the employees listed in Schedule 3.21(a), has any material liability for premiums or benefits (as listed on Schedule 3.20(a), each, a “Benefit Plan”),
other than government sponsored statutory plans.
(b) Each Benefit Plan and related trust complies with all applicable Laws in all material respects. Each Benefit Plan that is intended to be
registered under the Tax Act is registered with the Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA”) and the trust related thereto are exempt from Canadian income
Tax pursuant to paragraph 149(1)(r) of the Tax Act, and, to Seller’s Knowledge, nothing has occurred that could reasonably be expected to cause the
revocation of such registration with the CRA. All benefits, contributions and premiums required by and due under the terms of each Benefit Plan or
applicable Laws have been timely paid in accordance with the terms of such Benefit Plan.
(c) No Benefit Plan that provides benefits to employees residing or employed in Canada is a pension plan subject to pension legislation. Except
as disclosed in Schedule 3.20(c), no Benefit Plan provides post-employment or post-retirement benefits.
(d) Seller has made available to Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of each Benefit Plan, including: (i) each writing constituting a part of
such Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto; (ii) the current summary plan description and any material modifications thereto, if any; and
(iii) the most recent registration letter from the CRA, if any.
3.21 Employment Matters.
(a) Schedule 3.21(a) contains a list of all persons who are, in Canada, employees of Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge of
the Company (identified by employee number and position and not by name) or independent contractors or consultants of Seller, and as of Closing Date
and to Seller’s Knowledge of the Company including any employee who is on a leave of absence of any nature, paid or unpaid, authorized or
unauthorized, and sets forth for each such individual the following: (i) employee number; (ii) title or position (including whether full or part time); (iii)
hire date; (iv) current annual base compensation rate; (v) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation; (vi) a description of the fringe
benefits provided to each such individual as of the date hereof; and (vii) location of employment. As of the date hereof, and other than amounts accrued
between payroll dates in the Ordinary Course and amounts that are not yet payable to employees or independent contractors or consultants (such as
commissions and bonuses), estimates of which are set forth on Schedule 3.21(a), all compensation, including wages, commissions and bonuses, payable
to all employees, independent contractors or consultants of Seller as of the date hereof, and of the Company as of Closing Date regarding such
employees, for
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services performed on or prior to the date hereof have been paid in full and there are no outstanding agreements, understandings or commitments of
Seller with respect to any compensation, commissions or bonuses.
(b) Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, is not, and has not been for the past five (5) years, a party to, bound
by, or negotiating any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a union or labor organization (collectively, “Union”), and there is not, and
has not been for the past five (5) years, any Union representing or purporting to represent any employee of Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s
Knowledge the Company, and, to Seller’s Knowledge, no Union or group of employees is seeking or within the past five (5) years has sought to
organize employees for the purpose of collective bargaining. Within the past five (5) years, there has not been, nor has there been any threat of, any
strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor disruption or dispute affecting Seller or any of its
employees. Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, has no duty to bargain with any Union.
(c) Seller, and as of Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge the Company, is, and within the past three (3) years has been, in compliance in all
material respects with all applicable Laws pertaining to employment and employment practices, including all Laws relating to labor relations, labor
standards, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, pay equity, French language, harassment, reasonable accommodation, termination of
employees, immigration, privacy, health and safety, workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance. Each independent contractor has been
properly classified by Seller, and as of Closing Date by the Company with respect to such independent contractors, as an independent contractor and
Seller has not received, nor are there any pending or threatened notices from any Person disputing such classification. There are no Actions against
Seller pending, or to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority or arbitrator in connection with
the employment of any current or former applicant, employee, consultant, intern or independent contractor of Seller, including, without limitation, any
claim relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, equal pay, wage and hours, prohibited practice, unjustified
dismissal, or any other employment-related matter arising under applicable Laws.
3.22 Healthcare Regulatory and Related Matters.
(a) Seller is and has been, in compliance in all material respects with (i) all Laws (including all rules, regulations and policies) of Health Canada,
CMS, FDA, OIG, Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) and other Healthcare Regulatory Authorities, including by way of example only, the
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Food and Drug Act (Canada), the Public Health Service Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act, the Federal Health Care Program Anti-Kickback Act
(Social Security Act § 1128B(b)), the Anti-Inducement Act (Social Security Act § 1128A(a)(5)), the Ethics in Patient Referrals Act of 1989, as amended
(Social Security Act § 1877), the other provisions of the Social Security Act and all implementing regulations, and (ii) all Healthcare Regulatory
Authorizations, including all requirements of Health Canada, CMS, FDA, DEA and all other Healthcare Regulatory Authorities, that are applicable to
Seller, or by which any property, product (if any), service or other asset of the Seller is bound or
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affected. Schedule 3.22(a) sets out all Healthcare Regulatory Authorizations issued to the Seller and all applications for Healthcare Regulatory
Authorizations made by the Seller that are pending on the date of this Agreement. The Revogene assays, instruments related to the Business have been
exclusively marketed and sold by Seller in Canada, the United States Australia and Europe. The Seller has and maintains all Healthcare Regulatory
Authorizations necessary to conduct its business and each such Healthcare Regulatory Authorization is valid, subsisting and in good standing.
(b) Seller has not received any notification of any pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, revocation of any state, provincial or federal
license or permit, suspension or exclusion from any federal health care program, imposition of civil money penalties, or other claim, suit, proceeding,
hearing, enforcement, audit, investigation, or action initiated by any Healthcare Regulatory Authority.
(c) Seller has held and maintained in full force and effect all material Healthcare Regulatory Authorizations required for the conduct of its
business, and, subject to any regulatory condition imposed by Law or by a Healthcare Regulatory Authority, as described on Schedule 3.22(c), all such
Healthcare Regulatory Authorizations are in full force and effect. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.22(c), no event has occurred which allows, or after
notice or lapse of time would allow, revocation or termination thereof or results in any other impairment of the material rights of the holder of any such
Healthcare Regulatory Authorization.
(d) No applications or notifications made or other materials submitted by Seller to any Healthcare Regulatory Authority contained an untrue
statement of material fact, or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements contained therein,
in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading on a material matter.
(e) Seller does not manufacture, distribute, import, or sell any medical device or drug that is required to be, but which has not been, approved,
cleared or waived by the FDA, Health Canada or any other Healthcare Regulatory Authority.
(f) Seller has not received any material written information since January 1, 2012 from any Healthcare Regulatory Authority with jurisdiction
over the marketing, importation, distribution, sale, use, handling and control, safety, efficacy, reliability or manufacturing or provision of products
offered or to be offered by Seller, if any, which would reasonably be expected to lead to the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, termination, or denial of
any Healthcare Regulatory Authorization or any application for a Healthcare Regulatory Authorization, including any marketing approval, before such
Healthcare Regulatory Authority. As of the date hereof, there are no facts or circumstances relating to the Seller and as of the Closing Date and to
Seller’s Knowledge, the Company, or their operations, facilities, services or products, or Health Regulatory Authorizations, that would reasonably be
expected to result in (i) the recall, market withdrawal or replacement of any product sold by the Seller, or to Seller’s Knowledge, the Company (ii) a
change in the marketing classification or a material change in the labelling of any products sold by the Seller. The Seller has not voluntarily or
involuntarily initiated, conducted or issued, or caused to be initiated, conducted or issued, nor is there currently under consideration by Seller or, to
Seller’s Knowledge, any Healthcare Regulatory Authority, any recall, market
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withdrawal or replacement, field alerts, field corrections, safety alert, warning or other notice of action related to an alleged misbranding, adulteration,
lack of safety, efficacy or regulatory compliance of any of the Seller’s products or any other form of product retrieval from the marketplace in respect of
any such products or any revocation or suspension of a Healthcare Regulatory Authorization with respect to such products.
(g) Seller has made available to Buyer all material reports, documents, claims, notices, filings, minutes, transcripts, recordings and other
material correspondence between the Seller, on the one hand, and any Healthcare Regulatory Authority, on the other hand.
(h) All material reports, documents, claims, applicable registration files and dossiers, notices and similar filings required to be filed, maintained,
or furnished to any Healthcare Regulatory Authority by Seller, including all adverse event reports and mandatory problem reports, have been filed,
maintained or furnished in compliance with all applicable Laws and, were complete and correct in all material respects on the date filed (or were
corrected in or supplemented by a subsequent filing).
(i) All clinical testing conducted by or on behalf of Seller is being and has been conducted in accordance with the Clinical Laboratory
Improvement Amendments of 1988, 42 U.S.C. § 263a et seq and/or, as applicable, any applicable Canadian or foreign equivalents, the Food and Drugs
Act (Canada), good clinical practices, all rules, policies, and guidelines administered by the competent Healthcare Regulatory Authority, and all
applicable industry standards.
(j) Seller has not received any Form FDA 483, notice of adverse finding, warning letters, untitled letters or other notices alleging a lack of safety
or efficacy from any Healthcare Regulatory Authority, and (ii) there is no action or proceeding pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened by any
such Healthcare Regulatory Authority, contesting the approval of, the uses of, or the labeling (if any) or promotion of, or otherwise alleging any
violation of Law with respect to, a product if any, manufactured, distributed or marketed by or on behalf of Seller.
(k) Seller is not the subject of any pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened investigation regarding Seller, any Seller services or any
Seller products, if any, by the FDA pursuant to its “Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities” Final Policy set forth in
56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (Sept. 10, 1991) (commonly known as the Application Integrity Policy) and any amendments thereto, or otherwise. Neither Seller,
nor, to Seller’s Knowledge, any officer, employee, agent or distributor of Seller, has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct for which
such Person could be excluded from participating in the federal health care programs under Section 1128 of the Social Security Act or any similar Law
or could be executed. As of the date hereof, no claims, actions, proceedings or investigations that would reasonably be expected to result in a material
debarment or exclusion of Seller is pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, against Seller or, to Seller’s Knowledge, any of its directors, officers,
employees or agents.
(l) Seller has not taken or agreed to take any action or has any Seller’s Knowledge of any fact or circumstance that Seller believes is reasonably
likely to materially impede or delay
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receipt of any consent of any Governmental Authority necessary to consummate the Reorganization or the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.
(m) Neither Seller nor any of its laboratories has received any Civil Investigative Demand or subpoena from the Department of Justice or any
OIG subpoena or demand, nor does the does the Seller have reason to suspect that it has been named as a defendant in a False Claims Act case, whether
sealed or unsealed.
3.23 Certain Business Practices.
(a) Seller has not and, to Seller’s Knowledge, no agent, employee or other person with or acting on behalf of Seller has, directly or indirectly:
(i) made any unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenditures relating to political activity and related in any
way to Seller’s business;
(ii) made or offered any payment or transfer of anything of value to any foreign or domestic government official or employee, foreign or
domestic political party or campaign, official or employee of any public international organization, or official or employee of any government-owned
enterprise or institution (including any government hospitals or academic institutions) to obtain or retain business improperly or secure an improper
advantage;
(iii) violated any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act
(Canada) or any other applicable statute or regulation that prohibits bribery or similar payments or transfers with corrupt intent;
(iv) established or maintained any unlawful fund of corporate monies or other properties; or,
(v) solicited, made, proposed to make, or receive any unlawful bribe, influence payment, kickback, unlawful rebate, or other similar
unlawful payment or unlawful inducement of any nature, including to healthcare providers or those employed by any governmental institutions.
(b) Seller has not unlawfully:
(i) offered, paid, solicited or received anything of value paid directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind (excluding fair
market value payments for equipment, services or supplies) to or from any physician, family member of a physician, or an entity in which a physician or
physician family member has an ownership or investment interest, including, but not limited to:
(ii) payments for the use of premises leased to or from a physician, a family member of a physician or an entity in which a physician or
family member has an ownership or investment interest; or
(iii) payments for the acquisition or lease of equipment, goods or supplies from a physician, a family member of a physician or an entity in
which a physician or family member has an ownership or investment interest.
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(iv) entered into any joint venture, partnership, co-ownership or other arrangement involving any ownership or investment interest by any
physician, or family member of a physician, or an entity in which a physician or physician family member has an ownership or investment interest
directly or indirectly, through equity, debt, or other means, including, but not limited to, an interest in an entity providing goods or services to Seller; or
entered into any joint venture, partnership, co-ownership or other arrangement involving any ownership or investment interest by any person or entity
including, but not limited to, a hospital, pharmacy, laboratory, review board, regulatory body, drug or equipment supplier, distributor or manufacturer,
that is or was in a position to make or influence referrals, furnish items or services to, or otherwise general business for Seller.
3.24 Related Party Transactions. Except (i) as set forth on Schedule 3.24, (ii) employment agreements, services agreements or consulting
agreements with any employee, officer, independent contractors or consultant of Seller, (iii) amounts payable in reimbursement of expenses each
incurred in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practices, and (iv) any Benefit Plan, no executive officer or director of Seller and no person owning
five percent (5%) or more of shares in the capital of Seller (or any of such person’s immediate family members or Affiliates or associates) is a party to
any Contract with or binding upon Seller or any of its assets, rights or properties or has any interest in any property owned by Seller or has engaged in
any transaction with any of the foregoing within the last twenty-four (24) months.
3.25 Reorganization.
(a) Subject to the obligations of the Buyer set forth in Section 5.08 and provided the Seller obtains the material consents and assignment set forth
in Schedule 2.04(b)(iii), the Company, following consummation of the Reorganization as provided in the Reorganization Closing Agenda, shall be
capitalized with such assets pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreement to ensure that the Company is able to conduct the Business in substantially the
same manner as conducted by Seller immediately prior to the Reorganization.
(b) The Real Property, the Company Intellectual Property, the Equipment and other Purchased Assets constitute all of the assets that are
necessary to permit Buyer to operate the Business immediately after the Closing Date in substantially the same manner as such operations have been
conducted by Seller prior to the date of the Reorganization.
3.26 Warranties; Product Liability. Seller has not made any oral or written warranties, guarantees or indemnities with respect to the quality or
absence of defects of the products which it has manufactured, redesigned, sold, distributed, marketed, delivered or otherwise provided or the services
which it has performed, in each case, which are in force as of the date hereof, except for those warranties, guarantees and indemnities which are
described in Schedule 3.26 and other than legal or statutory guarantees. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.26, there are no claims pending,
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or to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, with respect to the quality of or defects relating to Seller’s products and services.
3.27 Investment Canada Act and Competition Act.
(a) Seller, and as of the Closing Date and to Seller’s Knowledge, the Company, does not provide any of the services, or engage in any of the
activities of a “cultural business” within the meaning of the Investment Canada Act.
(b) For the purposes of Section 110(3) of the Competition Act, each of (i) the total value of the Seller’s assets in Canada and as of the Closing
Date, to Seller’s Knowledge, the Company’s assets, plus the assets in Canada that are owned by corporations that are controlled by the Seller and as of
the Closing Date, to the Seller’s Knowledge, the Company, and (ii) the gross revenues from sales in or from Canada generated from the assets referred
to in paragraph (i) above; measured in accordance with the Competition Act, are less than $96 million.
3.28 Privacy. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.28, Seller is and has always been conducting its business in compliance with all applicable Laws
governing privacy and the protection of personal information, including the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act and the Act
respecting the protection of personal information in the private sector (Quebec) other than acts of non-compliance which individually or in the
aggregate are not material. Schedule 3.28 contains a complete and accurate list of Seller’s written privacy policy governing its collection, use and
disclosure of personal information. Seller is in compliance in all material respects with such policy.
3.29 Brokers. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.29, no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or
commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Transaction Document based upon arrangements made by or on
behalf of the Seller.
3.30 Non-Resident. Seller is not a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act.
3.31 Full Disclosure. This Agreement does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact by Seller or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made herein by Seller not misleading.
Article IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER
Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that the statements contained in this Article IV are true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the
Closing, and acknowledges and agrees that Seller is relying upon such representations and warranties in connection with the sale by Seller of the
Purchased Shares notwithstanding any investigation by or on behalf of Seller.
4.01 Organization and Authority of Buyer.
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(a) Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of British Columbia, Buyer has full corporate
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder
and thereunder and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and any other Transaction
Document to which Buyer is a party, the performance by Buyer of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by Buyer of the
Contemplated Transactions have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement has been duly executed and
delivered by Buyer, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Seller) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally. When each other Transaction Document to which Buyer is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer (assuming due
authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Transaction Document will constitute a legal and binding obligation of Buyer
enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.
(b) As of Closing, the Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of British Columbia and
has full corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets owned, operated or leased by it.
(c) The sole shareholders of the Company are listed in Schedule 4.01.
(d) Company has full corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents and
Reorganization Documents to which it is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by
Company of any Transaction Document or Reorganization Document to which it is a party and the consummation by Company of the transactions
contemplated thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Company and no other corporate proceedings on the part
of Company are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of such Transaction Documents or Reorganization Documents or to
consummate the Contemplated Transactions or the Reorganization and the other transactions contemplated thereby. Assuming due authorization,
execution and delivery by each other party hereto, the Transaction Documents and Reorganization Documents to which Company is a party constitutes a
legal, valid and binding obligation of Company enforceable against Company in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other
similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.
4.02 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and
Reorganization Documents to which it is a party, and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and of the Reorganization, do not and will
not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other
organizational documents of Buyer; (b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to
Buyer; or (c) require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under any Contract to which Buyer is a party. No consent, approval, Permit,
Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority is required by or with respect to Buyer in connection with the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction
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Documents and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, other than a Notice of Investment under the Investment Canada Act to be filed by
Buyer within thirty (30) days of the Closing Date.
4.03 Investment Purpose. Buyer is acquiring the Purchased Shares solely for its own account for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for
offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Buyer acknowledges that the Purchased Shares are not registered under the Securities Act, or
any state or provincial securities laws, and that the Purchased Shares may not be transferred or sold except pursuant to the registration provisions of the
Securities Act or provincial securities laws or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and subject to state securities laws and regulations, as
applicable. Buyer is able to bear the economic risk of holding the Purchased Shares for an indefinite period (including total loss of its investment), and
has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risk of its investment.
4.04 Capitalization of the Company.
(a) As of Closing, the Purchased Shares (i) will have been duly authorized, (ii) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and (iii) owned of
record by Seller.
(b) As of Closing, all of the Purchased Shares are issued in compliance with all applicable Laws, and none of the Purchased Shares are issued, in
violation of any agreement, arrangement or commitment to which the Company is a party or is subject to or in violation of any preemptive or similar
rights of any Person.
(c) As of Closing, there is no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, convertible securities, calls, commitments, rights of exchange,
subscriptions, claims of any character, agreements, obligations, convertible or exchangeable securities or other rights, agreements, arrangements or
commitments, contingent or otherwise, of any character relating to the capital stock of the Company or obligating the Company to issue or sell any
shares of capital stock of, or any other interest in, the Company.
(d) As of Closing (i) the Company has no outstanding or authorized any stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights,
(ii) has no voting trusts, shareholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of
the Purchased Shares, (iii) has no outstanding Contracts of the Company, Seller or any other Person to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any
outstanding shares in the capital of the Company, or securities or obligations of any kind convertible into any shares in the capital of the Company, and
(iv) there are no dividends which have accrued or been declared but remain unpaid on the shares in the capital of the Company.
(e) As of Closing, the Company is a “private issuer” within the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions.
4.05 Accredited Investor Status. Buyer is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions.
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4.06 Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the
Contemplated Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer or Company.
4.07 Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Buyer’s knowledge, threatened against or by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer that
challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the Contemplated Transactions. No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise
to, or serve as a basis for, any such Action.
Article V
COVENANTS
5.01 Conduct of the Business Prior to the Closing. From the date hereof until the Closing, except for the Reorganization, or as otherwise provided in
this Agreement or consented to in writing by Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), Seller shall (x) conduct the Business
in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice; and (y) use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and preserve intact its current Business
organization, operations and franchise and to preserve the rights, franchises, goodwill and relationships of its employees, customers, lenders, suppliers,
regulators and others having relationships with the Business. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, Seller shall:
(a) preserve and maintain all Permits and Healthcare Regulatory Authorizations required for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted;
(b) pay the debts, Taxes and other obligations of the Business when due;
(c) continue to collect Accounts Receivable in a manner consistent with past practice;
(d) continue in full force and effect without modification all Insurance Policies, except as required by applicable Law; and
(e) use commercially reasonable efforts to defend and protect the properties and assets included in the Purchased Assets from infringement or
usurpation and maintain the same in the same condition as they were on the date of this Agreement, subject to reasonable wear and tear; and
(f) not take or permit any action that would cause any of the changes, events or conditions described in Section 3.07 to occur without Buyer’s
prior written consent which shall not be unreasonably withheld, and provided that such consent shall be deemed given if Buyer fails to respond to such
request within five (5) Business Days following written request for consent from Seller.
5.02 Access to Information. From the date hereof until the Closing, Seller shall (a) afford Buyer and its Representatives, during regular business
hours, full and free access to and the right to inspect all of the Real Property, properties, assets, premises, books and records, Contracts and other
documents and data related to the Business; (b) furnish Buyer and its Representatives with
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such financial, operating and other data and information related to the Business as Buyer or any of its Representatives may reasonably request; and
(c) instruct the Representatives of Seller to cooperate with Buyer in its investigation of the Business. Without limiting the foregoing, Seller shall permit
Buyer and its Representatives to conduct environmental due diligence of the Real Property to the extent not prohibited by the lease for the Real Property.
Any investigation pursuant to this Section 5.02 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the Business or
any other businesses of Seller. Seller shall provide a draft of the Reorganization Documents to the Buyer prior to the consummation of the
Reorganization for its review and approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld.
5.03 No Solicitation of Other Bids.
(a) Neither Seller nor the Shareholders shall, and neither shall authorize or permit any of their Affiliates or any of its or their Representatives to,
directly or indirectly, (i) encourage, solicit, initiate, facilitate or continue inquiries regarding an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) enter into discussions or
negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person concerning a possible Acquisition Proposal; or (iii) enter into any agreements or other
instruments (whether or not binding) regarding an Acquisition Proposal. Seller and each Shareholder shall immediately cease and cause to be
terminated, and shall cause its Affiliates and all of its and their Representatives to immediately cease and cause to be terminated, all existing discussions
or negotiations with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to, or that could lead to, an Acquisition Proposal.
(b) In addition to the other obligations under this Section 5.03, Seller and each Shareholder shall promptly (and in any event within two
(2) Business Days after receipt thereof by Seller, a Shareholder or their Representatives) advise Buyer orally and in writing of any Acquisition Proposal,
any request for information with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, or any inquiry with respect to or which could reasonably be expected to result in
an Acquisition Proposal, the material terms and conditions of such request, Acquisition Proposal or inquiry, and the identity of the Person making the
same.
(c) Seller and each Shareholder agrees that the rights and remedies for noncompliance with this Section 5.03, shall include having such
provision specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach
shall cause irreparable injury to Buyer and that money damages would not provide an adequate remedy to Buyer.
5.04 Notice of Certain Events.
(a) From the date hereof until the Closing, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of:
(i) any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which (A) has had, or could reasonably be expected to
have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (B) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, any representation or
warranty made by Seller hereunder not being true and correct or (C) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the failure of any of the
conditions set forth in Section 6.02 to be satisfied;
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(ii) any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
(iii) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement; and
(iv) any Actions commenced or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting the Business, the
Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities that, if pending on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to have been disclosed pursuant to
Section 3.17 or that relates to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
(with any of the event in Sections 5.04(a)(i) through 5.04(a)(iv) being a “Subsequent Event”). Any fact, circumstance, event or action existing, occurring
or taking place prior to the date of this Agreement shall not constitute a Subsequent Event, even if knowledge thereof only occurs after the date of this
Agreement.
(b) In the event of a Subsequent Event, the Seller will deliver a written notice to the Buyer that: (i) identifies the Subsequent Event and describes
it; (ii) and contains an express affirmative statement by the Seller that the Buyer will have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to
Section 9.01(b) as a result of a failure of a condition to the Closing set forth in Section 6.02. The Buyer will have ten (10) days from receipt of such
written notice to elect, in its sole discretion, whether or not to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(b). In the event that the Buyer does not
elect to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(b) and this Section 5.04(b) or fails to respond to the Seller’s written notice during such ten
(10) day period (any such election or failure by the Buyer, an “Election Not to Terminate”), the Subsequent Event described in the written notice will not
be taken into account in determining whether or not the conditions set forth in Section 6.02 have been satisfied.
(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of an Election Not to Terminate, following the Closing, the Seller
will not have any liability under Article VII of this Agreement to any Buyer Indemnitee in respect of any Losses that, but only to the extent that such
Losses, directly resulted from the Subsequent Event described in the written notification delivered to the Buyer pursuant to Section 5.04(b).
5.05 Maintenance and Access to Books and Records.
(a) Buyer agrees that it will retain all books and records (or copies thereof of) relating to the Business and the Purchased Assets delivered to it
by the Seller and relating to any period ending on or prior to the Closing Date for a period of seven (7) years following the date of such information or if
not reasonably apparent, seven (7) years from the Closing Date. So long as such books and records are retained by the Buyer, the Seller or its authorized
Representatives shall have reasonable access thereto, at reasonable times and upon reasonable advance written notice, and to the extent reasonably
required for the preparation of financial statements or Tax returns or the defense of litigation), provided that any such access rights shall be at Seller’s
expense and
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exercised in such manner as not to interfere with the conduct of the business of the Company, Buyer or any of their Affiliates.
(b) Seller agrees that it will retain all books and records relating to the Business and the Purchased Assets, to the extent such books and records
do not constitute Purchased Assets, and relating to any period ending on or prior to the Closing Date for a period of seven (7) years following the date of
such information or if not reasonably apparent, seven (7) years from the Closing. So long as such books and records are retained by the Seller, Buyer or
its authorized Representatives shall have reasonable access thereto, at reasonable times and upon reasonable advance written notice, and to the extent
reasonably required for the preparation of financial statements or Tax returns, or defense of litigation) provided that any such access rights shall be at
Buyer’s expense and exercised in such manner as not to interfere with the conduct of the business of Seller or any of its Affiliates.
5.06 Public Announcements. No party hereto shall issue any press release or otherwise make public statements or filings with respect to this
Agreement or the Closing Documents, or the transactions contemplated herein or therein, without the consent of the other party which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party shall have the right to override such obligation in order to
make any disclosure or filing required under applicable Laws or stock exchange listing requirements, in which case the party making any such
disclosure shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give prior oral or written notice to the other party and reasonable opportunity for the other party
to review or comment on the disclosure or filing (other than with respect to confidential information contained in such disclosure or filing), and if such
prior notice is not possible, to give such notice immediately following the making of any such disclosure or filing.
5.07 Governmental Approvals and Consents.
(a) Each party hereto shall, as promptly as possible, (i) make, or cause or be made, all filings, notifications and submissions required under any
Law applicable to such party or any of its Affiliates; and (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, all consents,
authorizations, orders and approvals from all Governmental Authorities that may be or become necessary for its execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement and the Reorganization Documents. Each party shall cooperate fully with
the other party and its Affiliates in promptly seeking to obtain all such consents, authorizations, orders and approvals. The parties hereto shall not
willfully take any action that will have the effect of delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required consents, authorizations, orders and
approvals.
(b) Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give all notices to, and obtain all consents from, all third parties that are described in
Schedule 3.04 (“Seller’s Requested Consents”), except for the consents identified by a reference to this Section 5.07(b).
(c) Seller and Buyer acknowledge that Buyer shall, at its sole own costs and expenses and provided that Seller shall not be required to expend
any money or make any payment to obtain such consents, have the option to request all consents required from third parties from whom Buyer need
consent as a result of its plans for the Business after Closing (“Buyer’s Requested Consents”)
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at the same time as the Seller request, at the same time as the Seller’s request of the consents described in Schedule 3.04 and identified expressly by a
reference to this Section 5.07(c), provided however that Buyer shall make such requests under separate cover, and provided further that in the event of
any issues or delay of more than twenty-one (21) days regarding the Buyer’s Requested Consents, while the Seller’s Requested Consents have been
approved (or would be approved if it was not for the Buyer’s Requested Consents), then the Closing shall not be delayed and Buyer shall rescind the
request(s) for the Buyer Requested Consents and limit its intervention to the transfer of the relevant contract only.
(d) If the Buyer elects to waive Seller’s obligation to obtain the consents from the third parties listed in Section 5.07(c) as of the Outside Date as
set forth in Section 6.02(f), Seller and Buyer shall share equally any money or payment required by such third parties as a result of the failure to obtain
the required consents in connection with the Reorganization and the Contemplated Transaction and the Buyer acknowledges that it will have no right of
indemnification under Section 7.03(b) related to the fact that the relevant consents will not have been obtained by the Seller as of the Closing Date or
thereafter;
(e) Without limiting the generality of the parties’ undertakings pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) above, each of the parties hereto shall use all
commercially reasonable efforts to:
(i) respond to any inquiries by any Governmental Authority regarding antitrust or other matters with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Reorganization Documents;
(ii) avoid the imposition of any order or the taking of any action that would restrain, alter or enjoin the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Reorganization Documents; and
(iii) in the event any Governmental Order adversely affecting the ability of the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement and the Reorganization Documents has been issued, to have such Governmental Order vacated or lifted.
(f) If any consent, approval or authorization necessary to preserve any right or benefit under any Contract to which the Seller is a party is not
obtained prior to the Closing, Seller shall, subsequent to the Closing, cooperate with Buyer and the Company in attempting to obtain such consent,
approval or authorization as promptly thereafter as practicable. If such consent, approval or authorization cannot be obtained, Seller shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to provide the Company with the rights and benefits of the affected Contract for the term thereof, and, if Seller provides
such rights and benefits, the Company shall assume all obligations and burdens thereunder.
(g) All analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals made by or on behalf
of either party before any Governmental Authority or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Authority, in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereunder (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not including any interactions between Seller or the Company with Governmental Authorities
in the ordinary course of business, any disclosure which is not permitted by Law or any disclosure containing confidential
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information) shall be disclosed to the other party hereunder in advance of any filing, submission or attendance, it being the intent that the parties will
consult and cooperate with one another, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with any such analyses, appearances,
meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals. Each party shall give notice to the other party with respect to
any meeting, discussion, appearance or contact with any Governmental Authority or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Authority, with such
notice being sufficient to provide the other party with the opportunity to attend and participate in such meeting, discussion, appearance or contact.
5.08 Reorganization.
(a) Buyer hereby undertakes to, and cause the Company to, cooperate and collaborate with the Seller in the preparation and implementation of
the Reorganization, as well as for the preparation and implementation of the Closing, in each case, including but not limited to obtaining all consents,
authorizations, orders and approvals from all Governmental Authorities or Persons that may be or become necessary for the Reorganization and the
Closing, drafting, review and finalization of documents related to the Reorganization and the Closing, obtaining tax numbers, opening bank accounts,
setting up accounting systems and all similar activities.
(b) Seller shall take all steps required for it to complete the Seller’s Reorganization Documents and actions items under the responsibility of the
Seller in the Reorganization Closing Agenda, in the manner contemplated thereunder and thereby the day before the Closing Date at the latest (the
“Seller’s Reorganization Portion”).
(c) Buyer shall, and shall cause the Company, to take all steps required for it and the Company to complete the Buyer’s Reorganization
Documents and actions items under the responsibility of the Buyer and the Company in the Reorganization Closing Agenda, in the manner contemplated
thereunder and thereby the day before the Closing Date at the latest (the “Buyer’s Reorganization Portion”).
(d) In the event that the Closing does not occur, as contemplated under this Agreement, Buyer undertakes to forthwith (but no later than five
(5) days) following the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article IX take all actions (and cause the Company) to take all actions necessary to
change the name of the Company to a name that does not include the word “Genepoc”.
(e) Furthermore, Buyer hereby acknowledges and undertakes that the Company, from the date of its incorporation until the Closing Date, shall
not carry-on any active business, have any employees, have any property or assets, of any nature or kind whatsoever, have any material obligations,
liabilities (whether actual or contingent) or indebtedness to any Person, other than (i) cash, (ii) as contemplated or in connection with the Reorganization
including applications for permits and authorizations, or (iii) related to the financing contemplated by Buyer set forth in Section 6.02(e).
5.09 Company IP Registrations; Products Warranties.
(a) At Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer executed assignment documents appropriate to transfer all Company Intellectual Property to the
Company. Upon Closing, Buyer,
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shall, at its own costs and expenses, have all relevant Company Intellectual Property, including all Company IP Registrations, be registered in the name
of the Company and all title records for the Company IP Registrations be updated with all respective Governmental Authorities in the name of the
Company.
(b) After the Closing, but without limitation to Buyer’s rights pursuant to Section 7.03(f), Buyer shall continue to honor the warranties set out in
Schedule 3.26 which apply to any products of the Business sold by the Seller to third parties as at the Closing Date.
5.10 Termination Costs.
(a) Seller and Buyer hereby acknowledge and agree, that prior to Closing, Seller shall, at Buyer’s costs and expenses [***] shall be paid by
Buyer to Seller at Closing in accordance with Section 2.04(a)(iv).
(b) The Buyer hereby acknowledges and agrees that any and all [***] shall be done after the Closing and at Buyer’s sole costs, expense and
responsibility [***].
5.11 Confidentiality.
(a) As used in this Section 5.10, the “Confidential Information” of a party shall mean all information concerning or related to the business,
operations, financial condition or prospects of such party or any of its Affiliates, regardless of the form in which such information appears and whether
or not such information has been reduced to a tangible form, and shall specifically include (i) all information regarding the officers, directors,
employees, equity holders, customers, suppliers, distributors, sales representatives and licensees of such party and its Affiliates, in each case whether
present or prospective, (ii) all inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, processes, techniques, methods, formulae, ideas and know-how of such party and its
Affiliates, (iii) all financial statements, audit reports, budgets and business plans or forecasts of such party and its Affiliates, and (iv) any information
disclosed under the Confidentiality Agreement; provided, however, that the Confidential Information of a party shall not include (A) information which
is or becomes generally known to the public through no act or omission of the other party or (B) information which has been or hereafter is lawfully
obtained by the other party from a source other than the party to whom such Confidential Information belongs (or any of its Affiliates or their respective
officers, directors, employees, equity holders or agents) so long as, in the case of information obtained from a third party, such third party was or is not,
directly or indirectly, subject to an obligation of confidentiality owed to the party to whom such Confidential Information belongs or any of its Affiliates
at the time such Confidential Information was or is disclosed to the other party.
(b) Except as otherwise permitted by subsection (c) below, each party agrees that it will not, without the prior written consent of the other party,
disclose or use for its own benefit any Confidential Information of the other party.
(c) Notwithstanding subsection (b) above, each of the parties shall be permitted to:
(i) disclose Confidential Information of the other party to its officers, directors, employees, equity holders, lenders, agents and Affiliates
and legal, accounting or other advisors,
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but only to the extent reasonably necessary in order for such party to perform its obligations and exercise its rights and remedies under this Agreement,
and such party shall take all such action as shall be necessary or desirable in order to ensure that each of such Persons maintains the confidentiality of
any Confidential Information that is so disclosed; and
(ii) disclose Confidential Information of the other party to the extent, but only to the extent, required by Law; provided, that prior to
making any disclosure pursuant to this subparagraph, the disclosing party shall notify the affected party of the same, and the affected party shall have the
right to participate with the disclosing party in determining the amount and type of Confidential Information of the affected party, if any, which must be
disclosed in order to comply with Law.
5.12 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute and deliver
such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the
provisions hereof and give effect to the Contemplated Transactions. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller shall provide such
reasonable assistance as Buyer may request from time to time to accomplish the transfer of all Permits and Health Regulatory Authorizations held by
Seller prior to the Closing Date to the Company as set forth in the Reorganization Closing Agenda.
Article VI
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING
6.01 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties. The obligations of each party to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:
(a) No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Governmental Order which is in effect and has
the effect of making the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal, otherwise restraining or prohibiting consummation of such transactions or
causing any of the transactions contemplated hereunder to be rescinded following completion thereof.
(b) No Action shall have been commenced against Buyer, Seller, or the Company, which would prevent the Closing.
6.02 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject
to the fulfillment or Buyer’s waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:
(a) The Seller shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this
Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to be performed or complied with by them prior to or on the Closing Date.
(b) From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect, nor shall any event or events have occurred that,
individually or in the aggregate,
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with or without the lapse of time, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
(c) The Seller shall have delivered each of the closing deliverables set forth in Section 2.04(b).
(d) Meridian ParentCo Board of Directors shall have duly authorized the execution and performance of this Agreement.
(e) Buyer shall have obtained financing necessary to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement on terms and conditions substantially similar to
those set forth in the commitment letter attached as Exhibit K hereto.
(f) All material consents and assignments necessary in connection with the Reorganization and the Contemplated Transactions as set forth on
Schedule 2.04(b)(iii) shall have been obtained provided, however, that Buyer shall not waive Seller’s obligation to obtain any such material consent or
assignment prior to the Outside Closing Date.
(g) Evidence of completion of the Seller Reorganization Portion in accordance with the Reorganization Closing Agenda.
(h) The Seller shall have obtained a fully executed amendment to [***] Amendment
(i) The Seller shall have entered into [***] agreements in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer in its reasonable discretion [***], which
costs, expenses and liability will be assumed by the Buyer exclusively.
6.03 Conditions to Obligations of the Seller. The obligations of Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
subject to the fulfillment or the Seller’s waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:
(a) The Buyer and the Company shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions
required by this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date.
(b) Evidence of completion of the Buyer Reorganization Portion in accordance with the Reorganization Closing Agenda.
(c) The Seller and the Buyer shall have agreed on the valuation of the Business and allocation of the purchase price of the assets subject to the
Asset Transfer Agreement part of the Reorganization (without giving effect to the Reorganization).
(d) The Seller and the Buyer shall have agreed on the description of the authorized capital of the Company.
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Article VII
INDEMNIFICATION
7.01 Survival of Representations and Warranties of Seller. All representations and warranties made by the Seller in and pursuant to this Agreement
shall survive the Closing and continue as follows:
(a) the representations and warranties in Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.03, 3.04(i) and (ii), 3.11(b), 3.29 and 3.30 (the “Seller’s Fundamental
Representations”) shall survive the Closing and continue without time limit after the Closing;
(b) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.19 (Environmental Matters) shall survive the Closing and continue for a period
ending sixty (60) days following the expiration of all prescription or reassessment periods pursuant to applicable Laws;
(c) the representations and warranties in Section 3.12 (Intellectual Property) shall survive Closing and continue for a period of [***] from the
Closing Date and the representations and warranties in Section 3.22 (Healthcare Regulatory and Related Matters) shall survive Closing and continue for
a period of [***];
(d) all of the other representations and warranties of the Seller in this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue for a period of [***]
from the Closing Date;
(e) any claim for any breach or inaccuracy of any representations and warranties of the Seller in this Agreement involving Fraud will survive the
Closing and continue in full force and effect without time limit after the Closing; and
(f) the covenants, obligations and agreements of the Seller contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue in accordance
with their respective term, as applicable, or without time limit after the Closing.
7.02 Survival of Representations and Warranties of the Buyer. All representations and warranties made by the Buyer in and pursuant to this
Agreement shall survive the Closing as follows:
(a) the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 4.01, 4.02, 4.04 and 4.06 (the “Buyer’s Fundamental Representations”) shall survive
the Closing and continue without time limit after the Closing;
(b) all of the other representations and warranties of the Seller in this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue for a period of eighteen
(18) months from the Closing Date;
(c) any claim for any breach or inaccuracy of any representations and warranties of the Buyer in this Agreement Fraud, will survive the Closing
and continue in full force and effect without time limit after the Closing;
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(d) the covenants, obligations and agreements of the Buyer contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue in accordance
with their respective term, as applicable, or without time limit after the Closing.
7.03 Indemnification By Seller. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VII, Seller shall indemnify and defend each of Buyer and its
Affiliates (including the Company) and their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Buyer’s Indemnitees”) against, and shall hold each of them
harmless from and against any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Buyer Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect
to or by reason of:
(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document to which it is a party [***];
(b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Seller pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreement,
this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which it is a party;
(c) the Seller’s Reorganization Portion (but for greater certainty, excluding to the extent related to Section 3.25 and the matters set forth in
Schedule 7.03(c));
(d) any criminal liabilities arising from actions taken or omitted to be taken by Seller prior to the Closing in connection with this Agreement or
any other Transaction Document;
(e) any Third Party Claim or any claim by Buyer as a result of the matters set forth on Schedule 7.03(e);
(f) any amounts incurred by Buyer in fulfilling its obligations pursuant to Section 5.09(b);
(g) any Third Party Claim based upon, resulting from or arising out of the operation of the Business, before the Closing Date; or
(h) any unpaid Transaction Expenses or the amount of any Closing Indebtedness, in each case to the extent not taken into account in the
determination of the Final Base Purchase Price.
7.04 Indemnification by Buyer. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VII, Buyer shall indemnify and defend each of Seller and its
Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Seller’s Indemnitees”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against
any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Seller Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of:
(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document to which it is a party;
(b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Buyer pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreement,
this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which it is a party;
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(c) any criminal liabilities arising from actions taken or omitted to be taken by Buyer prior to the Closing in connection with this Agreement or
any other Transaction Document; or
(d) the Buyer’s Reorganization Portion;
(e) any Third Party Claim or any claim by Seller as a result of the matters set forth on Schedule 7.04(e);
(f) any liability resulting from or arising out of the [***];
(g) any Third Party Claim based upon, resulting from or arising out of the operation of the Business, after the Closing Date.
7.05 Certain Limitations. The indemnification provided for in Sections 7.03 and 7.04 shall be subject to the following limitations:
(a) With respect to any claim as to which the Indemnified Party may be entitled to indemnification under Section 7.03(a) or Section 7.04(a), as
the case may be, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable until the aggregate Losses incurred relating thereto exceed Three Hundred Seventy Five
Thousand Dollars ($375,000) (the “Basket”), in which event the Indemnifying Party shall be required to pay and be liable for all Losses (beginning at
the first dollar). Subject to Sections 7.05(b), 7.05(c) and 7.05(f), the aggregate amount of all Losses for which Seller shall be liable pursuant to
Section 7.03(a) shall not exceed [***].
(b) Subject to Sections 7.05(a), 7.05(c) and 7.05(f) and taking into account any amount paid under these Sections, the aggregate amount of all
Losses for which Seller shall be liable hereunder with respect to the representations and warranties in Section 3.12 (Intellectual Property) shall (i) not
exceed [***].
(c) Subject to Sections 7.05(a), 7.05(b) and 7.05(f) and taking into account any amount paid under these Sections, the aggregate amount of all
Losses for which Seller shall be liable hereunder with respect to the representations and warranties in Section 3.22 (Healthcare Regulatory and Related
Matters), shall not exceed [***].
(d) For greater certainty, the Global Cap, the General R&W Indemnity Cap, the Specific IP R&W Indemnity Cap and the Specific Healthcare
R&W Indemnity Cap are not in addition to one another such that in the event that the General R&W Warranty Indemnity Cap has been attained under
Section 7.05(a), then any indemnification payment under Section 7.05(b) shall take into account and include all payments made in accordance with
Section 7.05(a) or under Section 7.05(f).
(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Basket, the R&W Indemnity Cap, the Specific IP R&W Indemnity Cap, and the Specific Healthcare
R&W Indemnity Cap shall not apply to Losses based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of any inaccuracy in or breach of any of Seller’s
Fundamental Representations or Buyer’s Fundamental Representations, claims of criminal activity or Fraud.
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(f) The aggregate amount of all Losses for which Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, shall be liable for under Section 7.03(a)
for the Seller and with respect to Seller’s Fundamental Representations and Section 7.04(a) for the Buyer and with respect to Buyer’s Fundamental
Representations shall not exceed, in the aggregate, an amount equal to the aggregate of the final aggregate Purchase Price actually paid to and received
by the Seller taking (the “Global Cap”) taking into account an indemnity paid under Section 7.05(a) and 7.05(b).
(g) For greater certainty, no limitations shall apply to (i) Sections 7.03(b) through 7.03(h), (ii) Sections 7.04(b) through 7.04(g) or (iii) in the
case of Fraud.
(h) In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be liable to any Indemnified Party for any punitive damages except to the extent actually awarded
and payable to a third party pursuant to a Third Party Claim.
(i) Each Indemnified Party shall take, and cause its Affiliates to take, all commercially reasonable steps to mitigate any Loss upon becoming
aware of any event or circumstance that would be reasonably expected to, or does, give rise thereto.
(j) No Indemnified Party shall be entitled to recover from any Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Article VII to the extent (i) such Losses have
already been indemnified pursuant to the terms hereof such that any additional recovery would result in a “double” recovery for such Losses or (ii) the
fact, matter, event or circumstance giving rise to such Loss is included in the calculation of Closing Working Capital as finally determined in
Section 2.06, but only up to the amount of Losses so included.
(k) The amount of any recovery by the Buyer Indemnitees pursuant to this Article VII shall be net of any insurance proceeds received under any
insurance policy, directly or indirectly, by the Buyer Indemnitees or Seller that results from the Losses that is the subject of the indemnity and indemnity
recovery.
(l) For purposes of this Article VII, for purposes of determining the amount of losses resulting therefrom, such determination shall be made
without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such representation or
warranty.
(m) In addition to the right provided to the Indemnifying Party to participate in or assume control of the defense of a Third Party Claim as
provided in Section 7.06, the Indemnified Party shall not knowingly permit any right of appeal in respect of any Third Party Claim to terminate without
giving the Indemnifying Party notice thereof and an opportunity to contest such Third Party Claim.
(n) The Indemnified Party shall not be entitled to indemnification for a breach of representation and warranty in respect of any Loss to the extent
that this Agreement or the Schedules describe facts or events, which make it reasonable to understand that an exception to the representation or
warranty, which gave rise to the claim, is made herein or in the Schedules.
(o) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the right to indemnification, payment, reimbursement, or other remedy based
upon any such representation,
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warranty, covenant, or obligation will not be affected by any investigation conducted or any knowledge acquired at any time, whether before or after the
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Closing Date, with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of, or compliance with, such representation,
warranty, covenant, or obligation.
(p) To the extent that any breach of representation or warranty contained in this Agreement is capable of remedy, the Indemnified Party shall
afford the Indemnifying Party a reasonable opportunity to remedy the matter complained of, provided that the Indemnified Party shall not be obligated
to offer the Indemnifying Party such opportunity where the breach is continuing and the Business suffers or may reasonably be expected to suffer
continuing material harm or prejudice as a result of such breach and the Buyer make prompt commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate such harm or
prejudice.
(q) The Indemnifying Party shall have no obligation to indemnify the Indemnified Party to the extent that the amount of Losses for which a
claim of indemnification is made was taken into account and reduced the final Purchase Price dollar-for-dollar pursuant to Section 2.08(b).
(r) The obligation of indemnification shall be reduced to the extent the Indemnified Party actually receives a Tax benefit in the taxation year in
which the Loss occurs, including the reduction of any income Tax by reason of the Losses being claimed as a deduction or reduction of the income Tax
payable.
7.06 Indemnification Procedures. The party making a claim under this Article VII is referred to as the “Indemnified Party,” and the party against
whom such claims are asserted under this Article VII is referred to as the “Indemnifying Party”.
(a) Third Party Claims. If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any Action made or brought by any
Person who is not a party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement or a Representative of the foregoing (a “Third Party Claim”)
against such Indemnified Party with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the
Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than thirty (30) calendar days
after receipt of such notice of such Third Party Claim. A delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in giving any such notice of a Third Party Claim
shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of any indemnification obligations hereunder only to the extent that, and only to the amount by which, the
Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such delay. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Third Party Claim in reasonable detail, shall
include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or
may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in, or by giving written notice to the Indemnified
Party and subject to the Indemnifying Party assuming full responsibility for all Losses resulting from any such Third Party Claim and satisfying its
obligations under Section 7.07, to assume the defense of any Third Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party’s expense and by the Indemnifying Party’s
own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good faith in such defense. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of
any Third Party Claim, subject to Section 7.06(b), it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid,
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dispute, defend, appeal or make counterclaims pertaining to any such Third Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The
Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its own cost and expense, to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it
subject to the Indemnifying Party’s right to control the defense thereof. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third Party
Claim or fails to promptly (but no later than thirty (30) days after receiving notice of that Third Party Claim) notify the Indemnified Party in writing of
its election to defend as provided in this Agreement, the Indemnified Party may, subject to Section 7.06(b), defend such Third Party Claim and seek
indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from or relating to such Third Party Claim; provided however that the Indemnified Party shall
not enter into settlement of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party. Seller and Buyer shall cooperate with
each other in all reasonable respects in connection with the defense of any Third Party Claim, including making available (subject to the provisions of
Section 5.01) records relating to such Third Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket expenses) to
the defending party, management employees of the non-defending party as may be reasonably necessary for the preparation of the defense of such Third
Party Claim.
(b) Settlement of Third Party Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into
settlement of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned), unless such settlement, compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Party from all liability
arising out of such claim and provides solely for monetary relief to be satisfied by the Indemnifying Party.
(c) Direct Claims. Any Action by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss which does not result from a Third Party Claim (a “Direct Claim”)
shall be asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than thirty
(30) days after the Indemnified Party becomes aware of such Direct Claim. A delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in giving any such notice of a
Third Party Claim shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of any indemnification obligations hereunder only to the extent that, and only to the amount by
which, the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such delay. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail,
shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been
or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of such notice to respond in writing to
such Direct Claim. The Indemnified Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance
alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Direct Claim, and the Indemnified Party
shall assist the Indemnifying Party’s investigation by giving such information and assistance (including access to the Company’s premises and personnel
and the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or any of its professional advisors may reasonably
request. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such thirty (30) day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have rejected such
claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the Indemnified Party on the terms and subject
to the provisions of this Agreement.
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7.07 Manner of Payment; Release Holdback.
(a) With respect to Losses indemnifiable under Section 7.03, the Buyer shall (i) first, seek recovery from and exhaust the Holdback Amount, and
(ii) then, may seek recovery directly from the Seller. In the event of satisfaction under (i), such amounts shall be deemed released to and the property of
Buyer immediately upon such Loss being agreed to by the Indemnifying Party or finally adjudicated to be payable pursuant to this Article VII. The
Buyer shall also be entitled to (but shall not be required to), in its sole discretion, in addition to all other remedies it may have, recover some or all of the
Losses indemnifiable under Section 7.03 by setting off such amount against any amounts then due and payable by the Buyer or any of its Affiliates to
the Seller under this Agreement or any Transaction Document and holdback an amount of the Promissory Note or the Gross Sales Earnout amount equal
to such Losses, the whole without prejudice to the right of Seller to contest the Losses in accordance with this Agreement. In each case, the exercise of
such right to set off shall not constitute a breach of Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement, any Transaction Document or any other agreement with
Seller, and the exercise or failure to exercise such right to set off shall not constitute an election of remedies or limit any Person in any manner in the
enforcement of any other remedies that may be available to such Person. Upon resolution of any Losses, the amount held by Buyer or its Affiliates with
respect to such Losses shall be paid to Seller or become the property of Buyer, as the case may be, and in a manner consistent with the resolution of such
Losses within five (5) Business Days of such resolution.
(b) The Holdback amount less any amounts paid to the Buyer from the Holdback pursuant to this Article VII, less the amount of any pending
and unresolved Claims by any Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to Section 7.03 (each, a “Pending Claim”), less any amounts retained by Buyer pursuant to
Section 2.08(d) shall be paid to Buyer within five (5) Business Days following the eighteen (18) month anniversary of the Closing Date. Upon
resolution of any Pending Claim, the amount held by Buyer with respect to such Pending Claim shall be paid to Seller or become the property of Buyer,
as the case may be, and in a manner consistent with the resolution of such Pending Claim, within five (5) Business Days of such resolution.
(c) All amounts of the Purchase Price payable by Buyer and its Affiliates to Seller which have been set off against any amount due by the Buyer
or its Affiliates to Seller, including the amount due under the Promissory Note, that as finally determined should have been paid by Buyer and its
Affiliates to Seller, shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate both before and after judgement, calculated from the date on
which the relevant amount was due to the Seller despite the setoff or the deduction up to the date of payment of such amount by the Buyer or its
Affiliates to Seller. For the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable under this Section 7.07(c) shall be in lieu of, not in addition to, any interest payable
pursuant to Section 2.09.
7.08 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments. Any indemnification payments pursuant to this Article VII shall be treated as an adjustment to
the aggregate final Purchase Price received by the Seller hereunder for Tax purposes.
7.09 Exclusive Remedies. Subject to Section 10.12, the parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all
claims (other than claims for Fraud or arising from criminal activity on the part of a party hereto) for any breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject
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matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article VII. In furtherance of the foregoing, each party
hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action for any breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement it may have against the other parties
hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under or based upon any Law, except pursuant to the indemnification
provisions set forth in this Article VII. Nothing in this Section 7.09, shall limit any Person’s right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any
Person shall be entitled or to seek any remedy on account of any party’s fraudulent, criminal or intentional misconduct.
Article VIII
GUARANTORS
8.01 Shareholders Guarantee. Each Shareholder hereby irrevocably guarantees to the Buyer, but solely to the extent of its Designated Percentage,
the timely and complete performance and payment of all obligations of the Seller under this Agreement (the “Seller’s Obligations”), subject to any
counterclaim, set off, reduction of an obligation or defense which Seller may have or assert against Buyer. This is a guarantee of payment and not of
collectability. The guarantee under this Section 8.01 may be enforced by Buyer without an obligation to proceed against Seller or exhaust any other
remedies which Buyer may have under the Transaction Documents. The guarantee under this Section 8.01 shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated,
as the case may be, if at any time payment or performance, or any part thereof, of any of the Seller Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be
restored or returned by the Buyer upon insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Seller, or upon or as a result of the
appointment of any receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for the Seller, or any substantial part of the property of the Seller;
or otherwise, as if such payments or performances had not been made. If at any time hereafter the Buyer employs counsel to pursue collection, to
intervene, to sue for enforcement of the terms hereof, or to file a petition, complaint, answer, motion or other pleading in any suit or proceeding related
to the guarantee set forth in this Section 8.01, then each such event where the Buyer prevails, all of the reasonable attorneys’ fees, including extrajudicial fees and costs, related thereto shall be an additional liability of the Shareholders to the Buyer, in accordance with the terms of this Section 8.01.
For greater certainty and notwithstanding any other provision, the parties hereto hereby acknowledge and confirm that the obligations and
covenants of each Shareholder in this Agreement, are on a separate basis, and made with regard to itself only and limited to their respective Designated
Percentage only.
8.02 Meridian ParentCo Guarantee. Meridian ParentCo, hereby irrevocably guarantees to the Seller the timely and complete performance and
payment of all obligations of the Buyer (including of any of its successors or assigns in accordance with this Agreement and without limitation, under
Sections 2.07(b)(v) and 2.07(c)(v)) under this Agreement and the Promissory Note (the “Buyer’s Obligations”), subject to any counterclaim, set off,
reduction of an obligation or defense which Buyer may have or assert against Seller. This is a guarantee of payment and not
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of collectability. The guarantee under this Section 8.02 may be enforced by Seller without an obligation to proceed against Buyer, including of any of its
successors or assigns, or exhaust any other remedies which Seller may have under the Transaction Documents. The guarantee under this Section 8.02
shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment or performance, or any part thereof, of any of the Buyer
Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Seller upon insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization
of the Seller, or upon or as a result of the appointment of any receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for the Buyer or its
successors or assigns, or any substantial part of the property of the Buyer or of any of its successors or assigns; or otherwise, as if such payments or
performances had not been made. If at any time hereafter the Seller employs counsel to pursue collection, to intervene, to sue for enforcement of the
terms hereof, or to file a petition, complaint, answer, motion or other pleading in any suit or proceeding related to the guarantee set forth in this
Section 8.02, then each such event where the Seller prevails, all of the reasonable attorneys’ fees, including extra-judicial fees and costs, related thereto
shall be an additional liability of Meridian ParentCo to the Seller.
Article IX
TERMINATION
9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
(a) by the mutual written consent of Seller and Buyer;
(b) by Buyer by written notice to Seller and Shareholders’ Representative if:
(i) Buyer is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to
perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Seller pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the
conditions specified in Article VI and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Seller within ten (10) days of Seller’s receipt of written
notice of such breach from Buyer; or
(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01 or Section 6.02 shall not have been, or if it becomes reasonably apparent that any of
such conditions will not be, fulfilled by July 29, 2019 (the “Outside Closing Date”) unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Buyer to perform or
comply with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing;
(c) by Seller by written notice to Buyer if:
(i) Seller is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to
perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the
conditions specified in Article VI and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Buyer within ten (10) days of Buyer’s receipt of written
notice of such breach from Seller; or
-66-

(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01 or Section 6.03 shall not have been, or if it becomes reasonably apparent that any of
such conditions will not be, fulfilled by July 29, 2019, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Seller to perform or comply with any of the
covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing; or
(d) by Buyer or Seller in the event that (i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
illegal or otherwise prohibited or (ii) any Governmental Authority shall have issued a Governmental Order restraining or enjoining the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and such Governmental Order shall have become final and non-appealable.
9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Article, this Agreement shall forthwith become
void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except for Section 5.06, Section 5.11, Article VII, Sections 9.02, 10.01, 10.02, 10.03,
10.04, 10.06, 10.07, 10.08, 10.09, 10.10 and 10.11; and that nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto from liability for Fraud.
Article X
MISCELLANEOUS
10.01 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of
counsel, financial advisors and accountants, incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions shall be paid by the party
incurring such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred.
10.02 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed
to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally
recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by facsimile or e-mail of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if
sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient or (d) on the third
(3rd) day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the
respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this
Section 10.02):
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If to Seller:

GenePOC Inc.
360 rue Franquet
Québec (Quebec) G1P 4N3
Facsimile: <@>
E-mail: [***]
Attention: [***]

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice or service of process) to:

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP
Stock Exchange Tower
800 Victoria Square, Suite 3700
P.O. Box 242
Montréal, Quebec H4Z 1E9
Facsimile: 514-397-4388
Attention: Sylvie Bourdeau
E-mail: sbourdeau@fasken.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice or service of process) to:

Après-Demain Holding SA
Rue du Levant 146
Campus «après-demain»
1920 Martigny, Switzerland
Facsimile: <@>
Attention: [***]
E-mail: [***]

If to Shareholders’ Representative :

Après-Demain Holding SA
Rue du Levant 146
Campus «après-demain»
1920 Martigny, Switzerland
Facsimile: <@>
Attention: [***]
E-mail: [***]

If to Buyer:

Meridian Bioscience, Inc.
3471 River Hills Drive
Cincinnati, OH 45244
Facsimile: 513-271-3762
E-mail: jack.kenny@meridianbioscience.com
Attention: Jack Kenny, Chief Executive Officer
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with a copy (which shall not constitute notice or service of process) to:

Keating Muething & Klekamp PLL
Suite 1400
One East Fourth Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Facsimile: 513-579-6457
E-mail: jjansing@kmklaw.com
Attention: James M. Jansing, Partner

10.03 Interpretation. For purposes of this Agreement, (a) the words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the
words “without limitation,” (b) the word “or” is not exclusive and (c) the words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereby,” “hereto” and “hereunder” refer to this
Agreement as a whole. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein: (x) to Articles, Sections, Schedules, Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits
mean the Articles and Sections of, and Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits attached to, this Agreement; (y) to an agreement, instrument or other
document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by
the provisions thereof; and (z) to a statute means such statute as amended from time to time and includes any successor legislation thereto and any
regulations promulgated thereunder. This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or
interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. The Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits referred to herein
shall be construed with, and as an integral part of, this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein.
10.04 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.
10.05 Shareholders’ Representative. The Shareholders’ Representative is hereby approved to serve as the representative of the Shareholders for the
purposes of Section 8.01 hereof. Each of the Shareholders hereby does and shall irrevocably appoint the Shareholders’ Representative as the agent,
proxy and attorney in fact for such Shareholder for the purposes of Section 8.01 hereof, including full power and authority on such Shareholder’s behalf
(a) to pay expenses (whether incurred on or after the date hereof) incurred in connection with the performance of Section 8.01 this Agreement, (b) to
execute and deliver on behalf of such Shareholder any amendment or waiver hereto, (c) to take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of such
Shareholder in connection herewith, (d) to negotiate, settle, compromise and otherwise handle all matters relating to the guarantee provided under
Section 8.01 hereof and to do each and every act and exercise any and all rights which such Shareholder is, or Shareholders collectively are, permitted or
required to do or exercise under this Agreement. The Shareholders Representative hereby accepts the present mandate in accordance with Article 2144
of the Civil Code of Québec. Buyer may conclusively rely, without independent verification or investigation, upon any decision or action of the
Shareholders Representative as being the binding decision or action of every Shareholder, and the Buyer shall not be liable to any Shareholder or any
other Persons for any actions taken or omitted from being taken by them or by Buyer in good faith and in accordance with or reliance upon any such
decision or action of the Shareholders Representative. Each Shareholder agrees to indemnify and to hold and save harmless the Shareholders
Representative from and against any and all Losses that the Shareholders Representative may sustain or incur as a result of any action taken
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by the Shareholders’ Representative in relation to the mandate set forth in the present Section 10.05, save for any such Losses attributable to the
intentional or gross fault of the Shareholders’ Representative.
10.06 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other
jurisdiction. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith
to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the
Contemplated Transactions be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.
10.07 Entire Agreement. With the exception of the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents, together with all the Exhibits and Disclosure Schedules hereto and thereto, constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this
Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements,
both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and
those in the other Transaction Documents, the Exhibits and Disclosure Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Disclosure
Schedules), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.
10.08 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns. No party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other parties, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided, however, that Buyer may assign this Agreement or any of the rights or obligations
hereunder to any Affiliate of Buyer. No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations hereunder.
10.09 No Third-party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Article VII, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or
equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.
10.10 Amendment and Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an agreement in writing signed
by Buyer, Seller and Shareholders’ Representative. No course of dealing between or among any Persons having any interest in this Agreement will be
deemed effective to modify, amend or discharge any part of this Agreement or any rights or obligations of any Person under or by reason of this
Agreement. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions, whether or not
similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
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10.11 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.
(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the Province of Quebec and the federal laws of
Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects, as a Quebec contract.
(b) Subject to resolution of the processes set forth in Sections 2.06 and 2.08, any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or based upon this
Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the Contemplated Transactions shall be heard and determined by the courts of the province of Quebec,
district of Montreal.
10.12 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in
accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to seek specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy
to which they are entitled at law or in equity.
10.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be
deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of electronic transmission
shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.
10.14 Language. The parties hereto have agreed that this Agreement as well as any notice, document or instrument relating to it be drawn up in
English only but without prejudice to any such notice, document or instrument which may from time to time be drawn up in both French and English;
provided, however, that the English version shall be the controlling document. Les parties aux présentes ont convenu que la présente convention ainsi
que tous autres avis, actes ou documents s’y rattachant soient rédigés en anglais seulement mais sans préjudice à tous tels avis, actes ou documents qui
pourraient à l’occasion être rédigés en anglais et en français, pourvu que la version anglaise l’emporte.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective
officers thereunto duly authorized.
SELLER:
GENEPOC, INC.
By: /s/ Patrice Allibert
Name: Patrice Allibert
Title: CEO
BUYER:
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE CANADA INC.
By: /s/ Jack Kenny
Name: Jack Kenny
Title: Director
MERIDIAN PARENTCO:
MERIDIAN BIOSCIENCE, INC.
By: /s/ Jack Kenny
Name: Jack Kenny
Title: Chief Executive Officer
SHAREHOLDERS’ REPRESENTATIVE:
APRÈS-DEMAIN HOLDING SA
By: /s/ Thierry Mauvernay
Name: Thierry Mauvernay
Title: President, Delegate of the Board

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)
I, Jack Kenny, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Meridian Bioscience, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2019
/s/ Jack Kenny
Jack Kenny
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)
I, Eric S. Rasmussen, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Meridian Bioscience, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2019
/s/ Eric S. Rasmussen
Eric S. Rasmussen
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32
Meridian Bioscience, Inc.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Quarterly Report of Meridian Bioscience, Inc. (the “Company”) on
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2019 (the “Report”), the undersigned officers of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of their knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Jack Kenny
Jack Kenny
Chief Executive Officer
May 7, 2019
/s/ Eric S. Rasmussen
Eric S. Rasmussen
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
May 7, 2019

